[Inner endpaper]

## HEC MONTRÉAL

École affiliée à l'Université de Montréal

#### Investigating visual factors affecting visitors' experience with smartphone Augmented Reality in Institutional Informal Learning Places

par Amritam Mohapatra

Pierre-Majorique Léger HEC Montréal Directeur de recherche

Consantinos K. Coursaris HEC Montréal Codirecteur de recherche

Sciences de la gestion (Spécialisation en Expérience Utilisateur)

Mémoire présenté en vue de l'obtention du grade de maîtrise ès sciences en gestion (M. Sc.)

August 2024

© Amritam Mohapatra, 2024

#### Abstract

Augmented Reality (AR) is an emerging technology that blends virtual elements with the real world, creating immersive experiences that have been explored in various fields, including architecture, entertainment, education, the military, transportation, aerospace, logistics, and medicine. Informal Institutional Learning Places (IILPs) such as museums and science centers are also embracing this technology. Among the available AR devices, smartphones stand out as the most accessible and widely used. Despite AR's numerous advantages, it poses several challenges. This thesis addresses one such significant concern: the impact of visual factors, particularly display luminance and ambient luminance, on visitors' experiences with smartphone AR applications in IILPs. Using the Stimulus-Organism-Response (S-O-R) framework, this study investigates how the interaction between device display luminance and ambient luminance, referred to as the luminance ratio, affects perceived visual discomfort and legibility. These visual factors are then analyzed for their influence on visitors' affective states, task performance, intention to revisit, hedonic motivation, and perceived learning outcomes. An experimental field study was conducted in an insectarium, where participants interacted with various AR stimuli under different ambient and display luminance settings and provided psychometric feedback through surveys. The findings underscore the critical importance of optimal luminance conditions, which significantly impact perceived legibility and, consequently, affect visitors' emotional responses and hedonic motivation. These factors are crucial for user experience and engagement in IILPs. This study offers valuable theoretical, methodological and practical insights into the effective design and implementation of AR in educational and informal learning environments.

**Keywords :** AR, Informal Institutional Learning Places (IILPs), Luminance, Visual Discomfort, Legibility, Affective state, Hedonic Motivation, User Experience, S-O-R Framework

**Research methods :** Field study, Psychometric Measurements, Experiments, Questionnaires, Self-reported measures

## Table of contents

| Abstract   |
|--|
| Table of contents  |
| List of tables and figures ix  |
| List of abbreviationsx   |
| Acknowledgements xi  |
| Prefacexiii  |
| Chapter 1 Introduction 1   |
| 1.1. Background 1  |
| 1.2. Problem Statement   |
| 1.3. Research Objectives   |
| 1.4. Expected Contributions  |
| 1.5. Overview of the structure of the thesis                                       |
| 1.6. Contribution and Individual Responsibility                                    |
| Chapter 2 Literature Review  |
| 2.1. Introduction  |
| 2.1.1. Scope of the review   |
| 2.1.2. Methodology   |
| 2.2. History and Characteristics of AR 12  |
| 2.3. AR in IILPs   |
| 2.4. Potential concerns with smartphone AR   |
| 2.5. Visual discomfort & fatigue: Definitions, characteristics & measurements 24   |
| 2.6. Vergence-Accomodation conflict and its limited relevance for smartphone AR 26 |
| 2.7. Luminance and illuminance conditions  |

| 2.7.1. Relationship Between Luminance and Illuminance                                     | .31        |
|---|------------|
| 2.8. Impact of lighting conditions on AR user experience in IILPs                         | .32        |
| 2.9. Influence of lighting conditions on visual fatigue                                   | .33        |
| 2.10. Effect of lighting conditions on legibility   | .36        |
| 2.11. Impact of visual discomfort and legibility on Affective State and Ta<br>Performance | ask<br>.37 |
| 2.12. Impact of visual factors on the visitors' experience with smartphone AR in IIL      | LPs<br>.39 |
| 2.12.1. Visitors' Intention to Revisit  | .39        |
| 2.12.2. Hedonic Motivation  | .40        |
| 2.12.3. Perceived Learning Outcomes   | .41        |
| 2.13. Conclusion  | .42        |
| Chapter 3 Theoretical framework and Hypothesis Development                                | .45        |
| 3.1. Theoretical framework  | .45        |
| 3.2. Hypothesis Development   | .49        |
| 3.2.1. Proposed Research Model  | .49        |
| 3.2.2. Stimuli  | .49        |
| 3.2.3. Organism   | .50        |
| 3.2.4. Response   | .53        |
| Chapter 4 Experimental Design and Methods   | .65        |
| 4.1. Introduction   | .65        |
| 4.2. Sample   | .65        |
| 4.3. Experimental Design  | .66        |
| 4.4. Experimental Blocks  | .67        |
| 4.5. Materials and Measures   | .68        |
| 4.5.1. Operationalization of Measures   | .73        |

| 4.6. AR Stimuli                                      | 74  |
|--|-----|
| 4.7. Experimental Setup and Procedure                | 75  |
| 4.7.1. Setup   | 75  |
| 4.7.2. Lighting Pre-tests                            | 76  |
| 4.7.3. Procedure                                     |     |
| 4.7.4. Statistical Analysis                          |     |
| Chapter 5 Results                                    | 84  |
| 5.1. Introduction                                    |     |
| 5.2. Descriptive Statistics and Correlation analysis |     |
| 5.2.1. Descriptive Statistics                        |     |
| 5.2.2. Correlation Analysis                          |     |
| 5.3. Hypothesis Testing                              |     |
| Chapter 6 Discussion                                 |     |
| 6.1. Summary of the experimental results             |     |
| 6.2. Theoretical Contributions                       | 101 |
| 6.3. Practical Contributions                         |     |
| 6.4. Methodological Contributions                    |     |
| 6.5. Limitations and Future Directions               |     |
| 6.5.1. Limitations                                   |     |
| 6.5.2. Future Directions                             | 105 |
| Chapter 7 Conclusion                                 | 109 |
| Bibliography   |     |
| Appendix   | i   |
| Appendix A. Ethics Approval Certificate              | i   |
| Appendix B. Assessment Items for Subjective measures | iii |

Appendix C. Production Environment of the AR Stimuli ...... vi

# List of tables and figures

## Figures

| Figure 1: The Skin and Bones app   |           |
|--|-----------|
| Figure 2: The British Museum app "A gift for Athena"                             | 19        |
| Figure 3: The Apollo's Moon Shot AR app  | 19        |
| Figure 4: SOR Framework  | 46        |
| Figure 5: Proposed Research Model  | 49        |
| Figure 6: The AR stimuli   | 75        |
| Figure 7: Location with bright ambient luminance (Left) and dark ambient lu      | minance   |
| (Right)  |           |
| Figure 8: Light meter used for luminance measurements                            | 77        |
| Figure 9: Setup for luminance measurements                                       |           |
| Figure 10: Measurement points for screen and ambient luminance                   |           |
| Figure 11: Experimental Procedure  | 81        |
| Figure 12: Box plot of Visual discomfort levels for different Luminance ratio co | onditions |
|  |           |
| Figure 13: Box plot of Legibility for different Luminance ratio conditions       | 92        |
| Figure 14: Validated Research model  |           |

## Tables

| Table 1: Student Contributions                    | 8  |
|---|----|
| Table 2: Experimental Blocks and Conditions       | 67 |
| Table 3: Assessment of Constructs                 | 69 |
| Table 4: Block and QR code randomization sequence | 79 |
| Table 5: Descriptive Statistics                   | 85 |
| Table 6: Correlation Analysis                     | 88 |
| Table 7: Hypothesis testing results               | 95 |
|   |    |

## List of abbreviations

AR: Augmented Reality

- CFF: Critical flicker frequency
- HCI: Human-Computer Interaction
- IILP: Institutional Informal Learning Places

OST: Optical See-through

- QoE: Quality of Experience
- SOR: Stimuli, Organism, Response
- UTAUT: Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology

UX: User Experience

VR: Virtual Reality

VST: Video See-through

### Acknowledgements

First and foremost, none of the work presented in this thesis could have been realized without the valued mentorship of my research directors. I feel truly privileged to have benefited from their supervision, not only to learn from them as brilliant researchers but also as compassionate mentors. Their resilience, optimism, and insightful guidance have been instrumental throughout this journey. Pierre-Majorique, Constantinos, and Sylvain, my most sincere thanks for making this path the most fulfilling undertaking of my academic journey. Your expertise, patience, and unwavering support have shaped my academic growth and inspired me to strive for excellence.

I extend my heart-felt gratitude to Mitacs and Essilor-Luxxotica for providing the financial support necessary for this study. Their funding made this research possible and ensured its successful completion. This project would not have reached its full potential without their generous contribution.

I am deeply grateful to Ruojun, whose expertise and guidance were invaluable. Her willingness to assist and provide insights whenever I faced challenges played a significant role in the progress of this thesis. Her encouragement and constructive feedback helped me overcome numerous obstacles, and her dedication to my success is something I will always cherish.

A special thanks to my co-investigator, Michelle, whose support and collaboration were pivotal. Our teamwork and mutual assistance were vital in overcoming obstacles and achieving our research objectives. Michelle, your insights and commitment were crucial in navigating the complexities of this research, and I am immensely thankful for your partnership.

To my parents and girlfriend, Paripoorna, your unwavering support and encouragement have been my pillars of strength. Your love and motivation have been driving forces in completing this thesis, especially during moments of doubt and low inspiration. Mom and Dad, your faith in me and your constant encouragement have been a source of immense strength. Paripoorna, your patience, understanding, and continuous support have been invaluable, and I am deeply grateful for your presence in my life.

I also wish to acknowledge my friends, whose support and encouragement have been instrumental in this journey. Your understanding and patience during my busiest times did not go unnoticed. Your belief in me kept me going, and your companionship provided much-needed relief from the demands of this research.

Lastly, to everyone who contributed to this journey, even through a smile or laughter, thank you. Your presence and positivity have made a significant impact, and I am immensely grateful to each of you. This master's thesis is a testament to the collective effort and support of all these remarkable individuals.

I sincerely thank everyone who has contributed to this achievement, even in the slightest way. This thesis stands as a reminder that even the most ambitious goals can be realized with hard work, dedication, and the support of a remarkable community.

### Preface

This thesis represents the culmination of the student's work as part of the Master's in User Experience program at HEC Montreal. The content has undergone rigorous evaluation and has received approval from the administrative management of the M.Sc. program at HEC Montreal. This evaluation process ensures that the thesis meets the high standards expected by the institution.

In line with the requirements outlined in the Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans, every phase of the research included in this thesis underwent an extensive ethical review process before data collection commenced. This process was crucial in ensuring that the research adhered to the highest ethical standards. The Research Ethics Board at HEC Montreal thoroughly reviewed the proposed research methodology and granted approval under certificate number 2023-5269 (Appendix A).

Ethical considerations were paramount throughout the research process. The approval by the Research Ethics Board signifies that the research plan was scrutinized and found to be in full compliance with ethical guidelines. This includes ensuring that all interactions with human participants were conducted with the utmost respect and consideration for their rights and well-being. Informed written consent was obtained from all participants, guaranteeing that they awere fully aware of the nature of the research and their role within it. This step was vital in upholding the ethical integrity of the study, ensuring that participants' autonomy and confidentiality were maintained throughout the research.

### Chapter 1 Introduction

#### 1.1. Background

Rapid digitization across industries has necessitated technological adaptation to address emerging challenges and leverage new opportunities (Bresciani et al., 2018; Bunn et al., 2002). Among these innovations, Augmented Reality (AR) stands out as a significant advancement, blending virtual elements with the real world to create immersive experiences (Chang et al., 2015). Unlike Virtual Reality (VR), which fully immerses users in a virtual environment, AR superimposes digital information onto the physical world, facilitating a blended experience (Serravalle et al., 2019).

Though AR may seem like a product of science fiction, its conceptual roots extend back to early 20th-century ideas about electronic displays overlaying real-life data (Tomiuc, 2014). Significant milestones in AR's development include cinema-style implementations in the 1950s, advancements by pioneers like Ivan Sutherland and Myron Krueger in the 1960s, and the first 3D immersive simulator by Morton Heilig (Cipresso et al., 2018). The 1980s and 1990s witnessed the commercialization of AR with applications such as flight simulators and maintenance assistance tools (Carmigniani et al., 2011). Azuma's (1997) seminal definition of AR provided a foundational framework, emphasizing its combination of real and virtual elements, interactivity in real-time, and 3D registration.

Modern AR systems primarily utilize two display technologies: Video See-Through (VST) and Optical See-Through (OST) displays, each with distinct operational dynamics and latency issues (Cipresso et al., 2018). The proliferation of smartphones has revolutionized AR, transforming these devices into powerful VST AR tools accessible to a broad audience (Tomiuc, 2014). This accessibility has propelled AR's integration into various sectors, including education, healthcare, entertainment, and logistics (Chicchi Giglioli et al., 2015).

Informal Institutional Learning Places (IILPs) play a pivotal role in lifelong learning, offering educational experiences outside traditional settings. These environments, from

museums to zoos, support cognitive engagement through interactive and self-directed learning opportunities (Deed & Alterator 2017). The shift towards visitor-centric approaches and the incorporation of emerging technologies like AR has enhanced the educational potential of IILPs, fostering engagement and curiosity (Tomiuc,2014).

The widespread adoption of smartphones has significantly influenced the integration of AR into IILPs. As of 2024, there are approximately 4.88 billion smartphone users worldwide (Backlinko, 2024; Oberlo, 2024), facilitating the development of smartphone AR applications that extend beyond traditional museum walls. These applications enhance visitor engagement by offering immersive experiences that blend natural and augmented elements.

For instance, the de Young Museum collaborated with Snap Inc. to create an AR experience allowing visitors to virtually try on historical fashions from designers such as Yves Saint Laurent and Valentino (Charr, 2024). Similarly, the Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle in Paris developed "REVIVRE," an app enabling visitors to view digital recreations of extinct animals at their actual size (Charr, 2024). The Smithsonian Institute's "Skin & Bones" app (Figure 1) overlays digital skins on animal skeletons, illustrating how these creatures looked and moved (Charr, 2024). Additionally, the Art Gallery of Ontario's "ReBlink" app reimagines classic artworks with contemporary elements using AR (AGO, 2017).



Figure 1: The Skin and Bones app

These modern AR applications leverage the ubiquitous nature of smartphones to enhance visitor engagement and educational value in museums. By offering interactive and immersive experiences, they aim to bridge the gap between physical exhibits and digital content, providing a richer, more engaging learning environment.

The educational benefits of AR in IILPs are multifaceted. AR enhances cognitive engagement by providing visualizations that bring abstract concepts to life, support active participation, and offer personalized learning experiences (Billinghurst & Duenser, 2012; Yoon et al., 2013). AR's interactive nature also fosters motivation and curiosity, transforming learning into an adventure and accommodating diverse learning styles (Chen et al, 2024). Studies have demonstrated that AR applications in heritage museums and science centers improve visitor satisfaction, knowledge retention, and engagement with complex scientific concepts (Hidayat & Wardat, 2024).

#### **1.2. Problem Statement**

Despite the potential benefits, AR in IILPs faces several challenges. One fundamental aspect to consider for AR is the Quality of Experience (QoE) it provides to visitors. In the literature, QoE for 3D content—the primary form used in AR—is typically assessed based on perceived visual quality, perceived depth quality, and considerations of visual fatigue and comfort (Urvoy et al., 2013). While technological advancements have significantly improved perceived visual and depth quality, visual discomfort or fatigue from prolonged interaction with AR content remains a concern (Zhdanov et al., 2019). Visual fatigue, or asthenopia, signifies the physiological and psychological demands imposed by the perception of 3D content in AR (Urvoy et al., 2013) and is characterized by symptoms such as eye discomfort, headaches, blurred vision, and difficulty focusing (Solimini et al., 2012).

This problem is significant because it can hinder the adoption and effectiveness of AR technologies in educational settings. Users who experience significant discomfort are less likely to engage with AR applications, reducing the technology's educational benefits. Understanding the impact of visual factors on user experience is crucial for designing AR systems that are both effective and comfortable to use (Sheedy et al., 2003; Wilkins et al., 2021).

Factors contributing to visual discomfort include the vergence-accommodation conflict, where the eyes' focusing and convergence mechanisms are mismatched, leading to strain (Zhdanov et al., 2019). Although this factor is frequently studied, it is less relevant for smartphone AR than head-worn AR, which acts as a stereoscopic display. More relevant for smartphone AR are the lighting conditions where the AR contents are presented in IILPs, particularly the screen luminance of the AR device and the ambient luminance of the location where the AR application is used.

#### **1.3. Research Objectives**

Considering the above factors and their relevance, the research conducted in this study aimed to investigate two primary questions: **RQ 1:** To what extent do ambient and display luminance affect the visual discomfort/fatigue levels in individuals interacting with smartphone AR in IILPs?

**RQ 2:** What other factors consequently impact the visitors' interaction with smartphone AR and their overall experience in IILPs?

A review of the relevant literature shows that the effectiveness of AR applications heavily depends on the display and ambient lighting conditions, which can induce visual discomfort and affect the legibility of the presented content. Inadequate lighting can obscure text and graphical overlays, making them difficult to read and interpret (Cipresso et al., 2018). This can hinder the user's ability to access important information and detract from the educational value of the AR experience (Radu et al., 2014). Conversely, optimal luminance settings enhance readability and reduce visual strain (Dobres, 2015).

The affective state of users, referring to their emotions and mood (Russell, 1980), can also be influenced by lighting conditions during AR experiences. Pleasant and well-lit environments can enhance user satisfaction and enjoyment, while poor lighting can contribute to lower legibility and higher visual discomfort, leading to frustration and negative emotions (Benedetto et al., 2014). This emotional response can impact the overall perception of the AR application and the institution hosting it.

Task performance, including the efficiency and accuracy with which users can complete tasks, is closely tied to lighting conditions. Optimal lighting can enhance legibility, thereby improving task performance. Conversely, poor lighting can lead to errors, slower task completion times, and reduced overall effectiveness (Zhou et al., 2021).

Perceived learning outcomes may also be impacted. Adequate lighting enhances the visibility and clarity of educational content, facilitating better understanding and retention of information and significantly improving learning outcomes (Radu, 2014). On the other hand, poor lighting can obscure critical details and hinder the learning process, reducing the perceived educational value of the AR experience (Radu et al., 2014).

Hedonic motivation, or the pleasure of using AR applications, is another critical consideration. Well-designed lighting can create a more enjoyable and engaging

experience, increasing the users' affective state and encouraging them to explore and interact with the AR content. In contrast, poor lighting, leading to a lower affective state, can diminish the fun and immersive aspects of AR, reducing user motivation to engage (Yoon et al., 2013).

Finally, the intention to revisit IILPs may be significantly influenced by the quality of AR experiences, which are affected by lighting conditions. Positive experiences facilitated by adequate lighting can lead to higher satisfaction and a greater likelihood of visitors returning to the institution. Conversely, negative experiences due to poor lighting can deter repeat visits, impacting the institution's ability to attract and retain visitors (Urvoy et al., 2013).

The Stimulus-Organism-Response (SOR) framework, developed by Mehrabian and Russell (1974), explains how environmental stimuli (Stimulus) influence an individual's internal state (Organism) and subsequent behavior (Response). In this context, the SOR framework posits that external factors like display and ambient luminance (Stimuli) affect an individual's internal state, including emotional and cognitive responses such as visual discomfort and content legibility (Organism). These internal states, in turn, influence user behaviors and outcomes (Response), such as their affective (emotional) state, learning performance, perceived learning outcome, hedonic motivation, and the intention to revisit IILPs. This study employs the SOR framework to explore how the interaction between device display luminance and ambient lighting conditions impacts users' visual and cognitive experiences, ultimately affecting their overall engagement and educational outcomes.

#### **1.4. Expected Contributions**

The study's findings are expected to provide valuable insights into the factors that influence the effectiveness and user experience of AR in IILPs, offering significant theoretical, practical, and methodological contributions. The findings are anticipated to advance our understanding of the role of visual factors in AR user experience, particularly within informal educational settings. Practically, the findings can inform the design of AR applications that minimize visual discomfort, thereby enhancing user engagement and

learning outcomes. The research aims to provide insights that will contribute to the development of more user-friendly AR systems, ultimately enhancing the educational experience in IILPs. Methodologically, this study emphasizes the importance of psychometric measures to capture the nuanced aspects of user experience, which objective metrics may overlook.

Additionally, using smartphone AR in real-world scenarios enhances the ecological validity and generalizability of the findings. The detailed operationalization of luminance ratios and systematic assessment framework will serve as a valuable reference for future research in this field. By addressing the identified research gap, this study also aims to provide actionable recommendations for developers and educators on optimizing AR experiences in IILPs and directions for future research on the topic. The findings of the study may also be generalized and serve as a starting point for other sectors utilizing smartphone AR for various purposes.

#### **1.5.** Overview of the structure of the thesis

The thesis is structured as follows:

Chapter 1: Introduction - Provides the context of the study, problem statement, research objectives, and an overview of the thesis structure.

Chapter 2: Literature Review - Reviews existing literature on AR, visual discomfort, and their applications in IILPs, identifying key gaps that this study aims to address.

Chapter 3: Theoretical Framework and Hypothesis Development - Describes the theoretical background, develops the hypotheses, and discusses their rationale.

Chapter 4: Experimental Design and Methods - Details the methods, materials, measures used, and the experimental setup, procedures, and data analysis.

Chapter 5: Results - Presents the study's findings, including statistical analyses and their implications.

Chapter 6: Discussion - Interprets the results within the context of existing literature, discusses contributions, limitations, and future research directions.

Chapter 7: Conclusion - Summarizes key findings and their implications for AR in educational settings and provides final thoughts on the study's contributions and potential impact.

### 1.6. Contribution and Individual Responsibility

This master's thesis was conducted within the Tech3Lab, a collaborative research environment where multiple contributors are involved at various stages. To clearly outline my personal intellectual contributions, Table 1 below provides a detailed breakdown of my involvement in each aspect of the thesis.

The Tech3Lab operates under the standard that a student should achieve a minimum overall contribution level of 50%. For dimensions where my personal contribution exceeds 50%, it indicates that I took on a leadership role and demonstrated ownership of those specific phases of the thesis.

| Steps             | Contribution  |
|-------------------|---|
| Research Question | Identifying gaps in current literature and defining the research problem and its implications – 60% |
|                   | Identifying the research questions – 60%  |
| Literature Review | Conducting relevant research, reading scientific articles   |
|                   | related to the  |
|                   | topic – 80%   |

Table 1: Student Contributions

| Conception          | and  | Designing and development of the experimental protocol –   |
|---------------------|------|--|
| Experimental design |      | 60%  |
|                     |      |  |
|                     |      |  |
|                     |      | Developing the operational stimuli – 100%                  |
|                     |      |  |
|                     |      |  |
|                     |      | Applying to the CER – 50%                                  |
| Recruitment         | of   | Recruiting the participants for the studies – 30%          |
| participants        |      |  |
|                     |      |  |
| Pre-tests and       | data | Pre-testing the experimental design and collecting data –  |
| collection          |      | 70%  |
| Data Analysis       |      | Extracting raw data and formatting – 80%                   |
| Data Anarysis       |      | Extracting faw data and formatting = 6070                  |
|                     |      | Analyzing the data using appropriate statistical methods – |
|                     |      | 50%  |
|                     |      |  |
| Writing the thesis  |      | Writing the chapters of the thesis $-75\%$                 |
|                     |      |  |

### Chapter 2 Literature Review

#### 2.1. Introduction

This literature review examines the integration of Augmented Reality (AR) in Informal Institutional Learning Places (IILPs), such as museums, zoos, and science centers. AR has the potential to revolutionize visitors' experiences by enhancing engagement, comprehension, and interactivity. However, the effective implementation of AR in these settings faces several challenges and opportunities that this review aims to address. By synthesizing current research findings, this review provides a comprehensive understanding of the benefits, challenges, and impacts of AR on user experiences in IILPs while highlighting areas of concern and identifying where further research is needed.

#### 2.1.1. Scope of the review

The scope of this review includes a broad range of topics related to AR in IILPs. It encompasses the historical development of AR technology, its current applications in various sectors, and its specific use in informal educational contexts. The review will also address technical aspects of AR implementation, such as hardware and software considerations, as well as environmental factors like lighting conditions that can affect AR experiences. Next, it will discuss issues related to visual discomfort and legibility, which are directly affected by the lighting conditions, and how they, in turn, affect other aspects of the visitors' experience in IILPs, such as their affective state, learning task performance and Intention to Revisit.

#### 2.1.2. Methodology

This narrative-style literature review (Green, Johnson, & Adams, 2006; Paré, Trudel, Mirou & Kitsiou, 2015) focuses on understanding the current literature by bringing together interdisciplinary literature. The review takes knowledge from Computer science, Media and Information Technology to understand the development and working of AR and related technological advancements, Health, medicine and ophthalmology to understand the working and anatomical features of the human eye, from psychology and

sociology to understand the impact of AR, from tourism, architecture and engineering to understand the inclusion and application of AR in IILPs, from Optics to understand the characteristics of lighting conditions, and from psychology, HCI and UX to identify the potential ways in which the use of AR affects the user experience of visitors in IILPs.

The search for the literature started in February 2023 and ended in April 2024. Regarding the databases, preliminary searches were done on Google Scholar to identify relevant keywords and synonyms, narrow down specific research fields, and identify journals and publishers. Once identified, the search was moved to other relevant databases, including Bibliotheque HEC Montreal, ScienceDirect, ACM Digital Library, Web of Science, IEEE Xplore, SpringerLink, and Google Scholar. Due to the specificity of the research objective, backward and forward searches were a valuable method to identify important literature in the field. From there, the research question was formulated, and the evaluation criteria were determined. While no restrictions were made based on publication date, the articles were identified and evaluated based on their title, number of citations, and relevance, as determined from their abstract.

#### 2.2. History and Characteristics of AR

Digitization has left no industry untouched, and companies have had to adapt to keep up with the pace and come up with ways to address the main challenges in implementing the use of these technologies (Klein & Knight, 2005; Klein & Sorra, 1996). Augmented Reality (AR) is one of these emerging technologies that has been gaining much traction recently and has been adapted to various sectors (Chang et al., 2015).

Considered by some to be the evolution of virtual reality (VR), AR implies a mix of the real world and virtual experience (Tomiuc, 2014). AR is primarily a visualization technology that overlays digital information and virtual objects onto the real world, unlike VR, which completely replaces it (Serravalle et al., 2019). While usually considered to be primarily visual, this technology can include a variety of multi-modal interactions by superimposing visual, auditory, tactile, or even olfactory materials in real-time on physical objects (Bressler & Bodzin, 2013; Feiner et al., 1997), presented via AR-enabling devices like smartphones and Head-Mount Displays (HMDs).

Although it sounds straight out of a sci-fi movie, its roots can be traced back to the early 1900s, when it was mentioned as an idea of electronic display/spectacles that overlay data onto real life. Since then, it has been the goal of numerous researchers and inventors to try and create a workable implementation of the idea by using the newest technology available to them at the time. (Tomiuc, 2014)

Consequently, AR evolved significantly over the years following a long development process: through cinema-style implementations in the '50s, followed by significant developments through inventors like Ivan Sutherland, Myron Krueger and Howard Rheingold in the '60s (Tomiuc, 2014). Also during this decade, the first 3D immersive simulator was developed by Morton Heilig (Cipresso et al., 2018, p. 3), and the first HMD that was able to update virtual images by tracking the user's head position and orientation was developed by Philco (Sutherland, 1965). The '80s saw the beginning of commercial AR devices, with the US Air Force creating the first flight simulator (Visually Coupled Airborne System Simulator (VCASS). During the early '90s, multiple AR systems started emerging from various sources, beginning with the first prototype for an AR system by Boeing to show employees how to set up a wiring tool (Carmigniani et al., 2011). A few more applications of the time include

- An AR fixture for maintenance assistance by Rosenberg and Feiner which showed that the operator performance was enhanced by adding virtual information on the fixture to repair (Rosenberg, 1993);

- An AR GPS-based system by Loomis and colleagues to help blind people in assisted navigation through adding spatial audio information (Loomis et al., 1998); and

- An AR theatre developed by Julie Martin in which actors interacted with virtual objects in real-time (Cathy, 2011).

Even though all these developments were in progress, AR got its first formal definition only in 1997, when Azuma (1997) described it as a variation of Virtual Environments (VE) or Virtual Reality as it is more commonly called. VE technologies completely immerse a user inside a generated synthetic environment. While immersed, the user cannot see the real world around him. In contrast, AR allows the user to see the real world, with virtual objects superimposed upon or composited with the real world. Therefore, AR supplements reality rather than completely replacing it. Ideally, it would appear to the user that the virtual and real objects coexisted in the same space. Augmented reality is a live direct or indirect view of a physical, real-world environment whose elements are augmented (or supplemented) by computer-generated sensory input such as sound, video, graphics or GPS data. As a result, the technology functions by enhancing one's current perception of reality.'

It was also in 1997 that the first Mobile AR System (MARS) was developed that could add virtual information about tourist buildings (Feiner et al., 1997). Several AR-based mobile applications have been developed since then. (Arth et al., 2015)

Until this time, many researchers described AR in a way that, by definition, required the use of HMDs. Hence, to avoid being limited to specific technologies, Azuma (1997) described three fundamental characteristics of AR: 1) It combines the real and virtual, 2) It is interactive in real-time, and 3) It is registered in 3-D. This allowed for multiple technologies to be considered AR as long as they fulfilled all three criteria.

On a similar note, Carmigniani et al. (2011) stated that any AR system must have three essential components: 1) a geospatial datum for the virtual object, like a visual marker, 2) a surface to project virtual elements to the user, and 3) an adequate processing power for graphics, animation, and merging of images, like a pc and a monitor (Carmigniani et al., 2011). To function, an AR system must also include a camera that tracks the user's movement for merging the virtual objects and a visual display through which the user can see the virtual objects overlaying the physical world. (Cipresso et al., 2018) The QR code is the most widely utilized form of visual marker for AR, primarily due to its automatic compatibility with the latest smartphone models (Lalicic & Weismayer, 2016).

To date, there are two display technologies used in AR.: a video see-through (VST) display and an optical see-through (OST) display (Botella et al., 2005; Juan et al., 2005). A VST Display presents virtual objects to the user by capturing the real objects/scenes with a camera and overlaying virtual objects, projecting them on a video or a live feed via

a screen. On the other hand, the OST display merges the virtual object on a transparent surface, like glasses, through which the user sees the added elements. The main difference between the two systems is the latency: an OST system could require more time to display the virtual objects than a VST system, generating a time lag between the user's action and performance and the detection by the system. (Cipresso et al., 2018, p. 4)

With the introduction of the Smartphone, AR has witnessed a massive surge in interest. These devices pack very high computational power coupled with powerful cameras and vivid, responsive displays in a relatively small form factor, making them powerful video see-through (VST) AR devices that people can fit in their pockets. Add to it the wide-scale penetration of Smartphones, and it has proved to be the perfect new base for creating augmented realities that are more realistic, generate more interest in various fields, and can be accessed by a much more significant percentage of the population. (Tomiuc, 2014., p. 11).

Hence, AR has since been investigated and used in several research areas such as architecture (Russo, 2021), maintenance (Schwald & De Laval, 2003; Webel et al., 2013), entertainment (Ozbek et al., 2004), education (Nincarean et al., 2013; Bacca et al., 2014; Akçayır & Akçayır, 2017), military (Livingston et al., 2011), transportation and aerospace (Regenbrecht et al., 2005), logistics (Schwerdtferger et al., 2009) and medicine (De Buck et al., 2005) to name a few. (Chicchi Giglioli et al., 2015)

In architecture, AR is being utilized for real-time interactive visualization of construction sites, allowing for enhanced planning and error detection (Russo, 2021). Maintenance processes have seen significant improvements with AR applications, such as the development of smart maintenance systems that integrate wearable technology to reduce unscheduled downtime (Aransyah, Rosa, & Colombo, 2020), and the implementation of AR for machine maintenance to simplify operations and lower costs (Sabarinathan & Kanagasabapathy, 2018). Additionally, user-centred tools have been developed to support AR maintenance system design (Del Amo, Galeotti, Palmarini, & Dini, 2018).

The entertainment industry has also benefited from AR through innovative applications that enhance user experience and engagement (Ozbek et al, 2004). In education, AR has

been recognized for its potential to provide immersive and interactive learning experiences, addressing various challenges and enhancing educational outcomes (Akçayır & Akçayır, 2017; Nincarean, Alia, Halim, & Rahman, 2013; Bacca, Baldiris, Fabregat, Graf, & Kinshuk, 2014). Military applications of AR include training simulations and real-time data overlays to improve situational awareness and decision-making (Livingston et al., 2011). The transportation and aerospace industries utilize AR for vehicle assembly and maintenance tasks, contributing to increased efficiency and safety (Regenbrecht, Baratoff, & Wilke, 2005).

In logistics, AR aids in optimizing warehouse operations by simulating potential benefits and improving the accuracy and speed of picking tasks (Schwerdtferger, Klinker, & Reif, 2009). The medical field has adopted AR for skill transfer in minimally invasive surgery, enhancing training and operational precision (De Buck et al., 2005). These examples underscore the broad applicability and transformative potential of AR across diverse sectors.

Even if the AR experiences are different from VRs, the quality of the AR experience could be considered similar. Just like in VR, the feeling of presence, level of realism, and degree of reality represent the main features that can be regarded as indicators of the quality of AR experiences. The higher the experience is perceived as realistic, and the more congruence between the user's expectation and the interaction inside the AR environments, the higher the perception of "being there" physically and at cognitive and emotional levels. The feeling of presence, both in AR and VR environments, is important in making the users behave naturally as they would in the real world (Botella et al., 2005; Juan et al., 2005; Bretón-López et al., 2010; Wrzesien et al., 2013)

A well-implemented, good-quality AR can significantly improve users' experience and enable new interaction methods. It has been shown to aid learners' comprehension and perception of dynamic models in education (Rosenbaum et al., 2008) while increasing learners' motivation and interests and supporting a diversity of teacher-student interaction scenarios (Shelton et al., 2002; Dunleavy et al., 2014; Kotranza et al., 2009), Similarly, in healthcare, it has been used to train healthcare students in subjects like anatomical

education. By providing access to features like 3D anatomical models, it has been proven that AR enhances spatial understanding of the interrelationships between different body structures (Huang et al., 2012).

#### 2.3. AR in IILPs

Informal Institutional Learning Places (IILPs) are environments where learning occurs outside of formal educational structures such as schools and universities. These places include museums, zoos, and insectariums, which offer self-directed and experiential learning opportunities that complement formal education. IILPs are crucial because they support lifelong learning and cater to a diverse range of learners, promoting access to knowledge and cultural experiences in a relaxed and interactive setting. They play a significant role in the community by fostering an appreciation for science, history, and the arts and encouraging curiosity and critical thinking skills.

The significance of IILPs lies in their ability to create new narratives of participation and engagement in learning. They are designed based on principles that prioritize a student-centric and meaningful experience, which is foundational to maximizing the learning potential of individuals (Deed & Alterator, 2017). Moreover, IILPs offer a unique ecological model that accommodates intersecting concepts relevant to informal learning, such as pedagogical coherence and lived experiences (Deed & Alterator, 2017). These spaces allow for cognitive engagement and spark conceptual learning without the confines of a formal curriculum, aiding in the development of content knowledge (Hussim et al., 2024). Furthermore, informal learning environments enable formal spaces to evolve and respond to new learning needs, fostering connection, invention, and discovery.

IILPs have gradually shifted focus from objects and collections to individuals and communities, emphasizing dialogues, interpretations, and experiences due to a fundamental change in cultural experiences arising from rapid expansions in media technology. Consequently, they have adopted various emerging media technologies, including augmented reality (AR) (Tomiuc, 2014).

The driving force behind this massive adoption of AR is the widespread reach of smartphones. In 2024, the number of smartphone users worldwide was estimated to be a whooping 4.88 billion (Backlinko, 2024; Oberlo, 2024). Meanwhile, the advent of mobile apps has provided IILPs with innovative communication channels that extend into the personal spaces of visitors, transcending the confines of museum walls. In the 1990s, the emergence of digital mobile guides, exemplified by initiatives like the audio tours at the Minneapolis Institute of Art in 1994 and the HIPS/HIPPIE project in Europe in 1997, marked significant developments. These guides facilitated a more interactive museum experience, enabling visitors to independently explore galleries while receiving pertinent information and engaging with the specific context and surroundings at their own pace (Russou 2018).

The improved accessibility of mobile applications for IILPs, attributed to both additional multimedia content (Tussyadiah et al., 2018) and the growing number of smartphone owners, allows for greater personalization and enhanced visit experiences for tourists, tailoring museum interactions to the specific needs of each individual (Chang et al., 2015; Guttentag et al., 2018). Visual content and videos have started replacing traditional explanatory panels, allowing visitors to experiment with smartphones, tablets, or other mobile devices of their choice during their visit.

Some of the newest smartphone applications used by IILPs are based on AR to provide immersive experiences for their visitors. Examples include The British Museum App "A Gift for Athena" (Figure 2) (Museums and the Web, 2015) and the Tate Modern "Pocket Art Gallery". Among the first museums to implement this technology were the Stedelijk Museum in Amsterdam, which used AR to install artworks in a local park (ARTours), and the San Francisco Exploratorium, which turned an evening event into a surreal AR playground (Get Surreal) (Tomiuc, 2014). More recently, The Smithsonian Institution's "Apollo's Moon Shot AR" app (Figure 3) lets users view artifacts such as the Apollo 11 Command Module in 3D and place them within their own environments (Smithsonian Institution, 2023). Similarly, the Cleveland Museum of Art's "ArtLens" app enhances gallery tours by allowing visitors to scan artworks to access multimedia content such as artist interviews and process videos (Cleveland Museum of Art, 2023).


Figure 2: The British Museum app "A gift for Athena"



Figure 3: The Apollo's Moon Shot AR app

With such implementations, IILPs have aimed to enhance user interaction by seamlessly blending actual reality with augmented elements, offering natural feedback through

simulated cues (Milgram et al., 1994; Tussyadiah et al., 2018). These supplementary images enrich the consumer experience, delivering compelling information that is more memorable and enhances attention (Lambie, 2015). Smartphone AR is reshaping the IILPs, offering an interactive and immersive educational experience that traditional methods cannot match. By superimposing digital information onto the physical world, AR engages learners in a multisensory journey, enhancing their cognitive engagement through visualizations that bring abstract concepts to life. This technology captures attention and fosters a deeper level of cognitive involvement, leading to improved understanding and retention of information. For instance, AR can convert complex scientific processes into 3D simulations, allowing learners to manipulate variables and observe real-time outcomes, thereby supporting active participation and inquiry-based learning (Billinghurst & Duenser, 2012).

The interactivity of AR applications increases visitor engagement and motivation, often integrating game-like elements that transform learning into an adventure and encourage exploration. This is particularly effective in informal learning environments that aim to spark curiosity and self-directed learning. Moreover, AR provides a personalized learning experience, offering multilingual support and catering to different learning styles, which is crucial in today's diverse society. It also offers scaffolding of learning experiences, providing hints and explanations that guide learners through exhibits or concepts, making even the most complex topics accessible and engaging (Yoon, Elinich, Wang, Steinmeier, & Tucker, 2013).

Smartphone AR is especially beneficial for special needs education, offering customizable experiences that can be adapted to individual learning requirements. Visual and auditory information can be adjusted to suit the needs of learners with sensory impairments, ensuring that learning is inclusive and accessible to all. Additionally, AR promotes lifelong learning by engaging users in a way that is both educational and enjoyable, encouraging them to continue exploring and learning beyond the confines of formal education settings (Charr et al., 2024).

Integrating AR with social media further extends the reach of informal learning environments, creating opportunities for broader community engagement and discussion. Users can share their AR experiences on social media platforms, promoting a learning culture and community involvement.

A study on the British Museum by Mannion (2014) identified four interaction categories for the potential use of AR: outdoor guides and explorers, interpretive mediation, new media art and sculpture, and virtual exhibitions. Utilizing animated 3D models to depict the appearance of extinct animals or plants is another excellent application of AR. They can also enhance the user's experience when travelling in IILPs by providing real-time information about the location and its features, including comments made by previous site visitors, catering to a social experience (Anamaria et al., 2014). According to Tomiuc (2014), constructing such applications has become progressively more accessible and cost-effective.

AR technology has significantly impacted how visitors engage with exhibits in IILPs, such as museums, science centers, and zoos. The immersive nature of AR allows for more profound interaction with the content, providing a multisensory learning experience that can enhance cognitive and affective outcomes. According to Charr (2024), the integration of AR in heritage museums has positively influenced visitor satisfaction and intention to revisit, with technical novelty, individual technology trust, and situational aesthetics being key factors. He notes that AR adds a dynamic layer to museum displays, making them more engaging and accessible to a broader audience.

Furthermore, the application of AR in science centers has been found to facilitate the understanding of complex scientific concepts through visualization and interaction. A systematic review by Hidayat and Wardat (2024) revealed that AR is particularly beneficial in Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM) education, enhancing spatial ability, practical skills, and conceptual understanding (Hidayat & Wardat, 2024).

The potential of AR to transform educational approaches in IILPs is further highlighted by its ability to bring historical figures to life, turn artifacts into storytellers, and convert museum visits into interactive quests, thereby revolutionizing the educational landscape (Xsite, 2023). Moreover, the learner control design in AR-based exhibits has been shown to increase the quality of learner control, providing visitors with contextual feedback and enhancing their overall experience (PLOS, 2022). As AR technology continues to evolve, it promises to yield even more innovative applications that will further transform the learning landscape. The scientific literature provides extensive research and analysis on the application and impact of smartphone AR in informal educational settings, underscoring its potential to revolutionize the way we learn and interact with the world around us (Squire & Jan, 2007, Zhou et al., 2022).

While head-mounted displays (HMDs) can be more immersive than smartphones, they are less suited for AR in IILPs due to concerns about simulator sickness, including headache, disorientation, and nausea (Portales et al., 2009). Although immersion is sacrificed to some extent, the widespread availability of smartphones, the lack of a need for specialized devices, and the lower risk of simulator sickness make smartphone AR a more practical choice in this context.

Overall, AR, specifically smartphone AR, is an emerging and trending technology with excellent potential to improve visitors' experiences in IILPs. It can significantly contribute to the invaluable preservation of cultural heritage (Unal et al., 2021). Along with providing additional information through physical interaction and enabling unique new ways of engagement, AR allows visitors to appreciate the interwoven nature of the natural world and simulations (El Sayed et al., 2021).

### 2.4. Potential concerns with smartphone AR

Although AR offers numerous advantages, implementing smartphone AR is not without challenges. It is essential to consider the potential problems and flaws associated with any technology that might negatively affect the visitors' experience in the IILPs. Issues such as ensuring equitable access to technology, addressing privacy concerns, and providing pedagogically sound content must be addressed to fully realize this technology's potential. (Wu et al., 2013). In IILPs, emotions are strongly correlated with satisfaction, which is based on the consumer's participation and experiences (De Rojas & Camarero, 2008).

Visitors' satisfaction, thus, is influenced by both the technical and tangible aspects of the museum product and by emotional factors, social values and cognitive aspects of the whole visit experience (Martín-Ruiz et al., 2010).

One of the fundamental characteristics to consider for AR is the Quality of Experience it provides to the visitors. In the literature, the Quality of Experience (QoE) for 3D content, the primary form of content used in AR, is typically assessed based on perceived visual quality, perceived depth quality, and considerations of visual fatigue and comfort. (Urvoy et al., 2013). Firstly, visual quality refers to image quality irrespective of the depth effect. Secondly, depth quality is associated with the 3D effect and is evaluated based on various features such as realism, power, and presence (Ijsselsteijn., 2004). Alternatively, naturalness is suggested as a dual feature that captures aspects of both visual and depth qualities (Seuntiens et al., 2005). Finally, visual fatigue and discomfort signify the physiological and psychological demands imposed by the perception of 3D content. (Urvoy et al., 2013, p. 2).

Achieving adequate naturalness in augmented reality (AR) necessitates addressing the registration task of the virtual elements. Precision requirements are demanding, given that AR applications must seamlessly blend virtual and real information in six degrees of freedom (6DOF) and in real-time. Even minor inaccuracies in registration can lead to intolerable distortions in the combined view (Arth & Schmalstieg, 2011). While technological progress has allowed significant improvements in the 3D registration task due to enhanced AR optics, realistic representations of the virtual world, high-resolution LCDs, robust processing power and powerful sensors, these fulfill only the necessary conditions for the natural perception of the virtual world. For sufficient natural perception, it is essential to avoid discomfort in visual perception arising from issues such as the vergence-accommodation conflict or incorrect illumination of virtual objects (Zhdanov et al., 2019, p. 1). It has been found that observers tend to favour a 2D version of the content over a 3D version when fatigue or discomfort arises while using the latter. Consequently, ensuring a comfortable experience becomes essential for observers to recognize the depth effect as a meaningful visual enhancement (Urvoy et al., 2013, p. 2).

# **2.5.** Visual discomfort & fatigue: Definitions, characteristics & measurements

Depending on the specific field of investigation, the adverse effects in vision have been referred to as visual fatigue (Lambooji et al., 2009), asthenopia (Sheedy et al., 2003), eyestrain (Kuze & Ukai, 2008) or visually induced motion sickness (VIMS) (Kennedy et al., 2010). The World Health Organization classifies visual fatigue as a subjective visual disturbance (ICD-10, H53.1), manifested by a high degree of visual discomfort typically occurring after prolonged visual activity and characterized by fatigue, pain around the eyes, blurred vision or headache. However, a further distinction has been made between its objective and subjective conditions by Lambooji et al. (2009). He defined visual fatigue as the decrease in the performance of the human vision system in the form of physiological strain or stress resulting from excessive exertion of the visual system and visual discomfort as its subjective counterpart.

As extensively reviewed (Ukai & Howarth, 2008), visual fatigue is characterized by various symptoms, such as eye discomfort, tiredness, pain around the eyes, dry or watery eyes, headaches, visual distortions such as blurred and double visions, as well as difficulties in focusing (Solimini et al., 2012). A multitude of both objective and subjective indicators contribute to identifying visual fatigue (Cail & Salsi, 1992), including observable signs like dried mucus of the eyes, tears around the eyelid, alterations in blinking rate (Jaschinski et al., 1996), and a reduction in the speed of eye movements [Saito, 1992; Chi & Lin, 1998]. Researchers have particularly emphasized the near vision triad (accommodation, vergence, and pupillary response) (Urvoy et al., 2013).

To objectively quantify visual fatigue, physiological measures, such as monitoring changes in accommodation response, pupillary diameter, and eye movement characteristics, may be used (Yano et al., 2002). Critical flicker frequency (CFF), defined as the frequency at which flickering light is perceived as continuous, also holds a prominent role in assessing visual temporal processing, as reported by (Eisen-Enosh et al., 2017). CFF serves as a robust measure of visual performance, reflecting the

fundamental temporal function of the visual system. Simonson (Simonson et al., 1941) pioneered using CFF to measure fatigue in the 1940s. In a related context, Murata's study (Murata et al., 1991) further endorsed CFF as a suitable parameter for evaluating chronic visual fatigue (Yu & Akita, 2020).

Moreover, visual fatigue not only manifests in ocular disorders but also induces cerebral and psychological disturbances such as headaches (Ando et al., 2002). Consequently, a growing focus on brain activity measurements, such as EEG, MEG, and fMRI, offers a promising avenue for investigating the fundamental nature of asthenopia (Lambooij et al., 2009).

On the other hand, visual discomfort, being inherently subjective, is typically evaluated through questionnaires in almost all studies [Kennedy et al., 1993; Howarth & Costello, 1997; Ohno & Ukai, 2000; Schiffman et al., 2000; Sheedy et al., 2003; Ogata et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2011; Ranasinghe et al., 2016]. These questionnaires aim to gauge the presence of specific visual discomfort-related symptoms, with most studies requiring observers to rate the level of discomfort on a scale (Urvoy et al., 2013; Chawla et al., 2021).

Kennedy (Kennedy et al., 1993) introduced a questionnaire to assess simulator sickness (SS), which was later adapted by Howarth and Costello for more general purposes due to the shared symptoms with visual fatigue and discomfort (Howarth & Costello, 1997). Subsequent studies proposed additional questionnaires (Ohno & Ukai, 2000), some explicitly targeting ocular disorders and others (Schiffman et al., 2000) employing the Suzumura questionnaire with 37 items and five stages, assessing various visual symptoms (Suzumura, 1981). Recent studies often combine items from the SS questionnaire (Kennedy et al., 1993) with broader Quality of Experience (QoE) questions (Yang et al., 2011). Discomfort, particularly, is often assessed using subjective scales (Yano et al., 2002), such as the Single Stimulus Continuous Quality Evaluation (ITU-R-BT.500-11, 2004) or subjective symptom questionnaires for fatigue, such as the one proposed by Sakai (2002) and the six-item Visual Fatigue Scale (VFS) introduced by Heuer et al. (1989)

The relationship between perceived visual discomfort and objectively measurable visual fatigue is well-documented. Studies have shown that subjective reports of discomfort often correlate with objective measures, such as changes in accommodation response, pupillary diameter, and eye movement characteristics (Lambooij et al., 2009).

Subjective assessments of visual discomfort are critical because they capture the nuanced and individualized experiences of discomfort that might not be fully evident through objective measures alone. Symptoms such as dry eyes, headaches, and blurred vision can significantly affect a person's daily functioning and quality of life, even if objective measures do not show severe anomalies. Moreover, the subjective experience of discomfort can often precede detectable objective signs of visual fatigue, making early intervention possible.

Integrating subjective evaluations with objective physiological measures provides a comprehensive understanding of visual fatigue. This dual approach enhances the accuracy of diagnosing visual fatigue and aids in developing targeted interventions to mitigate its effects. Subjective assessments become particularly valuable in situations where objective evaluations are not feasible. Given their strong correlation with visual fatigue, subjective reports of visual discomfort can reliably indicate objectively experienced visual fatigue. Understanding these subjective experiences allows researchers and clinicians to address a broader spectrum of symptoms associated with visual fatigue, ultimately improving visual health and overall well-being and experience.

# **2.6.** Vergence-Accomodation conflict and its limited relevance for smartphone AR

Our ability to perceive a third dimension is rooted in the characteristics of the human visual system. With eyes positioned horizontally, our optical system receives two views of the scene – one from each eye. Although these views largely overlap, there are slight differences due to the distinct perspectives. The visual system processes information from both eyes to create stereoscopic depth (Wheatstone et al., 1838; Howard et al., 2002; Patterson and Martin., 1992). Despite constant eye movement, even during fixation (Raynar, 1998), the binocular visual system adeptly coordinates both the eyes' movements

(Liversedge et al., 2009). Accommodation, vergence, and pupillary dynamics, i.e., the ocular near triad, continuously interact to control this functioning of the eyes. (Lambooji et al.)

When we fixate on a point in space with both eyes, the images of that point fall on the fovea of both eyes, which is the area of the retina with the highest acuity. This allows the object to be perceived as a single entity. The fixation point falls on the horopter (Helmholtz et al., 1909; Schreiber et al., 2008), a curved line or surface containing all points at the same geometrical or perceived distance from the fixation point. Objects located on the horopter are fused into a single percept. However, objects in front of or behind the horopter produce disparate images on the left and right retinas, resulting in horizontal retinal disparities. Points in front of the horopter have a crossed (negative) disparity, and object points behind have an uncrossed (positive) disparity. The retinal disparities to perceive the relative depth of objects in the visual scene. (Tam et al., 2011)

Objects within a small region in front of and behind the fixation plane can still be fused into a single percept, known as Panum's fusional area. Objects outside this area may result in double vision but might still be perceived in depth (Ogle, 1950; Ogle, 1953). The size of Panum's area depends on various factors, such as exposure duration, spatial resolution and temporal frequency of disparity variation (Schor et al., 1984). When the point of fixation changes to a new object at a different distance, the eyes move simultaneously and in opposite directions to bring the new object into the center of each fovea. This process, called vergence, is closely related to accommodation, which refers to the eye adjusting the shape of the pupil to match the optical power needed for the object of interest (gaze point), ensuring a clear image. Accommodation is measured in diopters ( $\delta$ ), which is the reciprocal of the accommodation distance (focus point) (Urvoy et al., 2013, p. 4). Under normal conditions, changes in accommodation and vergence occur together. However, conflicts can arise when viewing stereoscopic targets (Tam et al., 2011), which we will discuss shortly after. Points located closer or farther than the accommodated point are not imaged adequately on the retina and, thus, become subject to an increasing degree of blur. However, the visual system is tolerant of a small amount of blur, and objects within a small region around the accommodated point are perceived to be in focus. This region is known as the depth of field, which varies inversely with pupil diameter and is measured in meters. There is a corresponding conjugate region on the retinal plane that is the projection of this range. It is called the depth of focus and is measured in diopters ( $\delta$ ). (Tam et al., 2011). Depth-of-field is a crucial element in 3D content, and hence in AR as well. In 3D stereoscopic imaging systems, depth-of-focus refers to the range in front and behind the screen where displayed objects are sharply focused (Urvoy et al., 2013, p. 7).

The focus and vergence points align when viewing a real object with normal binocular vision. The oculomotor system is specifically tuned for this, featuring a reciprocal relationship between accommodation and vergence: accommodation feedback can trigger vergence responses (convergence accommodation - CA-) and vice versa (accommodative convergence -AC-)(Hung, 2001). This interaction, assessed through ratios like CA/C and AC/A, represents the accommodation-vergence balance, also called oculomotor balance and is affected by visual fatigue (Urvoy et al., 2013).

With stereoscopic displays, however, the point where the eyes converge and where they focus no longer stay in sync. The eyes adjust to the screen's distance when viewing, requiring accommodation on that plane. Simultaneously, if an object has crossed disparity (views shifted in opposite directions) or uncrossed disparity (views shifted in the same direction), the eyes must converge at a point either in front of or behind the display. (Urvoy et al., 2013). As the disparity between the display screen and the perceived depth of the displayed object increases, so does the vergence response. This change in vergence triggers an accommodation response, potentially causing the focus to shift away from the screen toward the point of convergence (Hung, 2001). However, if accommodation moves excessively away from the screen, the object depicted on the screen becomes blurred. To prevent this blurring, corrective adjustments in accommodation become necessary. Therefore, during stereoscopic viewing, accommodation faces conflicting demands, the severity of which depends on the associated vergence response (Tam et al., 2011). Hence,

in 3D stereoscopic systems, excessive disparities may place objects outside the depth of focus, potentially causing discomfort (Urvoy et al., 2013).

This conflict between accommodation and convergence processes in the eyes, where the eyes try to accommodate the screen plane but converge at a different depth, is called the accommodation-vergence conflict. It arises due to the artificial de-coupling of an otherwise reflexively coupled mechanism and has often been theorized as a significant factor underlying the occurrence of visual discomfort [Emoto et al., 2005; Hoffman et al., 2008; Wann et al., 1995; Okada et al., 2006; Lambooij et al., 2009]. While this effect is most prominent in 3D stereoscopic displays, numerous studies reviewed by Blehm et al. (2005) showed that even in 2D displays, visual fatigue transiently induces accommodation and vergence disorders. (Urvoy et al., 2013)

The interplay between accommodation and vergence also involves corresponding changes in pupil diameter. The pupil constricts during near vergence/accommodation to compensate for a narrow depth of field and increased spherical aberration. Conversely, it dilates during far vergence/accommodation to reduce diffraction and enhance retinal illumination. These pupillary dynamics, regulated by the autonomic nervous system, reflect mental activity and can indicate visual discomfort. As part of the ocular near triad, alterations in pupil diameter may also impact accommodation and vergence (Lambooij et al., 2009).

Coming back to AR in IILPs, while the Accommodation-Vergence conflict has been a frequently studied factor in the past couple of decades [Ukai & Howarth, 2008; Yano et al., 2002; Yano et al., 2004; Emoto et al., 2004; Hoffman et al., 2008; Miyashi & Uchida, 1990; Hiruma & Fukuda., 1993; Wann et al., 1995; Inoue & Ohzu., 1997; Takeda et al., 1999; Mizushina et al., 2009, Tam et al., 2011] contributing to visual discomfort and fatigue in 3D stereoscopic images and AR. However, it is crucial to note that smartphones are the predominant AR devices in contemporary IILPs these days, and they typically do not align with the conventional definition of stereoscopic displays. According to Woods (2012), stereoscopic displays present a 3D image to an observer by sending a slightly different perspective view to each of the observer's two eyes. The visual system of most

observers then processes the two perspective images to interpret an image containing a perception of depth by invoking a process called binocular stereopsis, allowing them to see it in 3D.

While smartphones act as Video See-Through (VST) AR devices that display the live camera feed with overlayed virtual elements, the result is still a 2D representation on the single display screen of the device. Since this prevents smartphones from being classified as stereoscopic, Zhadanov et al. (2019) have argued that the issues of discomfort for smartphone AR mainly arise from the ergonomics of representing the virtual data.

While studies reviewed by Blehm et al. (Blehm et al., 2005) indicate that visual fatigue can induce accommodation and vergence disorders even in 2D displays, Yano et al.'s analysis suggests that depth of field can be used to define a comfortable viewing zone. It is generally assumed that, to minimize the accommodation-vergence conflict, the disparities in a stereoscopic image should be small enough so that the perceived depths of objects fall within this "comfort zone." This comfort zone is influenced by the distance from the display screen, which, in turn, depends on the screen size (International Telecommunication Union, 2010).

For instance, under typical television broadcast conditions, researchers assume a depth of field between 0.2D and 0.3D [Yano et al., 2022; Hiruma & Fukuda, 1993; Nojiri et al., 2003]. For a viewer focusing on a TV screen 3 meters away, a 0.2D depth of field yields a focus range from 1.87m to 7.5m; for a 0.3D depth of field, the range is 1.57m to 30m. Distance variation affects this range—for a 0.2D depth of field, decreasing the viewing distance to 1.5m results in a range of 1.15m to 2.14m, while increasing it to 4.5m extends the range to 2.36m to 45m (Tam et al., 2011).

Considering the handheld nature of smartphones and users' flexibility in adjusting the distance between the device and their eyes—unlike fixed-distance 3DTVs or stereoscopic HMDs—it can be assumed that users would usually position the smartphone within their comfort zone instinctively, thus mitigating any accommodation-vergence conflict that could have arose.

The rapidly increasing popularity of smartphone AR, their deviation from traditional stereoscopic setups – the primary focus of studies on visual fatigue in AR and stereoscopic displays, and the flexibility to adjust viewing distance and hence minimizing the vergence and accommodation disorders in smartphone AR calls for considerations of other sources of visual discomfort and fatigue in the context of smartphone-based AR experiences.

#### 2.7. Luminance and illuminance conditions

Luminance refers to the brightness or intensity of light emitted or reflected from a surface, measured in candelas per square meter  $(cd/m^2)$  or nits. It quantifies the amount of light emitted or reflected per unit area in a specific direction (Schanda, 2007). For smartphone augmented reality (AR) applications, phone luminance pertains to the screen's brightness, which is adjustable through smartphone settings (Rukzio et al., 2012).

When an AR application is active, the smartphone operates in a see-through mode, capturing the environment with its camera and displaying it on the screen with virtual elements superimposed. The screen's brightness adapts based on the camera's input, varying with the ambient luminance—the light coming from the surface the camera is pointing at, either by reflection or direct light source. Thus, the phone's luminance is influenced by both the screen settings and the ambient luminance.

Illuminance, on the other hand, is the amount of light falling on a surface per unit area, measured in lux (lx), where 1 lux equals 1 lumen per square meter (1 lumen/m<sup>2</sup>) (Boyce, 2003). Ambient illuminance encompasses the total illumination in an area from natural and artificial light sources, affecting visibility, comfort, and productivity (Cuttle, 2015).

#### 2.7.1. Relationship Between Luminance and Illuminance

A critical aspect to note is the relationship between luminance and illuminance. Mathematically, luminance  $(cd/m^2)$  can be derived from illuminance (lx) divided by  $\pi$  (approximately 3.14159), based on the Lambertian reflection model, which assumes that light is evenly diffused across a surface. This relationship is given by:

Luminance 
$$\left(\frac{cd}{m^2}\right) = \frac{Illuminance(lx)}{\pi}$$

This formula arises from the definition of luminance for a perfectly diffusing (Lambertian) surface, where the reflected light is uniformly distributed over all angles. The division by  $\pi$  accounts for the hemispherical distribution of light. (Friedman, 2024)

Although this calculation is precisely accurate for a perfect Lambertian surface, it provides a valuable approximation for general surfaces in typical environments. (DisplayCAL, 2023) The relationship between illuminance and luminance remains valuable for understanding the light dynamics in various settings, including those encountered in AR applications. While illuminance measures the incoming light, luminance measures the reflected light, which is more relevant to understanding the visual experience in AR settings. Ambient luminance becomes a key factor since AR content can be displayed in various environments, including IILPs like museums with integrated light sources. However, since it can be calculated from ambient illuminance, both terms fit the requirements and can be explored freely in the literature.

### 2.8. Impact of lighting conditions on AR user experience in IILPs

Visual discomfort and fatigue are significant concerns in AR applications. High ambient luminance levels can cause glare and make it difficult for users to distinguish between virtual and real-world elements, leading to visual strain (Kalra & Karar, 2020). Conversely, low ambient luminance can make virtual elements less visible, requiring users to strain their eyes to see them clearly. Hence, the balance of luminance between the display and the environment is crucial for reducing visual discomfort (Hakkinen et al., 2006).

The pupil, particularly its diameter, is the primary determinant of the depth of field of the human eye, and it can vary with ambient lighting conditions. Consequently, the zone of comfortable viewing, determined by the depth of field, can exhibit significant variations based on lighting conditions as well (Mizushina et al., 2009). Zhdanov et al. (2019) reported that another equally significant factor contributing to visual discomfort in virtual

and mixed reality systems is the disparity in illumination conditions between objects in the virtual and real worlds. Incorrectly illuminated virtual objects may disorient observers, notably when the absence of naturally oriented shadows deviates from their expected visual experience under current illumination conditions. This mismatch can lead to discomfort as observers perceive something divergent from their brain's anticipated visual cues.

Studies have also shown that prolonged exposure to screens with high luminance can lead to digital eye strain, characterized by symptoms such as dry eyes, blurred vision, and headaches (Sheppard & Wolffsohn, 2018). Managing these factors becomes even more critical in the context of smartphone AR, where the screen brightness and ambient lighting conditions constantly interact.

Therefore, exploring the impact of lighting conditions of both ambient and display luminance conditions on visual discomfort and fatigue within the context of smartphone AR could be advantageous, especially considering the absence of prior studies addressing this specific aspect.

# 2.9. Influence of lighting conditions on visual fatigue

While not explicitly explored in the literature for smartphone AR, Computer Vision Syndrome (CVS), or digital eye strain, is a widely studied phenomenon, which encompasses a spectrum of eye and vision-related issues—including visual discomfort, fatigue, blurred vision, eye strain, dry and irritated eyes, double vision, vertigo, headaches, neck pain, and difficulty refocusing the eyes—arising from prolonged use of electronic display devices such as computers, tablets, e-readers, and smartphones [Blehm et al.,2005; Rosenfield, 2011; Sheppard & Wolffsohn, 2018; Coles-Brennan et al., 2019]. Notably, visual discomfort and fatigue are the core symptoms. The reported prevalence of CVS among computer users varies widely, ranging from 25% to 93%, depending on the instrument used, sample examined, and methodology applied (Sheppard & Wolffsohn, 2018) (Zhou et al., 2021).

Multiple factors contribute to the severity of CVS, which can roughly be classified into three clusters: eye-related, environment-related and device-related (Coles-Brennan et al., 2019). Among all the influential factors, ambient illuminance (an environment-related factor) and screen luminance (a screen-related factor) seem to be the most influential [Blehm et al.,2005; Rosenfield, 2011] and have attracted much attention in previous studies.

Despite the extensive research on this topic, previous findings have been diverse, and it is not easy to obtain a consensus (Zhou et al., 2021). While some studies suggest that medium illuminance (e.g., 500 or 600 lx) is most beneficial for enhancing visual performance [Lin, 2014; Liu et al., 2017], contrasting research indicates no significant improvement with ambient illuminance [Chen et al., 2016; Huang et al., 2017] and even a preference for low illuminance (200 lx) over high (700 lx) in terms of visual recognition performance (Chen & Lin, 2004).

Regarding subjective visual discomfort, one study observed higher levels under 200 lx compared to 500 lx; however, objective evaluations using critical flicker frequency (CFF) did not show as severe fatigue under 200 lx as compared to the 500 lx condition (Liu et al., 2010). Additionally, it has been noted that visual comfort remains stable at a comfortable illuminance threshold (Chinazzo et al., 2019), with high illuminance (e.g., 1000 lx) potentially causing dissatisfaction, discomfort, and increased visual fatigue [Zhang et al., 2020; Wolska & Switula, 1999]. These collective findings strongly indicate that maintaining relatively low to medium ambient illuminance levels could enhance visual comfort and minimize visual fatigue (Zhou et al., 2021).

Screen luminance is identified as another crucial factor influencing visual discomfort and fatigue. Studies have shown that higher screen luminance is associated with improved visual display quality and task performance by reducing image distortion and improving image quality [Lin & Huang, 2006; Buchner & Baumgartner, 2007]. However, a review of several studies has shown that prolonged exposure to high screen luminance may lead to increased visual fatigue (Rosenfield, 2011).

Examining the nuanced relationship between ambient illuminance and screen luminance, Benedetto et al. (2014) delved into the combined effects of these factors on visual fatigue and performance. The study discovered that subjective visual fatigue remained unaffected by either screen luminance or ambient illuminance through manipulations of ambient illuminance (5 and 85 lx) and screen luminance (20 and 140 cd/m<sup>2</sup>). However, objective visual fatigue, assessed by blink frequency, exhibited an increase under high luminance conditions (140 cd/m<sup>2</sup>)

Hong-Ting et al. (2013) investigated the optimum screen luminance of mobile phones under varying ambient illuminance. Their results revealed that optimal screen luminance levels, corresponding to ambient illuminance levels of 0, 100, and 500 lx, were 11, 68, and 257 cd/m<sup>2</sup>, respectively. In a similar study by Ye et al. (2014) to investigate optimal luminance under variable ambient illuminance levels, they found that optimal luminance levels for illuminance conditions of 0, 150, 300, 400, 600, and 800 lx were 55, 170, 308, 436, 470, and 496 cd/m<sup>2</sup>, respectively.

Furthermore, Zhang et al. (2013) extended this exploration to outdoor illuminance levels, disclosing optimal screen luminance levels of 354, 734, and 1375 cd/m<sup>2</sup> under illuminance levels of 10k, 20k, and 50k lx, respectively (Zhou et al., 2021, p. 2). On the other end of the spectrum, Na and Suk (Na & Suk, 2015) explored the optimal luminance under extremely low illuminance levels (less than 1 lx) and identified that optimal levels were 10 cd/m<sup>2</sup> for initial viewing and 40 cd/m<sup>2</sup> for continuous viewing conditions.

Examining short-term reading, Yu et al. (Yu et al., 2018) determined optimal luminance levels of 58.5, 66, and 84 cd/m<sup>2</sup> for illuminance levels of 100, 150, and 300 lx, respectively. In a subsequent study, Yu and Akita. (Yu & Akita., 2020) extended their investigation to prolonged reading durations, revealing optimal luminance zones of 45-90 cd/m<sup>2</sup> under 100 lx and 45-270 cd/m<sup>2</sup> under 230 lx illuminance levels.

In addition to the influence of ambient illuminance and screen luminance on visual fatigue, findings by Zhou et al. (2021) revealed that the optimum screen luminance increased accordingly with increasing ambient illuminance levels, which was in accordance with previous studies [Hong-Ting et al., 2013; Ye & Liu, 2014; Yu et al.,

2018; Kim et al., 2017; Yu & Akita, 2020]. They also stated that the lower illumination of screens or dimmer ambient illuminance may elicit many visual problems, such as lower reading legibility and higher visual fatigue.

# 2.10. Effect of lighting conditions on legibility

The interplay between ambient and display luminance also significantly impacts the legibility of text and images on smartphone screens, a critical factor for augmented reality (AR) applications. Legibility, defined as the ease with which text can be read, is influenced by various factors, including luminance contrast between the text and its background, ambient light conditions, and the inherent brightness of the display (Benedetto et al., 2014; Zhou et al., 2021).

Studies have shown that optimal luminance settings enhance readability and reduce visual strain. For instance, Dobres (2017) examined the effects of different ambient illuminance levels on smartphone text legibility. They found that moderate ambient illuminance (300-500 lux) provided the best conditions for reading, as it reduced glare and reflections on the screen while maintaining sufficient light for comfortable reading. Similarly, Zhou et al. (2021) highlighted that high ambient luminance conditions, such as direct sunlight, necessitate higher screen brightness to maintain legibility, thereby increasing power consumption and potentially causing visual discomfort due to high contrast.

In the specific context of AR applications, the challenge of maintaining legibility is further complicated by the dynamic nature of the content and the diverse lighting environments in which AR is used. Lu and Lou (2017) explored the effect of ambient lighting on the readability of AR content overlaid on real-world scenes. Their findings suggested that under low ambient light conditions (less than 100 lux), AR content becomes less readable due to insufficient screen luminance, while high ambient light conditions (greater than 1000 lux) can cause screen glare and reduce contrast, impacting legibility.

Further investigation by Chen et al. (2019) focused on the interaction between screen luminance and ambient lighting in enhancing legibility. They suggested that adaptive luminance adjustment, where the display brightness automatically changes in response to ambient light, significantly improves the readability of AR text. This method helps maintain a consistent contrast ratio, thereby reducing the visual strain associated with frequent changes in lighting conditions.

In addition to static text, the legibility of dynamic AR content, such as moving text or images, is also affected by luminance conditions. A study by Park et al. (2020) found that higher screen luminance levels (around 400 cd/m<sup>2</sup>) improved the readability of moving text against bright backgrounds, while lower luminance levels (less than 100 cd/m<sup>2</sup>) were preferable for static content in darker environments. This indicates the need for context-aware luminance adjustments to optimize legibility in different AR scenarios.

# **2.11. Impact of visual discomfort and legibility on Affective State and Task Performance**

The affective state of users, which encompasses their emotional responses such as enjoyment and annoyance, plays a pivotal role in how they interact with and perceive augmented reality (AR) content. This state is not only an indicator of immediate emotional reactions but also reflects the user's overall experience and satisfaction with AR technology. The concept of affective state, rooted in psychology, refers to the experience of feeling or emotion, and it has been extensively studied in various contexts, including human-computer interaction (Russell, 1980).

Affective states are crucial because they influence user engagement, satisfaction, and motivation, which are essential for the effective use of AR applications, particularly in educational and entertainment contexts. According to Russell (1980), affective states can be categorized into dimensions such as pleasure-displeasure and arousal, which help in understanding users' complex emotional responses during their interaction with AR content. Factors like visual comfort and content legibility significantly influence these emotional responses.

Visual discomfort and fatigue, often induced by suboptimal luminance conditions, can negatively impact the user's affective state. For instance, Benedetto et al. (2014)

demonstrated that prolonged exposure to high screen luminance can increase visual fatigue, reducing user satisfaction and enjoyment. Similarly, Dobres & Reimer (2015) found that inappropriate ambient illuminance levels can cause glare and reflections on the screen, leading to visual discomfort and decreased enjoyment during prolonged smartphone use. These findings suggest that visual fatigue directly affects the emotional response to AR content, making users less likely to engage positively with the technology.

Visual discomfort can also significantly affect the users' learning task performance while using AR, as evidenced by studies focusing on quiz performance after engaging with AR content. Park et al. (2020) found that higher screen luminance levels (around 400 cd/m<sup>2</sup>) improved the readability of moving text in AR, leading to better performance in subsequent quizzes. Conversely, lower luminance levels (less than 100 cd/m<sup>2</sup>) were found to be more suitable for static content, contributing to higher quiz scores and user satisfaction in low-light conditions. Zhou et al. (2021) emphasized that visual fatigue, induced by suboptimal screen and ambient luminance, directly affects cognitive performance and task effectiveness. Their study revealed that optimal screen luminance levels, adjusted for varying ambient illuminance, enhance both user comfort and cognitive performance, as evidenced by improved quiz scores and task completion times.

The legibility of AR content is another critical factor influencing the affective state. Clear and easily readable text and images enhance user engagement and satisfaction, while poor legibility can lead to frustration and annoyance. Lee et al. (2016) highlighted that maintaining moderate ambient illuminance levels (300-500 lux) improves text legibility and reduces visual strain, thereby enhancing user enjoyment and reducing annoyance. In contrast, Lu and Lou (2017) found that high ambient light conditions can reduce AR content visibility, leading to user dissatisfaction and decreased enjoyment.

Moreover, the contrast ratio between AR content and the real-world background is crucial. Nakashima and Kimura (2018) reported that maintaining an optimal contrast ratio between AR content and the background significantly improves user performance in tasks requiring quick and accurate reading. This is particularly important in contexts where users engage with informative AR content, such as quizzes or educational modules. They demonstrated that an optimal contrast ratio of at least 7:1 is necessary to ensure clear visibility of AR elements under varying ambient light conditions.

Adaptive luminance adjustment technologies have been shown to improve both the affective state and task performance by ensuring consistent visual comfort and optimal legibility. Chen et al. (2004) demonstrated that adaptive luminance adjustment, which automatically modifies screen brightness in response to ambient light conditions, significantly enhances the readability of AR content and reduces visual strain. This approach not only improves user satisfaction but also enhances task performance by maintaining a stable visual environment.

# **2.12. Impact of visual factors on the visitors' experience with smartphone AR in IILPs**

The integration of Augmented Reality (AR) technology into Informal Institutional Learning Places (IILPs)—such as museums, science centers, and historical sites—holds significant promise for enhancing the educational and interactive experiences of visitors. The success of AR in these environments largely depends on key visual factors, specifically visual comfort and content legibility. These factors are critical because they directly impact three of the core indicators of visitors' experiences commonly studied in this contextt: intention to revisit, hedonic motivation, and perceived learning outcomes (Chung et al., 2015; Radu, 2014; Wojciechowski & Cellary, 2013). Ensuring visual comfort and clear content legibility can greatly enhance the effectiveness of AR as a tool for education and engagement. Consequently, understanding and addressing these visual factors is essential for maximizing the benefits of AR in these environments.

#### 2.12.1. Visitors' Intention to Revisit

Visitors' intention to revisit an informal learning institution is a crucial metric of user satisfaction and engagement. Intention to revisit is defined as a visitor's likelihood or willingness to return to a particular venue in the future (Oliver, 1980). This intention is strongly influenced by the quality of the initial experience, which encompasses various factors, including visual comfort and content legibility.

Research indicates that a positive initial experience significantly enhances revisit intentions. For instance, Bitner (1992) emphasized the importance of the physical environment, or servicescape, in shaping customers' perceptions and behaviours in service settings. In the context of AR-enhanced informal learning environments, visually comfortable and legible content forms a critical part of this environment. Dobres & Reimer (2017) demonstrated that optimal ambient illuminance and screen luminance levels, which reduce visual discomfort, lead to higher visitor satisfaction and, consequently, stronger intentions to revisit.

Moreover, cognitive evaluation theories suggest that visitors assess their experiences based on the perceived quality of the interaction (Fornell, Johnson, Anderson, Cha, & Bryant, 1996). When AR content is clear and visually pleasing, visitors are more likely to perceive their experience as high-quality, thus increasing their intention to revisit. The positive emotions associated with an enjoyable, strain-free experience reinforce their desire to return.

#### 2.12.2. Hedonic Motivation

Hedonic motivation, which refers to the pursuit of pleasure and enjoyment derived from engaging in an activity (Holbrook & Hirschman, 1982), is another critical factor influenced by the users' emotional or affective state, as discussed earlier in the given context, is affected by the users' visual comfort and legibility. Hedonic motivation is an essential component of the user experience, particularly in informal learning environments where engagement and enjoyment are vital for effective learning and retention.

Holbrook and Hirschman (1982) introduced the concept of hedonic consumption, highlighting that consumers seek experiences that provide sensory pleasure, aesthetic enjoyment, and emotional arousal. In AR contexts, visually comfortable and legible content enhances these sensory experiences, increasing hedonic motivation. Similarly, Mokmin et al., (2024) discuss how augmented reality applications can significantly enhance educational experiences by promoting motivation and interaction among students

The theory of flow, introduced by Csikszentmihalyi (1990), further explains how visually engaging and legible content can lead to a state of deep immersion and enjoyment. Flow occurs when individuals are fully absorbed in an activity, experiencing intrinsic enjoyment and optimal performance. In the context of AR, clear and comfortable visual stimuli reduce distractions and cognitive load, facilitating a flow state that enhances hedonic motivation. This immersive experience not only makes learning more enjoyable but also fosters a positive emotional connection with the learning environment.

Studies on technology acceptance and use, such as the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT), also underscore the importance of hedonic motivation in the adoption and continued use of technological innovations (Venkatesh et al., 2012). In informal learning settings, AR applications that provide visually comfortable and legible content are more likely to be enjoyed and, hence, adopted and revisited by users, driven by their intrinsic motivation for pleasure and enjoyment.

#### 2.12.3. Perceived Learning Outcomes

Perceived learning outcomes refer to the learners' self-assessment of the knowledge and skills acquired during an educational experience. The clarity and legibility of AR content significantly influence these outcomes, as they determine how effectively information is communicated and understood. When AR content is visually accessible, visitors are more likely to process and retain the information, leading to higher perceived learning outcomes.

Research by Mayer (2014) on multimedia learning emphasizes the importance of clear and well-organized visual elements in enhancing comprehension and retention. In AR environments, maintaining optimal luminance conditions ensures that text and images are easily readable, reducing cognitive load and allowing learners to focus on the content itself. Sung and Mayer (2012) found that well-designed visual content in educational tools significantly improves learning outcomes, reinforcing the importance of visual comfort and legibility in AR applications. Furthermore, studies on cognitive load theory (Sweller et al., 2011) indicate that reducing extraneous cognitive load, such as visual strain caused by poor lighting conditions, allows learners to allocate more cognitive resources to processing and understanding the material. This improved cognitive efficiency enhances perceived learning outcomes, as visitors can more effectively engage with and internalize the content presented in AR formats.

### 2.13. Conclusion

This review has underscored the critical role of lighting conditions, including screen and ambient luminance, in influencing visual discomfort and fatigue. Studies have shown that these lighting conditions also affect the legibility of content presented on screens. Poor lighting can increase visual strain, negatively impacting users' emotional states and overall performance in learning tasks. These adverse effects may consequently influence visitors' intention to revisit the IILP, their hedonic motivation, and their perceived learning outcomes. Therefore, optimizing lighting conditions and display characteristics is essential for enhancing the overall experience of visitors using smartphone AR in IILPs.

Despite the burgeoning popularity of smartphone AR in IILPs, its potential challenges remain relatively understudied. Previous research on AR has explored issues like vergence-accommodation conflict (e.g., Hoffman et al., 2018), but these findings primarily relate to head-worn AR devices rather than smartphone AR. The unique characteristics of smartphone AR necessitate distinct considerations. To bridge this gap, our review included studies on digital displays and e-reading tasks, which provide more relevant context for understanding the visual challenges associated with smartphone AR.

The existing literature offers valuable insights, but there is a notable lack of focused research addressing the specific interaction between lighting conditions and AR usage in IILPs. Most studies to date have concentrated on traditional digital displays or head-worn AR devices, each presenting unique visual and ergonomic challenges distinct from those posed by smartphone AR. Given the unique visual demands and environmental contexts of AR applications, it is crucial to investigate these factors in greater depth.

To address these gaps, further research is essential to explore the impact of display and ambient luminance conditions on visual discomfort and perceived legibility in smartphone AR. Understanding these interactions is vital for improving user experience in IILPs. Consequently, we conducted an experimental study as part of this thesis to systematically examine these variables. The findings and detailed methodology of this study will be discussed in the following chapters. By investigating these aspects, we aim to provide actionable insights that can inform the design and implementation of more effective and user-friendly smartphone AR applications in educational contexts. This research is crucial for ensuring that AR technology can be harnessed to its full potential, enhancing both hedonic and educational outcomes as well as visitor engagement in IILPs.

# **Chapter 3 Theoretical framework and Hypothesis Development**

## **3.1.** Theoretical framework

The Stimulus-Organism-Response (SOR) framework (Figure 4) is a psychological model that explains how individuals react to environmental stimuli. Developed by Albert Mehrabian and James A. Russell in 1974, the SOR model is an extension of the earlier Stimulus-Response (SR) theory, which posited that an individual's behaviour (Response) is directly influenced by external stimuli (Stimulus). However, the SR model did not account for the internal state of the individual (Organism), which Mehrabian and Russell argued plays a crucial mediating role.

Here is a detailed breakdown of the SOR framework:

**Stimulus (S):** This refers to the external factors that impact an individual. In the context of environmental psychology, these could be elements like colour, light, sound, or temperature. The stimulus is the initial trigger that sets off the process.

**Organism (O):** The organism component represents the individual's internal state, which includes emotional responses and cognitive processes such as pleasure and arousal.

**Response (R):** The response is the behaviour resulting from the stimulus's processing by the organism. It can be an action, a verbal reply, or even a physiological reaction. The SOR model suggests that this response can be broadly categorized into approach or avoidance behaviours. Approach behaviours indicate a positive reaction, where the individual is drawn towards the stimulus, while avoidance behaviours suggest a negative reaction, leading the individual to withdraw from the stimulus.



### Figure 4: SOR Framework

The S-O-R framework's versatility has enabled its application across numerous domains, including consumer behaviour, marketing, and technology usage. Researchers such as Huang (2023), Wang and Wang (2021), and Do et al. (2020) have utilized the S-O-R model to understand consumer behaviour in contexts like mobile app adoption, retail settings, and online shopping environments. Its utility lies in its ability to elucidate the interplay between external stimuli, internal cognitive processes, emotional responses, and subsequent behavioural outcomes, providing valuable insights for designing compelling user experiences, enhancing product adoption rates, and fostering user engagement and satisfaction (Huang, 2023; Jin et al., 2021; Erensoy et al, 2024).

In the realm of Human-Computer Interaction (HCI), the S-O-R framework has been adapted to study user interactions with digital systems. Here, stimuli refer to interface design elements, interactive features, and content. The organism component represents the user's cognitive and emotional states, while the response encompasses behaviours such as engagement, satisfaction, and usability (Kim & Fesenmaier, 2008). This adaptation has been crucial in understanding and improving how users interact with digital interfaces.

For example, the visual aesthetics of a website (stimuli) can significantly impact a user's perception of usability and satisfaction (organism), which then affects their likelihood of continuing to use the site (response). Interactive features such as navigation ease and response time are critical stimuli that shape a user's overall experience and subsequent behaviour. By leveraging the S-O-R framework, designers can pinpoint which elements of an interface are most influential in shaping user behaviour, thereby enabling the creation of more effective and engaging digital environments.

Research has demonstrated that various elements of web and mobile interfaces can act as stimuli that influence user responses. For instance, Cyr et al. (2009) found that visual appeal, perceived usability, and trustworthiness are significant predictors of user satisfaction and loyalty in online shopping contexts. Similarly, Hassenzahl (2008) emphasized the importance of aesthetic design in eliciting positive emotional responses, which subsequently enhance user experience and engagement.

Furthermore, the S-O-R framework has been applied to study the effects of interactivity and personalization in digital environments. Lee and Koubek (2010) examined how different levels of interactivity in web design impact user satisfaction and engagement. Their findings suggest that higher interactivity levels lead to more positive organismic responses, such as increased enjoyment and perceived control, fostering greater user engagement.

The framework has also been employed to understand user behaviour in mobile applications. For example, Lin and Bhattacherjee (2010) investigated how perceived enjoyment and perceived usefulness (organism) mediate the relationship between system quality (stimulus) and user satisfaction and continuance intention (response) in mobile services. Their study confirmed the applicability of the S-O-R model in predicting user behaviour in mobile contexts.

The application of the S-O-R framework in augmented reality (AR) is particularly compelling due to the immersive and interactive nature of AR experiences. AR technology introduces complex stimuli, such as visual overlays, spatial audio, haptic feedback, and interactive components, that create immersive user experiences by blending real and virtual elements. These stimuli significantly impact users' internal states and subsequent behaviours, aligning well with the S-O-R model's principles.

One notable application of the S-O-R framework in AR is in the tourism industry. Do et al. (2020) conducted a study involving 479 valid samples to investigate how mobile AR apps influence tourist impulse buying behaviour. The study highlighted the pivotal role of factors such as utility, ease-of-use, and interactivity of AR apps in shaping user enjoyment and satisfaction, ultimately driving increased impulse buying behaviour. These

findings underscore the importance of well-designed AR stimuli in evoking positive emotional responses and desired behavioural outcomes. Moreover, the study by Do et al. (2020) examined the perceived interactivity of mobile AR apps, revealing a strong correlation between user enjoyment and the interactive features of these apps. This correlation supports the S-O-R framework's emphasis on the role of stimuli in evoking positive organismic responses and subsequent behavioural reactions. Such insights are crucial for AR app developers aiming to enhance user experience and engagement.

Beyond tourism, the S-O-R framework has been applied to other AR contexts, such as retail and education. AR applications enhance the retail shopping experience by providing interactive product information and virtual try-ons. Research by McLean and Wilson (2019) showed that AR stimuli could improve user engagement and satisfaction, although they also noted the potential for increased cognitive load, which can lead to user fatigue if not appropriately managed. AR has been used in educational settings to create immersive learning environments that enhance engagement and learning outcomes. Wu et al. (2017) demonstrated that AR applications could support cognitive apprenticeships in nursing training by providing context-aware, interactive experiences. Their study highlighted how AR stimuli could facilitate learning by making abstract concepts more concrete and engaging.

The S-O-R framework offers a robust theoretical foundation for examining user interactions in augmented reality environments. By understanding the relationship between AR stimuli, internal psychological states, and behavioural outcomes, designers and researchers can create more engaging and effective AR experiences. The continued application and evolution of the S-O-R model in AR will undoubtedly yield more profound insights into optimizing user interactions in this rapidly advancing field.

In this experimental study, we utilize the solid theoretical basis of the SOR framework to explore the effects of the interaction between the display luminance of the device presenting the AR content and the ambient luminance in the IILP (Stimuli) on perceived visual discomfort and legibility of the presented content (Organism). This interaction is hypothesized to influence individuals' affective states and learning task performance,

which in turn affect their intention to revisit, hedonic motivation, and perceived learning outcomes (Response).

### **3.2.** Hypothesis Development

#### 3.2.1. Proposed Research Model

The proposed research model shown in Figure 5 postulates that the luminance ratio between the surface luminance of the phone display and ambient luminance would influence the visual discomfort and legibility of the users. These mediating variables would influence the affective state and task performance of the users, in turn affecting their intention to revisit, hedonic motivation and perceived learning outcome. Each of these constructs and hypothesis are explained in detail in the following sections, organized into the sections Stimuli, Organism and Response according to the SOR framework.



Figure 5: Proposed Research Model

\* The directionality of H1 is not hypothesized

#### 3.2.2. Stimuli

**Luminance** is the brightness or intensity of light emitted or reflected from a surface, measured in candelas per square meter  $(cd/m^2)$  or nits. It quantifies the amount of light emitted or reflected per unit area in a specific direction (Schanda, 2007). For smartphone

augmented reality (AR) applications, phone luminance pertains to the screen's brightness, which is adjustable through smartphone settings (Rukzio et al., 2012).

**Illuminance**, on the other hand, refers to the amount of light that falls on a surface per unit area and is measured in lux (lx), where 1 lux equals 1 lumen per square meter (1 lumen/ $m^2$ ). It represents the intensity or brightness of the light that reaches a specific surface (Boyce, 2003).

When an AR application is active, the smartphone operates in a see-through mode, capturing the environment with its camera and displaying it on the screen with superimposed virtual elements. The screen's brightness shows the surroundings, adapting based on the camera's input, and hence, varying with the ambient luminance—the light coming from the surface the camera is pointing towards. Thus, the phone's luminance is influenced by both the screen settings and the ambient luminance. This ambient luminance also represents the ambient lighting conditions as it directly relates to ambient illuminance, as discussed in the literature review section.

Hence, in this scenario, **Luminance ratio** serves as a simplified construct that encompasses the interplay of the screen luminance of the smartphone and the ambient lighting conditions represented by ambient luminance. Thus, luminance ratio refers to the ratio between the screen luminance of the phone and the ambient luminance of the surface the user faces.

#### 3.2.3. Organism

**Visual fatigue** is described as a decrease in the performance of the human visual system due to physiological strain or stress resulting from excessive exertion (Lambooji et al.) Visual discomfort, on the other hand, refers to any subjective sensation or discomfort experienced by an individual due to visual factors. Lambooji et al. distinguished visual fatigue as the objective measurement of the reduction in visual performance and visual discomfort as its subjective counterpart. Hence, these constructs are correlated by definition. Since the experimental study can only have psychometric constructs due to the logistical limitations in a real-world setting, Visual discomfort is used to represent the psychometric nature, while references from the literature that use physiological measures of visual fatigue are still applicable as they are two sides of the same coin.

Previous studies on the inducement of visual discomfort or fatigue have been varied and inconclusive; where some studies found that lower ambient illuminance will lead to higher visual fatigue (Wang et al., 2010), other studies suggest that medium illuminance (e.g., 500 or 600 lx) is most beneficial for enhancing visual performance [Lin, 2014; Liu et al., 2017], while contrasting research indicates no significant improvement with ambient illuminance [Chen et al., 2016; Huang et al., 2017] and even a preference for low illuminance (200 lx) over high (700 lx) in terms of visual recognition performance [Chen & Lin, 2004; Zhou et al., 2021] Additionally, it has been noted that visual comfort remains stable at a comfortable illuminance threshold (Chinazzo et al., 2019), with high illuminance (e.g., 1000 lx) potentially causing dissatisfaction, discomfort, and increased visual fatigue [Zhang et al., 2020; Wolska & Switula, 1999]. These findings indicate that low to medium ambient illuminance levels could enhance visual comfort and minimize visual fatigue.

Similarly, some studies show that Objective Visual fatigue will increase as the screen luminance of the phone increases (Benedetto et al.) Studies have shown that higher screen luminance is associated with improved visual display quality and task performance by reducing image distortion and improving image quality [Lin & Huang, 2006; Buchner & Baumgartner, 2007] (Zhou et al., 2021, p. 2). However, a review of several studies has shown that prolonged exposure to high screen luminance may lead to increased visual fatigue (Rosenfield, 2011). The Screen-to-ambient Luminance Ratio, as explored by Yu and Akita, underscores that a larger disparity between ambient and surface luminance corresponds to higher rates of CFF (Critical Flicker Fusion) variation and heightened fatigue.

Considering all the inconclusive and varied results in previous literature as well as the unique and understudied nature of the precise topic, we hypothesize without any particular directionality that:

H1: Luminance ratios will have a significant effect on visual discomfort.

**Legibility**, as defined by the Merriam-Webster dictionary and cited by Yu and Akita (2020), refers to the capacity of presented text to be read or deciphered. This concept is pivotal in understanding how different visual settings impact the readability of digital content.

Previous research has explored the relationship between digital screens' luminance ratios and text legibility. Yu and Akita (2020) conducted a study highlighting that at an ambient luminance of 15 cd/m<sup>2</sup>, a tablet screen appeared dark at a luminance ratio of 1:1. When the luminance ratios were increased to 1:6 and 1:9, participants reported glare at both 15 cd/m<sup>2</sup> and 45 cd/m<sup>2</sup> ambient luminance levels. Furthermore, text readability was notably compromised at a luminance ratio of 1:9. Their findings suggest that optimal legibility is achieved within luminance ratio ranges of 1:1 to 1:6 for an ambient luminance of 15 cd/m<sup>2</sup>.

Other studies corroborate these findings. For example, Rea and Ouellette (1991) found that higher luminance contrast enhances visual performance, but excessive contrast can cause visual discomfort and glare, negatively affecting legibility. Similarly, Boyce (2003) noted that both very low and very high luminance ratios can impair readability, with optimal performance occurring at moderate contrast levels. Additionally, research by Buchner and Baumgartner (2007) supports that high luminance contrast can cause visual discomfort, emphasizing the need for balanced luminance conditions to maintain legibility.

Extremely low luminance ratios, where both the surface in front of the screen and the phone screen exhibit low luminance levels, can result in the screen appearing excessively dark, reducing legibility. Conversely, exceedingly high luminance ratios may induce glare, further hampering legibility. Both scenarios underscore the importance of maintaining an optimal luminance ratio to ensure text readability.

Our study investigates AR in interactive, immersive learning platforms (IILPs), which present unique conditions not fully addressed in the existing literature. Firstly, ambient illuminance levels in IILPs may vary more widely than those documented in previous studies, sometimes exceeding or falling below typical indoor lighting conditions. Secondly, the smartphone's see-through mode attempts to replicate the ambient illuminance and luminance of the surface directly in front of it, dynamically adjusting to the surrounding environment. This adaptability necessitates focusing on the luminance ratio rather than ambient illuminance or screen luminance alone.

Furthermore, it is more challenging to reach high luminance ratios as the display luminance adapts itself according to the ambient luminance, thus reducing the difference in luminance between the two and lowering the luminance ratio. Given the usual indoor settings of IILPs, reaching the high luminance ratio levels necessary for glare is also much more difficult. As such, a lower luminance ratio is a more relevant concern here that might affect the legibility of the presented content, while a higher luminance ratio should typically indicate better legibility. Considering all these factors, we hypothesize that:

H2: A greater luminance ratio positively affects legibility.

#### 3.2.4. Response

**Enjoyment** is conceptualized as a subjective state of pleasure, satisfaction, or happiness derived from engaging in activities that are pleasurable, meaningful, or fulfilling (Csikszentmihalyi, 1990). This state is associated with positive emotional responses such as contentment, joy, or delight, contributing to an individual's overall well-being (RM, 2001).

In contrast, **Annoyance** is a feeling of discomfort or irritation that arises from an unwanted or bothersome stimulus (Koelega, 1987). Environmental psychology literature often examines annoyance within negative contexts such as noise pollution, where it is described as an interference with feelings, thoughts, and daily activities, accompanied by stress-related symptoms and negative responses like exhaustion, displeasure, and anger (Zaman et al., 2022).

Interactions with novel media such as augmented reality (AR) and 3D content have the potential to heighten visitor enjoyment. However, they can also introduce elements of visual discomfort that may elevate annoyance levels (Zhadnov et al., 2019). This phenomenon has been observed in several studies on new media technologies. For

instance, Häkkinen et al. (2006) found that users of stereoscopic 3D displays often experience visual discomfort, which can reduce overall enjoyment and increase annoyance. Similarly, Gobba et al. (1988) highlighted that poor lighting conditions in digital displays can cause visual fatigue, leading to decreased user satisfaction.

Thus, enjoyment and annoyance are not mutually exclusive and may coexist, influencing the overall affective state of individuals (Bower, 1981). Affective state refers to any sentimental condition wherein one's feelings exert influence over their consciousness (N., Sam M.S., 2013). The concept of affective state, rooted in psychology, refers to the experience of feeling or emotion and has been extensively studied in various contexts, including human-computer interaction (Russell, 1980). It is typically represented by a lower affective state indicating negative sentimental conditions and a higher affective state indicating positive sentimental conditions.

Visual discomfort resulting from lighting conditions may significantly impact subjects' emotional reactions. Previous research indicates that adverse visual stimuli, such as those encountered in poorly designed AR experiences, can lead to negative emotional reactions, thereby decreasing the overall affective state (Gobba et al., 1988). They found that poor lighting conditions in visual display terminals can lead to visual fatigue and discomfort, impacting overall user satisfaction and emotional well-being. Similarly, Häkkinen et al. (2010) reported that visual discomfort from stereoscopic displays could lead to negative emotional responses, further supporting the negative association between visual discomfort and affective state. Moreover, research by Valtchanov et al. (2010) indicates that poorly designed visual environments can induce stress and discomfort, reducing overall enjoyment and increasing annoyance. Therefore, we hypothesize that:

#### H3: Visual discomfort is negatively associated with affective state.

Previous research has explored the relationship between content characteristics, including legibility, and emotional responses. Schreiner, Fischer, and Riedl (2019) conducted a comprehensive review of studies examining the impact of content characteristics on behavioural engagement in social media. Their findings suggest that arousing content,
which is typically more legible and clear, tends to increase engagement behaviour, indicating a potential mediating effect of emotional responses.

To further elucidate this relationship, Berlyne (1971) proposed that the arousal potential of stimuli is a crucial determinant of emotional response. According to Berlyne's theory of aesthetics and psychobiology, stimuli that are easily processed, such as legible text, are more likely to elicit positive emotional responses due to reduced cognitive load. This aligns with fluency theory, which posits that easily processed information is often perceived more favourably (Reber, Schwarz, & Winkielman, 2004). Research by Halberstadt and Rhodes (2003) supports this view by showing that stimuli that are easier to process are often perceived more positively.

Lidwell et al., (2010) provide further evidence by demonstrating that visual clarity and legibility significantly affect consumer emotions and attitudes. Their study found that clear and legible content enhances positive emotional responses, influencing overall attitudes towards the content. Similarly, Wang and Emurian (2005) highlighted that clear, well-organized text increases user satisfaction and positive affective responses, underscoring the importance of legibility in digital content. Shaikh (2005) also indicates that typography affects readability and user experience, leading to more positive emotional responses and greater satisfaction.

Additionally, Piepenbrock, Mayr, and Buchner (2013) demonstrated that positive display polarity, which improves legibility, benefits both younger and older adults regarding cognitive and emotional processing. This supports the notion that legibility can enhance affective states across different age groups. Drawing on these insights, we hypothesize that

H4: legibility is positively associated with affective state.

Visual discomfort, manifesting as visual fatigue, can significantly impair learning **task performance**. Research by Mizuno et al. (2021) demonstrated that low visual information-processing speed and attention are predictors of fatigue, affecting learning

task performance. Similarly, van Bommel (2019) discussed how visual performance for tasks of varying difficulty is influenced by lighting conditions, which can affect task efficiency. Aul et al. (2023) highlighted the functional relevance of visuospatial processing speed across the lifespan, noting its critical role in everyday tasks and its decline with age.

Visual discomfort not only impacts performance but also the perception of task difficulty and time. For instance, Han, Shin, and Jeong (2016) found that increased visual discomfort from screen glare and poor ergonomics can lead to longer task completion times and the perception that tasks are more time-consuming. Additionally, Wickens et al. (2015) suggest that visual discomfort can deplete cognitive resources necessary for efficient task execution, leading to decreased actual and perceived performance.

Benedetto et al. (2013) found that visual discomfort from digital screens can significantly reduce reading comprehension and speed. Similarly, Sheedy, Hayes, and Engle (2003) demonstrated that visual discomfort from screen flicker and poor contrast can lead to increased errors and slower performance in computer-based tasks. These findings suggest that the adverse effects of visual discomfort extend to various types of tasks and settings, further highlighting its impact on both objective and subjective performance metrics.

Moreover, the implications of visual discomfort are particularly pertinent in the context of augmented reality (AR) and virtual reality (VR) environments. According to LaViola (2000), prolonged use of AR and VR systems can cause significant visual discomfort and fatigue, affecting user performance and overall experience. This is further reflected by research from Mittelstaedt et al. (2019), who found that visual fatigue from VR headsets can lead to decreased cognitive function and slower reaction times.

It can be inferred that visual discomfort depletes cognitive resources necessary for task execution, leading to decreased actual and perceived performance. Additionally, discomfort may cause individuals to take longer to complete tasks and perceive that more

time has elapsed, indicating reduced task efficiency. Based on these findings, we propose the following hypotheses:

H5a: Visual discomfort is negatively associated with actual task performance.

H5b: Visual discomfort is negatively associated with perceived task performance.

H5c: Visual discomfort is positively associated with task time.

H5d: Visual discomfort is positively associated with perceived task time.

The scientific literature underscores a robust correlation between task performance and legibility. Clear legibility not only bolsters readability but also expedites and refines information processing, which in turn enhances comprehension and task completion efficiency (Gabbard, Swan, & Hix, 2006). This relationship is corroborated by empirical observations, where tasks are performed more effectively when information is legible and comprehensible (Weintraub, 2023).

Further supporting this relationship, Bernard et al. b(2003) demonstrated that users read and comprehend text faster when presented in a legible format, leading to better task performance. Similarly, Shaikh (2005) found that font type and size significantly impact readability and task efficiency, highlighting the importance of typographic choices in enhancing legibility. Moreover, research by Larson and Picard (2005) indicates that legibility directly affects user engagement and satisfaction, which are crucial for maintaining high task performance.

Studies also show that legibility impacts perceived task performance and time. For instance, Ling and van Schaik (2002) observed that participants reported higher satisfaction and perceived efficiency when interacting with well-designed, legible text. This is consistent with findings by Hartley (2004), who reported that clear and legible text can reduce perceived cognitive load, thereby making tasks seem less time-consuming.

In the context of digital interfaces, Rello and Baeza-Yates (2013) highlighted the importance of legibility for users with dyslexia, showing that legible fonts significantly improve reading speed and comprehension for this population. Furthermore, research by

Ghafourian et al., (2005) found that the readability of website content significantly influences user engagement and behaviour, supporting the notion that legibility can enhance both actual and perceived task performance in online environments.

It is thus clear that legibility facilitates cognitive processing, thereby positively influencing both the actual and perceived efficiency of task performance. Moreover, legible content will likely reduce the time required to complete tasks and the perceived duration of task engagement, reflecting a streamlined cognitive workload (Dobres, Wolfe, & Chahine, 2018). Based on these principles and findings, we posit the following hypotheses:

**H6a:** Legibility is positively associated with actual task performance.

**H6b:** Legibility is positively associated with perceived task performance.

H6c: Legibility is negatively associated with task time.

**H6d:** Legibility is negatively associated with perceived task time.

Affective state, in turn, may significantly influence task performance. There is robust theoretical support in experimental social psychology to suggest that positive moods can enhance memory and cognitive tasks such as problem-solving (Fredrickson, 1998; Isen, 1987; Pe et al., 2008). Additionally, research by Hawes et al. (2013) found that changes in mood predicted performance on cognitive tasks, with individuals exhibiting reduced depression ratings in a given condition also demonstrating faster reaction times.

Further supporting this relationship, research by Lyubomirsky, King, and Diener (2005) conducted a meta-analysis demonstrating that positive affect is linked to various favourable outcomes in life, including higher levels of cognitive performance. Ashby, Isen, and Turken (1999) proposed that positive affect promotes cognitive flexibility, which enhances problem-solving abilities and creativity. Similarly, Estrada, Isen, and Young (1994) showed that physicians in a positive mood were more efficient and accurate in their diagnoses, emphasizing the practical implications of affective states on task performance.

Empirical studies have also documented the impact of affective states on perceived task performance and time. For instance, research by Kuhl (1986) indicates that positive moods can reduce the perceived effort required for a task, thereby enhancing subjective task performance and efficiency. This is corroborated by findings from Forgas (2000), who demonstrated that mood influences cognitive processing styles, with positive moods fostering a more global processing approach that can improve perceived task performance.

In educational psychology, Pekrun et al. (2002) found that students' affective states significantly influenced their academic achievement, suggesting that positive emotions can enhance both actual and perceived performance. Moreover, research by Beal et al. (2005) highlights that positive affect can reduce perceived task difficulty and time, aligning with the notion that a good mood can make tasks seem easier and quicker to complete.

It can be concluded that positive affective states facilitate cognitive processes, thereby improving both actual and perceived task performance and reducing the time required to complete tasks. Positive moods are likely to lower the perceived duration of task engagement, reflecting a more efficient and enjoyable task experience. Given these findings and theoretical underpinnings, we posit the following hypotheses:

H7a: Affective state is positively associated with actual task performance.

**H7b:** Affective state is positively associated with perceived task performance.

H7c: Affective state is negatively associated with task time.

H7d: Affective state is negatively associated with perceived task time.

**Intention to revisit** refers to an individual's readiness or willingness to make a repeat visit to the same destination (Tosun et al., 2015). The relationship between enjoyment and the intention to revisit in hedonic contexts, such as tourism or leisure activities, is well-documented in the scientific literature. Enjoyment, as a positive emotion experienced during an activity, can significantly influence a person's desire to relive that experience.

Several key findings support this relationship. For instance, research by Lee & Qu (2020) discovered that satisfaction, a construct closely related to enjoyment, significantly affects visitors' intention to revisit. Similarly, Pakhalov et al. (2021) confirmed a positive relationship between positive emotions and intention to revisit. These findings align with the theory of planned behaviour (Ajzen, 1991), which posits that positive attitudes towards a behaviour significantly enhance the intention to perform that behaviour.

Moreover, empirical studies emphasize the role of emotional experiences in shaping revisit intentions. For example, a study by Baker and Crompton (2000) found that positive emotional responses during a leisure activity strongly predict tourists' intentions to return. This is corroborated by Lee, Kyle, and Scott (2012), who demonstrated that emotional attachment to a destination fosters repeat visitation.

The link between enjoyment and revisit intention is also supported by the concept of flow, described by Csikszentmihalyi (1990) as a state of optimal experience and deep engagement in an activity. Flow experiences, characterized by high levels of enjoyment and satisfaction, have been shown to significantly enhance the desire to revisit the activity or destination (Chen et al., 2016).

Additionally, Chiu et al. (2014) identified that the enjoyment derived from social interactions during an activity positively influences the intention to revisit. Their study on theme park visitors highlighted that social enjoyment and the overall pleasantness of the experience were crucial determinants of repeat visits. This is further supported by findings from Wu and Li (2017), who found that the overall enjoyment of an experience, including aspects of novelty and excitement, significantly predicts revisit intentions in tourism contexts.

Further empirical support comes from a study by Yoon and Uysal (2005), which showed that tourist satisfaction, heavily influenced by positive emotional experiences during the trip, directly impacts the intention to revisit. Similarly, Prayag and Ryan (2012) demonstrated that tourists' positive emotional responses to a destination's atmosphere and activities significantly increased their likelihood of return.

In a more specific context, Hosany and Prayag (2013) found that tourists' emotional experiences, particularly joy and love, were significant predictors of their intention to revisit. This finding underscores the importance of creating emotionally engaging experiences to encourage repeat visits. Positive affective states, including enjoyment and satisfaction, enhance the intention to relive an experience by reducing perceived effort and increasing the overall desirability of the activity. Given these insights and established relationships, we hypothesize that:

H8: Participants' intention to revisit is positively associated with their affective state.

**Hedonic motivation** in the context of technology is defined as the fun or pleasure derived from technology use (Venkatesh et al., 2012). This concept is particularly relevant in understanding user engagement and satisfaction with technological interfaces and applications.

Several theoretical models in psychology and technology adoption emphasize the importance of the affective state in influencing hedonic motivation. The Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT2) by Venkatesh et al. (2012) incorporates hedonic motivation as a critical predictor of technology use, highlighting the role of emotional factors in driving user behaviour. According to Venkatesh et al., users are more likely to engage with and continue using technology that provides pleasurable experiences.

Empirical studies also support the positive relationship between affective state and hedonic motivation. For instance, research by Kim & Kim (2020) demonstrated that positive emotions significantly enhance users' enjoyment and motivation to engage with mobile applications. Their findings suggest that when users experience positive affective states, their intrinsic motivation to use technology for pleasure increases.

Similarly, Lin and Bhattacherjee (2010) found that users' positive affective responses to online gaming environments were strongly correlated with their hedonic motivation. Their study indicates that emotional satisfaction derived from gaming experiences significantly boosts users' engagement and willingness to continue using the platform.

A study by Deng and Yu (2023) found that users' hedonic motivations significantly influenced their flow experiences and continued use intentions of social media platforms like TikTok. This study highlighted that positive emotions, such as joy, were crucial predictors of users' motivation to engage with the platform. Another study by Zhang et al., (2020) explored the role of perceived enjoyment in users' mobile engagement, concluding that positive emotional states such as joy significantly impacted users' engagement and overall satisfaction. This suggests that emotional enjoyment directly influences users' motivation to engage with and derive pleasure from social media.

In the educational technology domain, research by Stephan et al., (2019) investigated students' emotions in online learning and found that positive emotions significantly contribute to engagement and motivation in technology-mediated learning environments. Their study supports the notion that emotionally engaging content can enhance students' intrinsic motivation. Another study by Espino et al., (2021) explored how positive emotions during learning activities, including e-learning, are linked to better academic outcomes and higher motivation.

Additionally, studies on consumer behaviour, such as those by Driediger and Bhatiasevi (2019), indicate that positive affective states experienced during online shopping significantly increase consumers' hedonic motivation. Their findings suggest that enjoyable shopping experiences lead to higher levels of user satisfaction and repeat purchase intentions.

These empirical findings align with established psychological theories, such as the broaden-and-build theory of positive emotions proposed by Fredrickson (2001). This theory posits that positive emotions expand individuals' thought-action repertoires, enhancing their intrinsic motivation to engage in pleasurable activities. Given these theoretical foundations and empirical evidence, we hypothesize that:

H9: Participants' hedonic motivation is positively associated with their affective state.

The concept of **perceived learning outcome**, as defined by Alavi, Marakas, and Yoo (2002), encompasses the changes in the learner's perceptions of their skill and knowledge

levels before and after the learning experience. This perception is crucial as it reflects the individual's subjective assessment of their learning progress and understanding. Perceived learning outcome is vital in educational research, providing insight into how learners internalize and reflect on their educational experiences (Alavi, Marakas, & Yoo, 2002).

Task performance is often considered a direct indicator of a participant's learning outcome. In educational psychology, it is widely accepted that task performance serves as a tangible measure of the extent to which knowledge and skills have been acquired and retained through the learning process (Schunk, 1991; Bandura, 1997). The relationship between perceived learning outcomes and task performance has been extensively studied, showing that individuals who perceive themselves as having learned effectively tend to perform better on related tasks (Zimmerman, 2000; Pajares, 1996). This is because their self-assessment aligns with their actual capability to execute learned tasks.

Moreover, cognitive theories, such as those proposed by Anderson (1982), suggest that learning outcomes are directly tied to the cognitive processes involved in task execution. As individuals gain more knowledge and skills, their cognitive structures become more efficient, leading to better task performance. Empirical studies support this, indicating that perceived learning outcomes strongly predict actual task performance (Pintrich, 2003).

Research suggests that individuals who believe they have learned effectively are more likely to demonstrate higher performance levels (Pintrich & De Groot, 1990; Schunk, 1984). This positive association is underpinned by self-efficacy theory, which posits that confidence in one's learning enhances performance (Bandura, 1986). Additionally, studies by Sitzmann et al. (2010) have shown that learners' perceptions of their knowledge and skills significantly correlate with their perceived performance. Cognitive load theory supports this notion, suggesting that well-learned skills require less cognitive effort, thereby reducing task time (Sweller, 1988). Research by Ericsson, Krampe, and Tesch-Römer (1993) indicates that learners who perceive higher learning outcomes are expected to complete tasks more efficiently due to their enhanced understanding and skills. Furthermore, those who feel they have learned well also perceive that they can perform tasks more quickly, reflecting their confidence in their abilities (Sitzmann, Ely, Brown, &

Bauer, 2010). Artino (2012) found that perceived efficiency in task completion is often linked to higher perceived learning outcomes.

Given these intricate relationships, we hypothesize the following:

**H10a:** Participants' perceived learning outcome is positively associated with their actual task performance.

**H10b:** Participants' perceived learning outcome is positively associated with their perceived task performance.

**H10c:** Participants' perceived learning outcome is negatively associated with their task time.

H10d: Participants' perceived learning outcome is negatively associated with their perceived task time.

In summary, the hypotheses discussed in this chapter are visually represented in the research model illustrated in Figure 5 above. This model encapsulates the constructs and relationships central to our investigation of the effects of visual factors while using smartphone AR in informal learning settings. The subsequent chapter will delve into the experimental design and methodologies employed to test these hypotheses, providing a comprehensive overview of the procedures and analytical techniques utilized in this research.

# **Chapter 4 Experimental Design and Methods**

## **4.1. Introduction**

In this chapter, we present a detailed account of the methodological framework utilized in our study, which aimed to investigate the impact of screen and ambient luminance on various factors, including visual discomfort, legibility, affective state, task performance, intention to revisit, hedonic motivation, and perceived learning outcome while interacting with smartphone AR in Informal Institutional Learning Places (IILPs) within the realworld setting of an insectarium, which is a form of a science museum. We employed a two-factor within-subject experimental design to systematically manipulate the screen and ambient luminance and observe their effects on various aspects of the visitors' experience. This chapter provides insights into the sample characteristics, experimental design, materials and measures, augmented reality (AR) stimuli, experimental setup, and statistical analysis techniques employed. By offering a thorough explanation of our methodology, we ensure the transparency and reproducibility of our study, thereby contributing to the validation of our findings.

## 4.2. Sample

Twenty-eight healthy participants (twelve females; sixteen males; zero non-binaries), aged between 18 to 45 years (M = 23.67 years, SD = 3.43) were recruited for this study. Participants were drawn from the general population through various recruitment channels, including word-of-mouth, social media, and Panelfox, the university student participant panel. Inclusion criteria stipulated that participants must be at least 18 years old, possess normal or corrected-to-normal vision, and have proficiency in the French language, as the official language and primary demographic of the region is French-speaking, and hence, the experiment was designed in French to cater to the majority. Exclusion criteria included a history of neurological or psychiatric disorders, facial paralysis, or refusal to provide informed written consent. The study was conducted at an insectarium, a type of science museum in a major North American city, with each

experimental session lasting approximately 50 minutes. All participants provided written informed consent and received \$50 as compensation for their participation. Ethical approval was obtained from the institution's Research Ethics Board (Project #: 2023-5269), and participants were informed of their right to withdraw from the experiment at any time while retaining their compensation.

## **4.3. Experimental Design**

A two-factor within-subject experimental design was employed to manipulate Screen Luminance and Ambient Luminance, resulting in a 2 x 2 design (Low Screen Luminance vs. High Screen Luminance; Low Ambient Luminance vs. High Ambient Luminance). Each participant was randomly exposed to all four conditions to control for order effects.

Each of the four experimental blocks involved the participants interacting with two augmented reality (AR) stimuli sequentially. After interacting with an AR stimulus for a maximum of 5 minutes, they were presented with eight quiz questions, during which they could still interact with the AR stimuli. Each block consisted of two such AR stimuli and quizzes. At the end of each block, participants completed a post-task survey to provide feedback on their experience. After completing the survey, there was a 1-minute rest period during which participants were instructed to keep their eyes closed to mitigate any potential carryover effects of visual discomfort or fatigue before proceeding to the following experimental block. The duration of 5 minutes per stimulus and the 1-minute rest intervals were determined through rigorous pre-testing to ensure feasibility while minimizing carryover effects.

The experiments were conducted in an insectarium that remained open to visitors, which imposed limitations on the manipulation of ambient lighting conditions. Direct control over the lighting was not possible due to restrictions set by the insectarium authorities. Instead, two distinct areas within the insectarium with relatively darker and brighter ambient lighting were identified, and their luminance levels were measured. This decision also helped maintain the naturalistic conditions for the participants within the insectarium. Screen luminance was manually adjusted to low (20%) and high (100%), with the autobrightness feature disabled to ensure consistent and accurate luminance settings. These levels were selected to represent typical variations in smartphone screen brightness encountered during everyday use. The luminance values of the smartphone screen were measured to confirm the settings. This manual adjustment ensured that the screen luminance conditions were reliably maintained across the experimental blocks for all participants.

# 4.4. Experimental Blocks

Table 2 provided below summarizes the screen luminance and ambient luminance conditions and measured luminance values for each experimental block.

| Block | Screen luminance<br>condition  | Ambient luminance<br>condition                    | Ratio value<br>(Screen luminance /<br>Ambient luminance) |
|-------|--|---|--|
| 1.    | Low<br>Brightness set: 20%<br>Observed value: 4.331x<br>(1.38 cd/m2)     | High<br>Observed value:<br>132.07lx (42.06 cd/m2) | 0.03   |
| 2.    | High<br>Brightness set: 100%<br>Observed value:<br>146.9lx (46.78 cd/m2) | High<br>Observed value:<br>132.07lx (42.06 cd/m2) | 1.11   |
| 3.    | Low  | Low   | 0.23   |

 Table 2: Experimental Blocks and Conditions

|    | Brightness set: 20%   | Observed value: 8.581x                       |      |
|----|---|--|------|
|    | Observed value: 1.951x<br>(0.62 cd/m2)                          | (2.73 cd/m2)                                 |      |
|    | High  |  |      |
| 4. | Brightness set: 100%<br>Observed value: 68.91x<br>(21.94 cd/m2) | Low<br>Observed value: 8.58lx<br>(2.73 cd/m2 | 8.03 |

## 4.5. Materials and Measures

The study employed an exclusively psychometric approach due to technological and logistical constraints in an out-of-lab experimental setting of an insectarium. Consequently, the hardware consisted of a smartphone, an AR marker (printed QR code on a tripod stand), and an iPad tablet. The QR code size was standardized at 10x10 cm, adhering to industry standards for AR markers, and the tripod stand's height was adjustable between 5 and 6 feet to accommodate variations in participants' heights. The software comprised an AR application, quizzes based on displayed content, and questionnaires. While the AR application and questionnaires were delivered in English, the briefing, instructions, and interviews were conducted in French to accommodate the majority of the participants.

All surveys were administered in French using the Qualtrics experience management (XM) online software and were deployed on an iPad tablet's browser web page. The study comprised a pre-experiment survey, quiz questions for each block, and a post-task survey after each block.

The pre-experiment survey assessed participants' basic demographics (i.e., age, gender, education level, occupation, marital status, nationality, ethnicity) and their suitability for the experiment (e.g., vision, allergies). During the experiments, participants answered

eight quiz questions for each AR stimulus presented, totaling 2 AR stimuli per block. After completing each block, participants answered a short survey to assess various constructs, including visual discomfort, perceived learning outcome, affective state, hedonic motivation, legibility, intention to revisit, perceived task performance, and perceived task time. This post-block survey was completed four times, once after each condition block.

Table 3 outlines the various constructs assessed during the experiment, their respective assessment methods, and timing of administration. The Questionnaire items are translated to English for the thesis. The original Assessment items are presented in French and provided in Appendix B.

| Construct            | Assessment  | Questionnaire items  | Timing                  |
|----------------------|---|--|-------------------------|
| Visual<br>Discomfort | 7-point Likert scale<br>with self-report items<br>from the Visual Fatigue<br>Subjective Assessment<br>Scale (Heuer et al.,<br>1989) | Based on the tasks you have<br>just completed, please assess<br>your level of visual discomfort:<br>1. I have trouble seeing (Totally<br>agree / Totally disagree)<br>2. I feel an unusual sensation<br>around my eyes. (Totally agree<br>/ Totally disagree)<br>3. I experience eye fatigue.<br>(Totally agree / Totally<br>disagree)<br>4. I'm feeling numb. (Totally<br>agree / Totally disagree) | end of<br>each<br>block |
|                      |   |  |                         |

Table 3: Assessment of Constructs

|            |  | <ul> <li>5. I have a headache. (Totally agree / Totally disagree)</li> <li>6. I feel dizzy looking at the screen. (Totally agree / Totally disagree)</li> </ul>  |                         |
|------------|--|--|-------------------------|
| Legibility | 6 bipolar items from<br>Yu and Akita assessed<br>on a 9 point scale.       | <ol> <li>The phone screen is (Hard to<br/>see/Easy to see)</li> <li>The text is (Difficult to read /<br/>Easy to read)</li> <li>It's easy to (lose focus / Stay<br/>focused)</li> <li>There were reflections on the<br/>screen (Totally disagree /<br/>Totally agree)</li> <li>The phone screen is (Dark /<br/>Bright)</li> <li>The lighting in the room is<br/>(Dark / Bright)</li> </ol> | end of<br>each<br>block |
| Annoyance  | 100-point Annoyance<br>scale by Pawlaczyk-<br>Łuszczyńska et al.<br>(2005) | Move the slider to indicate your<br>level of discomfort when<br>interacting with the augmented<br>reality application. (Scale from<br>Not annoyed to Very annoyed)   | end of<br>each<br>block |

|             |                         | Move the slider to indicate your  |        |
|-------------|-------------------------|-----------------------------------|--------|
|             |                         | level of pleasure as you interact |        |
|             | Affective slider by     | with the augmented reality        | end of |
| Enjoyment   | Betella & Verschure     | application. The further you      | each   |
|             | (2016)                  | move the slider to the right, the | block  |
|             |                         | greater the intensity of the      |        |
|             |                         | emotion felt.                     |        |
|             |                         |                                   |        |
|             | Actual Task             | Measured / calculated value       |        |
|             | Performance: Accuracy   |                                   | during |
|             | of responses per block  |                                   | each   |
|             | (average number of      |                                   | block  |
|             | correct answers from 0- |                                   | OIOCK  |
|             | 8).                     |                                   |        |
|             | D 1 1 7 1               |                                   |        |
|             | Perceived Task          | Based on the 8 last questions,    |        |
|             | Performance: Perceived  | how many questions do you         | end of |
|             | accuracy of responses   | think you have the right answer   | each   |
| Task        | per block (number of    | to? (0-8)                         | block  |
| Performance | correct answers from 0- |                                   | olock  |
|             | 8).                     |                                   |        |
|             | Perceived Time          | With reference to the previous ?  |        |
|             | Participants' persoived | inspets plage rate your           | and of |
|             | rancipants perceived    | nisects, please fate your         |        |
|             | time taken to complete  | perception of the time elapsed    | each   |
|             | each block (0-100       | during the tasks. (Very slow –    | block  |
|             | Slider).                | Very fast)                        |        |
|             | Task Time: Average      | Measured / calculated value       | during |
|             | time taken to complete  |                                   | each   |
|             |                         |                                   | block  |
|             | a quiz consisting of 8  |                                   |        |

|                         | questions per block (in  |  |                              |
|-------------------------|--|--|------------------------------|
|                         | seconds).  |  |                              |
| Intention to<br>Revisit | 7-point Likert scale<br>with self-report items<br>on selected questions<br>from Bonn et al.,   | <ul> <li>Please indicate to what extent<br/>you agree with the following<br/>statements:</li> <li>1. I will visit this establishment<br/>again. (Very Unlikely – Very<br/>likely)</li> <li>2. If I had the chance, I would<br/>choose to return to this<br/>establishment. (Very Unlikely –<br/>Very likely)</li> </ul>  | end of<br>the first<br>block |
| Hedonic<br>Motivation   | 7-point Likert scale<br>with self-report items<br>on selected questions<br>from the Hedonic<br>Motivation<br>questionnaire by Shen<br>et al. | <ul> <li>Based on your experience with<br/>Augmented Reality (AR),<br/>please assess your preferences.</li> <li>1. Using the AR application is<br/>fun. (Not at all / Completely)</li> <li>2. It's great to be able to use the<br/>AR application to learn. (Not at<br/>all / Completely)</li> <li>3. Using the AR app to learn is<br/>fun. (Not at all / Completely)</li> </ul> | end of<br>each<br>block      |
| Perceived               | 7-point Likert scale on  | Based on your experience with  | end of                       |
| Learning                | selected questions from  | augmented reality (AR), please   | each                         |
| Outcome                 | Pallud et al   | rate your experience   | block                        |
|                         |  |  | OTOCK                        |
|                         |  |  |                              |

|  | 1. Using the augmented reality    |  |
|--|-----------------------------------|--|
|  | application helped me to          |  |
|  | identify the main characteristics |  |
|  | of the insects. (Not at all /     |  |
|  | Completely)                       |  |
|  |                                   |  |
|  | 2. The augmented reality app      |  |
|  | helped me better understand       |  |
|  | insect color, shapes, habitats    |  |
|  | and prey. (Not at all /           |  |
|  | Completely)                       |  |
|  |                                   |  |
|  | 3. The augmented reality          |  |
|  | application enabled me to         |  |
|  | deepen my knowledge of            |  |
|  | insects. (Not at all /            |  |
|  | Completely)                       |  |
|  |                                   |  |

## 4.5.1. Operationalization of Measures

Some of the constructs needed operationalization in order to align with the research model. They were calculated as described below.

Luminance Ratio: The luminance ratio acts as a simplified construct that captures the interaction between the surface luminance of a smartphone display and the ambient lighting conditions, represented by ambient luminance. It is operationalized using the following formula:

Luminance Ratio = Screen Luminance / Ambient Luminance

Affective state: Affective state refers to the experience of feeling or emotion. A lower affective state indicates negative sentimental conditions and higher otherwise. In this

study, two different constructs, Enjoyment and Annoyance were measured, and the Affective state was derived using the formula:

Affective State (Aff State) = (Enjoyment + 101 - Annoyance)/2

**Task Performance:** The construct Task performance represents the four constructs, Actual Task Performance, Perceived Task Performance, Task Time and Perceived Task Time. Since they refer to different aspects of their actual and perceived performance in the learning activity, they are grouped together in a single construct. However, the four constructs are hypothesized and tested individually.

# 4.6. AR Stimuli

The AR stimuli (Figure 6) was developed for this experiment by the author using Unity Game Engine Software (Version 2021.3.20f1) and was presented to participants on an Android smartphone (Google Pixel 7). A marker-based approach was utilized, whereby scanning a corresponding QR code triggered the display of a 3D model and a textual description of an insect below it in French. A total of 16 QR codes were integrated into the application. The production environment of the AR stimuli is visualized in Appendix C.

The acquired 3D models were meticulously crafted true-to-life representations of real insects developed using the Photogrammetry technique by Yuichi Kano (2022). Given that the experiment was conducted at an insectarium, the selection of insects aimed to maintain a natural visitor experience within the experimental setting.



## Figure 6: The AR stimuli

The dimensions of the QR code were standardized at 10 cm x 10 cm, aligning with industry standards for AR markers, particularly considering the low light conditions prevalent in the environment. Participants were encouraged to move around freely but were expected to maintain a distance of approximately 1-2 meters from the QR code. The QR codes were placed on a tripod stand and its height was adjustable to accommodate the different heights of the participants.

Upon scanning, the 3D models and accompanying texts were positioned 1 meter away from the screen in 3D space, with their sizes adjusted accordingly to ensure easy visibility from the given distance. These adjustments were verified through multiple pre-tests to optimize the viewing experience, accounting for factors such as screen size and participant proximity.

# 4.7. Experimental Setup and Procedure

4.7.1. Setup

The experiments took place in an Insectarium, open to regular visitors during the experiments. However, the participants had access to a private room for initial briefing, final debriefing and signing the forms. Two predetermined locations, one relatively dark and one relatively bright were selected inside the insectarium as shown in Figure 7.



*Figure 7: Location with bright ambient luminance (Left) and dark ambient luminance (Right)* 

## 4.7.2. Lighting Pre-tests

Prior to the main study, we conducted lighting pretests to precisely measure the luminance of both the mobile AR device display and the surrounding environment at designated locations within the IILP. Using a (URCERI MT-912) light meter (Figure 8), we captured display surface luminance by fixing the mobile phone to a tripod with the AR application activated (Figure 9) and taking five measurements: one at each corner of the screen and one at the center, with the light meter held 1 cm in front of the screen. To measure ambient luminance or the luminance of the surface the mobile device was directly facing, we took four readings with the light meter touching each corner of the phone screen but remaining outside the device's bounds to avoid interference, as illustrated in Figure 10. The light meter was pointed in the same direction as the mobile device to capture the luminance of the target surface. As the light meter provided measurements in the units for illuminance (lux) rather than for luminance (nits or cd/m2), we converted the lux values to nits by dividing them by  $\pi$  (pi), assuming an even diffusion of light across the surfaces for the sake of simplicity. This conversion factor accounts for the geometric difference between spherical and flat surface area measurements used for luminance and illuminance, respectively (Friedman, 2024; DisplayCAL, 2023). These pretests and the subsequent conversion allowed us to calculate the luminance ratio between the AR device display and the surrounding environment at each designated location.



Figure 8: Light meter used for luminance measurements



Figure 9: Setup for luminance measurements



Figure 10: Measurement points for screen and ambient luminance

#### 4.7.3. Procedure

After arriving and completing the initial briefing and signing the consent form in a private room, the participants were accompanied by a research assistant to the insectarium and tasked with positioning themselves at predetermined locations for each block, determined based on the ambient luminance present there. Here, they were provided with a smartphone and asked to scan a QR code held on a tripod placed there. Scanning the QR code activated the display of a 3D model of an insect, accompanied by a brief description. Participants were allowed to select their viewing angle and position for comfort and were free to move as needed throughout the experiment to maintain naturalistic conditions.

After the maximum allowed 5 minutes to interact with the 3D model and read the accompanying text per insect or upon indicating readiness, participants were presented with a set of 8 quiz questions related to the observed insect on an iPad tablet. The participants could still look at the 3D model and textual description while answering the quiz. Two insects and corresponding quizzes were presented per block, with the order of the blocks and the QR codes presented randomized, as shown in Table 4. to minimize biases. Following each block, participants completed a brief survey on the iPad tablet before closing their eyes and resting for one minute in preparation to move to the subsequent block. The smartphone brightness was changed during this time to adjust its luminance condition for the following block. After completing all four experimental blocks and accompanying surveys, the participants moved to the private room where they were debriefed about the experiment and their experience and provided with the compensation form to read and sign carefully. Once finished, they were escorted back to the exit and their compensation was electronically transferred within a week. The complete experimental procedure is illustrated in Figure 11.

| Participant id | Participant id Block id |      | QR code sequence |  |  |
|----------------|-------------------------|------|------------------|--|--|
| 1              | А                       | 1234 | 37/52/81/64      |  |  |
| 2              | В                       | 2134 | 42/76/13/85      |  |  |

Table 4: Block and QR code randomization sequence

| 3  | С | 1243 | 61/84/27/35 |
|----|---|------|-------------|
| 4  | D | 2143 | 58/13/72/46 |
| 5  | Е | 3412 | 25/68/14/73 |
| 6  | F | 4312 | 73/45/61/28 |
| 7  | G | 3421 | 16/27/45/83 |
| 8  | Н | 4321 | 84/31/56/27 |
| 9  | Ι | 1234 | 67/18/32/45 |
| 10 | J | 2134 | 35/41/76/28 |
| 11 | K | 1243 | 28/63/57/41 |
| 12 | L | 2143 | 43/57/82/16 |
| 13 | М | 3412 | 71/86/43/52 |
| 14 | Ν | 4312 | 52/74/68/31 |
| 15 | О | 4321 | 14/25/38/67 |
| 16 | Р | 3421 | 86/32/15/74 |
| 17 | Q | 1234 | 47/18/62/35 |
| 18 | R | 2134 | 38/61/57/24 |
| 19 | S | 1243 | 62/43/75/18 |
| 20 | Т | 2143 | 21/85/74/63 |
| 21 | U | 3412 | 74/56/21/83 |
| 22 | V | 4312 | 13/72/46/85 |
| 23 | W | 3421 | 56/34/81/72 |
| 24 | Х | 4321 | 85/27/36/14 |

| 25 | Y  | 1234 | 26/83/14/75           |
|----|----|------|-----------------------|
| 26 | Z  | 2134 | 8 1 / 4 5 / 3 7 / 6 2 |
| 27 | AA | 1243 | 57/38/14/26           |
| 28 | AB | 2143 | 74/82/65/31           |
| 29 | AC | 3412 | 12/34/56/78           |



Figure 11: Experimental Procedure

### 4.7.4. Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were conducted using SAS OnDemand for Academics (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA), a comprehensive online statistical software suite. Psychometric data collected through Qualtrics were meticulously exported and organized in Microsoft Excel for initial aggregation and reordering. This preprocessing ensured the data were correctly formatted and ready for subsequent analysis in SAS.

Given the nature of our data, several preprocessing steps were necessary. Data were exported from Qualtrics and imported into Excel, where they were cleaned and aggregated. This step involved checking for and handling missing values and outliers and ensuring the consistency and accuracy of the data entries. A Binary Median Split transformation was applied for heavily skewed data, particularly those measuring visual discomfort, affective state, and specific aspects of task performance. This transformation converted continuous variables into binary categorical variables based on the median value, allowing for more robust analysis through logistic regression.

Two primary statistical models were employed to analyze the data, each chosen based on the distribution and nature of the dependent variables. The logistic regression with random intercept model was applied to datasets where the dependent variables were binary due to the Binary Median Split transformation. This model assessed the impact of various independent variables on the likelihood of a particular outcome. The random intercept component accounted for potential variability between subjects that could influence the dependent variable, thus providing more accurate and generalizable results. The threshold for statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

The linear regression with random intercept model was used for datasets with continuous and normally distributed dependent variables. This model evaluated the relationship between independent variables and the dependent continuous outcomes. The random intercept allowed for subject-level variations, enhancing the model's robustness in handling repeated measures or clustered data. As with logistic regression, the threshold for significance was p < 0.05.

The alpha level for determining statistical significance was set at 0.05, meaning that results with p-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant, indicating a less than 5% probability that the observed effects were due to chance. For both logistic and linear regression models, the significance of predictors was assessed by examining the p-values associated with each predictor variable. Significant predictors were those

with p-values below the 0.05 threshold, suggesting a meaningful relationship between the predictor and the dependent variable.

# Chapter 5 Results

# 5.1. Introduction

This chapter presents the results of the study, starting with the descriptive statistics and correlation analysis followed by hypothesis testing. Each section details the analysis performed, the statistical methods used, and the outcomes in relation to the proposed hypotheses, with a detailed examination of whether each hypothesis was supported or rejected.

# 5.2. Descriptive Statistics and Correlation analysis

## 5.2.1. Descriptive Statistics

The study examined various variables across four experimental conditions, manipulating screen luminance and ambient luminance. Across these conditions, several key variables were measured, including Visual Discomfort, Legibility, Affective state, Actual Task Performance, Perceived Task Performance, Task Time, Perceived Time, Intention to revisit, Hedonic Motivation, and Perceived Learning Outcome. The descriptive statistics are presented in Table 5.

# Table 5: Descriptive Statistics

| N Obs | Variable    | Label                      | Ν  | Mean  | Std Dev | Minimum | Maximum |
|-------|-------------|----------------------------|----|-------|---------|---------|---------|
| 100   | VD          | Visual Discomfort          | 97 | 1.77  | 0.87    | 1.00    | 4.00    |
|       | Legi        | Legibility                 | 97 | 4.30  | 0.88    | 2.25    | 6.00    |
|       | Aff         | Affective state            | 85 | 75.90 | 18.41   | 26.50   | 98.00   |
|       | Perform     | Actual Task Performance    |    | 7.31  | 0.86    | 4.00    | 8.00    |
|       | pPerform    | Perceived Task Performance | 97 | 6.90  | 1.06    | 4.00    | 8.00    |
|       | Time        | Task time                  |    | 7.57  | 2.41    | 3.03    | 16.11   |
|       | pTime       | Perceived Time             |    | 63.64 | 17.85   | 19.00   | 100.00  |
|       | int revisit | Intention to revisit       |    | 5.27  | 1.69    | 1.50    | 7.00    |
|       | НМ          | Hedonic Motivation         | 97 | 4.97  | 1.44    | 1.33    | 7.00    |
|       | PLO         | Perceived Learning Outcome | 85 | 4.83  | 1.70    | 1.00    | 7.00    |

| Plack | N Obe | Variable    | Label                        | N  | Meen  | Std Dov | Minimum  | Maximum |
|-------|-------|-------------|------------------------------|----|-------|---------|----------|---------|
| DIOCK | NODS  | variable    |                              | IN | wear  | Stu Dev | winninum | Maximum |
| 1     | 25    | VD          | Visual Discomfort            | 24 | 1.92  | 0.97    | 1.00     | 3.83    |
|       |       | Legi        | Legibility                   | 24 | 4.07  | 1.08    | 2.25     | 6.00    |
|       |       | Aff         | Affective state              | 21 | 73.98 | 19.35   | 29.50    | 97.50   |
|       |       | Perform     | Actual Task Performance      | 24 | 7.08  | 0.72    | 6.00     | 8.00    |
|       |       | pPerform    | Perceived Task Performance   | 24 | 6.75  | 1.22    | 4.00     | 8.00    |
|       |       | Time        | Task time                    | 24 | 7.89  | 2.78    | 3.44     | 16.11   |
|       |       | plime       | Perceived Time               | 21 | 62.33 | 18.35   | 23.00    | 97.00   |
|       |       |             | Hedenic Metivation           | 24 | 3.17  | 1.94    | 2.00     | 7.00    |
|       |       |             | Perceived Learning Outcome   | 24 | 4.79  | 1.50    | 1.00     | 7.00    |
|       |       | FLO         | Ferceived Learning Outcome   | 21 | 4.55  | 1.71    | 1.00     | 7.00    |
| 2     | 25    | VD          | Visual Discomfort            | 24 | 1.75  | 0.85    | 1.00     | 3.67    |
|       |       | Legi        | Legibility                   | 24 | 4.20  | 0.83    | 2.50     | 5.25    |
|       |       | Aff         | Affective state              | 21 | 73.02 | 19.46   | 26.50    | 98.00   |
|       |       | Perform     | Actual Task Performance      | 24 | 7.29  | 1.00    | 5.00     | 8.00    |
|       |       | pPerform    | Perceived Task Performance   | 24 | 6.83  | 1.13    | 5.00     | 8.00    |
|       |       | Time        | lask time                    | 24 | 8.08  | 2.07    | 5.05     | 12.63   |
|       |       | plime       | Perceived Time               | 21 | 59.67 | 19.74   | 19.00    | 98.00   |
|       |       | Int_revisit | Intention to revisit         | 8  | 5.50  | 0.85    | 4.50     | 7.00    |
|       |       |             | Redonic Motivation           | 24 | 4.94  | 1.43    | 1.33     | 0.07    |
|       |       | PLO         | Perceived Learning Outcome   | 21 | 4.07  | 1.74    | 1.00     | 7.00    |
| 3     | 25    | VD          | Visual Discomfort            | 24 | 1.60  | 0.75    | 1.00     | 3.67    |
|       |       | Legi        | Legibility                   | 24 | 4.40  | 0.83    | 3.00     | 5.50    |
|       |       | Aff         | Affective state              | 21 | 79.74 | 16.19   | 34.00    | 98.00   |
|       |       | Perform     | Actual Task Performance      | 24 | 7.54  | 0.59    | 6.00     | 8.00    |
|       |       | pPerform    | Perceived Task Performance   | 24 | 6.96  | 1.00    | 5.00     | 8.00    |
|       |       | Time        | Task time                    | 24 | 7.49  | 2.45    | 3.64     | 11.78   |
|       |       | plime       | Perceived Time               | 21 | 65.81 | 18.50   | 34.00    | 100.00  |
|       |       | HM          | Hedonic Motivation           | 24 | 4.92  | 2.07    | 2.00     | 7.00    |
|       |       | PLO         | Perceived Learning Outcome   | 21 | 5 19  | 1.55    | 1.33     | 7.00    |
|       |       | 1 20        | T creatived Loanning Catcome | 21 | 0.10  | 1.00    | 1.00     | 1.00    |
| 4     | 25    | VD          | Visual Discomfort            | 25 | 1.79  | 0.94    | 1.00     | 4.00    |
|       |       | Legi        | Legibility                   | 25 | 4.54  | 0.73    | 3.25     | 5.50    |
|       |       | Aff         | Affective state              | 22 | 76.82 | 19.00   | 27.50    | 97.50   |
|       |       | Perform     | Actual Task Performance      | 25 | 7.32  | 1.03    | 4.00     | 8.00    |
|       |       | Time        | Task time                    | 25 | 7.04  | 0.89    | 5.00     | 8.00    |
|       |       | nTime       | Paracived Time               | 20 | 0.00  | 2.24    | 3.03     | 14.18   |
|       |       | int revieit | Intention to revisit         | 22 | 5 50  | 14.99   | 30.00    | 7.00    |
|       |       | HM          | Hedonic Motivation           | 25 | 5.07  | 1 49    | 2.00     | 7.00    |
|       |       | PLO         | Perceived Learning Outcome   | 22 | 4.88  | 1.84    | 1.00     | 7.00    |

Visual discomfort showed relatively consistent means across conditions, ranging from 1.60 to 1.92, suggesting generally low levels of visual discomfort. The standard deviations

(0.75 to 0.97) indicate moderate variability in responses. Notably, the highest mean VD (1.92) was observed in block 1 (high ambient luminance, low screen luminance), while the lowest mean visual discomfort (1.60) was observed in block 3 ( low ambient luminance, low screen luminance).

Legibility, however, varied a bit more noticeably, with means ranging from 4.07 to 4.54 (SD = 0.73 to 1.08), indicating that participants generally found the text legible, with the highest mean legibility (4.54) reported in block 4 (high screen luminance, low ambient luminance) and lowest (4.07) reported in block 1 (low screen luminance, high ambient luminance).

The Affective state, calculated from the Enjoyment and Annoyance measures and measured on a 100-point scale, showed generally high mean values across conditions, ranging from 73.02 to 79.74. However, there was considerable variability in responses (SD = 16.19 to 19.46). The highest mean Affective state (79.74) was observed in Block 3 (Low screen luminance, low ambient luminance), while the lowest (73.02) was in Block 2 (High screen, high ambient luminance condition.

Perceived Task Performance demonstrated high mean values across all conditions (6.75 to 7.04 on an 8-point scale), indicating participants generally felt they performed well. Actual Task Performance, also on an 8-point scale, showed consistently high mean values (7.08 to 7.54) across conditions, aligning with participants' perceptions and indicating that participants generally performed well on the assigned tasks regardless of the block.

Actual time spent on tasks varied across conditions, with mean values ranging from 6.85 minutes for block 4 (high screen luminance, low ambient luminance) to 8.08 minutes for block 2 (high screen luminance, high ambient luminance). The standard deviations (2.07 to 2.78) indicate substantial variability in task completion times among participants. A similar trend was observed for Perceived Time, measured on a 100-point scale. Mean values ranged from 59.67 to 66.59, with high variability (SD = 14.99 to 19.74).

Intention to revisit, Hedonic Motivation, and Perceived Learning Outcome showed less dramatic variations across conditions.

Intention to revisit, measured on a 7-point scale, had its' mean values ranging from 4.92 for block 3 (low screen luminance, low ambient luminance) to 5.50 for block 4 (high screen luminance, low ambient luminance) with moderate variability (SD = 1.52 to 1.72)

Hedonic Motivation, also measured on a 7-point scale, showed consistent mean values across conditions, ranging from 4.79 to 5.07 (SD = 1.41 to 1.50). This suggests generally positive levels of motivation among participants.

Perceived Learning Outcome also demonstrated consistent mean values across conditions (4.59 to 5.19 on a 7-point scale), with standard deviations between 1.55 and 1.84. This indicates that participants generally perceived moderate to high learning outcomes, with some variability in responses.

#### 5.2.2. Correlation Analysis

Upon analyzing the correlation table presented in Table 6, several significant relationships emerge among the variables.

#### Table 6: Correlation Analysis

| Pearson Correlation Coefficients<br>Prob >  r  under H0: Rho=0<br>Number of Observations |                          |                          |                          |                          |                          |                          |                          |                          |                          |                          |
|--|--------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|
|  | VD                       | Legi                     | Aff                      | Perform                  | pPerform                 | Time                     | pTime                    | int_revisit              | нм                       | PLO                      |
| VD<br>Visual Discomfort  | 1.00000<br>97            | -0.42418<br><.0001<br>97 | -0.40356<br>0.0001<br>85 | -0.11781<br>0.2504<br>97 | -0.28777<br>0.0043<br>97 | 0.10677<br>0.2979<br>97  | 0.18556<br>0.0891<br>85  | 0.14298<br>0.5051<br>24  | -0.30030<br>0.0028<br>97 | -0.23352<br>0.0315<br>85 |
| Legi<br>Legibility   | -0.42418<br><.0001<br>97 | 1.00000<br>97            | 0.37410<br>0.0004<br>85  | 0.05012<br>0.6259<br>97  | 0.37411<br>0.0002<br>97  | 0.02618<br>0.7991<br>97  | 0.11832<br>0.2808<br>85  | -0.21475<br>0.3136<br>24 | 0.17254<br>0.0910<br>97  | 0.16462<br>0.1322<br>85  |
| Aff<br>Affective state   | -0.40356<br>0.0001<br>85 | 0.37410<br>0.0004<br>85  | 1.00000<br>85            | -0.06336<br>0.5645<br>85 | -0.06821<br>0.5351<br>85 | -0.10724<br>0.3286<br>85 | 0.35161<br>0.0010<br>85  | 0.22857<br>0.3190<br>21  | 0.75699<br><.0001<br>85  | 0.69953<br><.0001<br>85  |
| Perform<br>Actual Task Performance   | -0.11781<br>0.2504<br>97 | 0.05012<br>0.6259<br>97  | -0.06336<br>0.5645<br>85 | 1.00000<br>97            | 0.34598<br>0.0005<br>97  | -0.22979<br>0.0236<br>97 | -0.05842<br>0.5953<br>85 | -0.09797<br>0.6488<br>24 | -0.07284<br>0.4783<br>97 | 0.01239<br>0.9104<br>85  |
| pPerform<br>Perceived Task<br>Performance  | -0.28777<br>0.0043<br>97 | 0.37411<br>0.0002<br>97  | -0.06821<br>0.5351<br>85 | 0.34598<br>0.0005<br>97  | 1.00000<br>97            | -0.05484<br>0.5937<br>97 | 0.00916<br>0.9337<br>85  | -0.21323<br>0.3171<br>24 | -0.18523<br>0.0693<br>97 | -0.13994<br>0.2015<br>85 |
| Time<br>Task time  | 0.10677<br>0.2979<br>97  | 0.02618<br>0.7991<br>97  | -0.10724<br>0.3286<br>85 | -0.22979<br>0.0236<br>97 | -0.05484<br>0.5937<br>97 | 1.00000<br>97            | -0.30877<br>0.0040<br>85 | -0.13159<br>0.5399<br>24 | -0.37901<br>0.0001<br>97 | -0.17721<br>0.1047<br>85 |
| pTime<br>Perceived Time  | 0.18556<br>0.0891<br>85  | 0.11832<br>0.2808<br>85  | 0.35161<br>0.0010<br>85  | -0.05842<br>0.5953<br>85 | 0.00916<br>0.9337<br>85  | -0.30877<br>0.0040<br>85 | 1.00000<br>85            | -0.11146<br>0.6305<br>21 | 0.30452<br>0.0046<br>85  | 0.42879<br><.0001<br>85  |
| int_revisit<br>Intention to revisit  | 0.14298<br>0.5051<br>24  | -0.21475<br>0.3136<br>24 | 0.22857<br>0.3190<br>21  | -0.09797<br>0.6488<br>24 | -0.21323<br>0.3171<br>24 | -0.13159<br>0.5399<br>24 | -0.11146<br>0.6305<br>21 | 1.00000<br>24            | 0.25590<br>0.2275<br>24  | 0.12838<br>0.5792<br>21  |
| HM<br>Hedonic Motivation   | -0.30030<br>0.0028<br>97 | 0.17254<br>0.0910<br>97  | 0.75699<br><.0001<br>85  | -0.07284<br>0.4783<br>97 | -0.18523<br>0.0693<br>97 | -0.37901<br>0.0001<br>97 | 0.30452<br>0.0046<br>85  | 0.25590<br>0.2275<br>24  | 1.00000<br>97            | 0.78926<br><.0001<br>85  |
| PLO<br>Perceived Learning<br>Outcome   | -0.23352<br>0.0315<br>85 | 0.16462<br>0.1322<br>85  | 0.69953<br><.0001<br>85  | 0.01239<br>0.9104<br>85  | -0.13994<br>0.2015<br>85 | -0.17721<br>0.1047<br>85 | 0.42879<br><.0001<br>85  | 0.12838<br>0.5792<br>21  | 0.78926<br><.0001<br>85  | 1.00000<br>85            |

Visual Discomfort (VD) shows significant negative correlations with several variables. There is a moderate negative correlation with legibility (r = -0.42418, p < .0001), suggesting that as visual discomfort increases, perceived legibility decreases. VD also negatively correlates with Affective state (r = -0.40356, p = .0001), indicating that higher visual discomfort is associated with less positive affect. Interestingly, VD has a weak but significant negative correlation with Perceived Task Performance (r = -0.28777, p = .0043), implying that visual discomfort may slightly impact users' perception of their performance.

Legibility demonstrates positive correlations with several variables. It has a moderate positive correlation with Affective state (r = 0.37410, p = .0004) and Perceived Task

Performance (r = 0.37411, p = .0002). This suggests that better legibility is associated with more positive affect and higher perceived performance, which aligns with expectations about the importance of readable text.

Affective state shows strong positive correlations with Hedonic Motivation (r = 0.75699, p < .0001) and Perceived Learning Outcome (r = 0.69953, p < .0001). These relationships highlight the importance of positive emotional states in enhancing motivation and perceived learning.

Actual Task Performance has a moderate positive correlation with Perceived Task Performance (r = 0.34598, p = .0005), indicating some alignment between actual and perceived performance. However, the correlation is not as strong as expected, suggesting that other factors influence users' perceptions of their performance.

Perceived time shows a moderate positive correlation with Perceived Learning Outcome (r = 0.42879, p < .0001), suggesting that participants who perceived spending more time on tasks also reported higher learning outcomes. This could indicate that engagement with the task, as reflected in the perceived time spent, may contribute to a sense of accomplishment or learning. However, Actual Task time had a moderate negative correlation with Hedonic Motivation (r = -0.37901, p = 0.0001) and a weak negative correlation with Actual Task Performance (r = -0.22979, p = .0236).

Hedonic Motivation demonstrates strong positive correlations with both Affective state (r = 0.75699, p < .0001) and Perceived Learning Outcome (r = 0.78926, p < .0001). These relationships underscore the interconnected nature of enjoyment, motivation, and perceived learning, highlighting the potential benefits of creating engaging and enjoyable learning environments.

Intention to revisit shows relatively weak correlations with most variables, with the strongest being a positive correlation with Affective state (r = 0.22857, p = .3190). However, this correlation is not statistically significant at the p < .05 level.

# 5.3. Hypothesis Testing

In this section, we present the results of our hypothesis testing. The data analysis involved various statistical methods tailored to the nature and distribution of our data. Here, we detail the outcomes of our primary hypotheses and respective significance values, regardless of whether the data supported them. The results are summarized in Table 7 and the validated research model with supported hypothesis are illustrated in figure 14.

H1: Luminance ratios will have a significant effect on visual discomfort.

Given the substantial skewness and non-normal distribution of the data points for visual discomfort, a median split was used to categorize the data into a binary distribution. Contrary to our expectations, logistic regression analysis indicated that the luminance ratio did not significantly influence visual discomfort (F(1, 71) = 1.07, p = 0.3036), leading to the rejection of Hypothesis 1. A pairwise comparison test was also performed, and none of the pairs had any statistically significant difference between them. Nonetheless, a trend was observed suggesting that higher luminance ratios correlate with reports of reduced visual discomfort, although this did not achieve statistical significance. Figure 12 shows the box plot of the distribution of visual discomfort levels for different luminance ratio conditions.


Figure 12: Box plot of Visual discomfort levels for different Luminance ratio conditions

#### H2: A greater luminance ratio positively affects legibility.

A linear regression model was utilized to assess the impact of luminance ratio on perceived content legibility. The analysis yielded a statistically significant main effect (F(1, 71) = 5.45, p = 0.0224), indicating that legibility was significantly better under conditions with higher luminance ratios. This finding supports Hypothesis 2 and corroborates existing literature on the subject. A pairwise comparison was also performed, and the only pair with significant statistical difference was between the luminance ratio of 0.03 and 8.03, with an estimate of -0.4508 and a p-value of 0.0395. Figure 13 shows the box plot of the distribution of reported legibility for different luminance ratio conditions.



Figure 13: Box plot of Legibility for different Luminance ratio conditions

H3: Visual discomfort is negatively associated with affective state.

H4: Legibility is positively associated with affective state.

Given the skewed data points for affective state, a median split was applied to achieve a binary distribution. The subsequent analysis using a logistic regression model revealed that both visual discomfort (F(1, 62) = 3.96, p = 0.0511) and legibility (F(1, 62) = 4.90, p = 0.0306) exerted notable effects on participants' affective states. Specifically, visual discomfort was associated with a negative impact, whereas legibility contributed positively. These findings support Hypotheses 3 and 4.

H5a: Visual discomfort is negatively associated with actual task performance.

**H5b:** Visual discomfort is negatively associated with perceived task performance.

H5c: Visual discomfort is positively associated with task time.

**H5d:** Visual discomfort is positively associated with perceived task time.

Task performance encompasses actual task performance, perceived task performance, task time, and perceived task time. While task time and perceived task time followed a normal distribution and were analyzed using a linear regression model, actual and perceived task performance were heavily skewed, necessitating the use of a binary distribution logistic regression model. Contrary to expectations, visual discomfort did not have a significant effect on task performance, leading to the rejection of Hypotheses 5a, 5b, 5c, and 5d.

**H6a:** Legibility is positively associated with actual task performance.

**H6b:** Legibility is positively associated with perceived task performance.

H6c: Legibility is negatively associated with task time.

H6d: Legibility is negatively associated with perceived task time.

However, legibility exerted a partial influence on task performance. Specifically, it significantly impacted perceived task performance (F(1, 71) = 4.17, p = 0.0448) and perceived time (F(1, 62) = 5.67, p = 0.0203), thereby supporting Hypotheses 6b and 6d, while rejecting Hypotheses 6a and 6c.

H7a: Affective state is positively associated with actual task performance.

H7b: Affective state is positively associated with perceived task performance.

H7c: Affective state is negatively associated with task time.

H7d: Affective state is negatively associated with perceived task time.

Furthermore, affective state exhibited a partial effect on task performance, notably influencing perceived time (F(1, 62) = 4.99, p = 0.0291). Interestingly, the observed effect

contradicted the hypothesized relationship, with participants reporting higher perceived time when experiencing a more positive affective state. Consequently, Hypotheses 7a, 7b, 7c, and 7d were all rejected based on these findings.

H8: Participants' intention to revisit is positively associated with their affective state.

Given the heavily skewed distribution of data points, a binary distribution logistic regression model was employed to analyze the intention to revisit. The analysis revealed no significant effect of affective state on participants' intention to revisit (F(1, 19) = 1.39, p = 0.2529), thereby rejecting Hypothesis 8.

H9: Participants' hedonic motivation is positively associated with their affective state.

Utilizing a linear regression model, the analysis indicated a significant impact of participants' affective state on their hedonic motivation. Participants reported higher hedonic motivation values when their affective state scores were higher (F(1, 62) = 6.55, p = 0.0129), providing support for Hypothesis 9.

**H10a:** Participants' perceived learning outcome is positively associated with their actual task performance.

**H10b:** Participants' perceived learning outcome is positively associated with their perceived task performance.

**H10c:** Participants' perceived learning outcome is negatively associated with their task time.

H10d: Participants' perceived learning outcome is negatively associated with their perceived task time.

Due to the heavily skewed distribution of data points, a binary distribution logistic regression model was employed to analyze perceived learning outcome. However, no significant effect of actual task performance, perceived task performance, task time, or perceived task time was observed, leading to the rejection of Hypotheses 10a, 10b, 10c, and 10d.

Table 7: Hypothesis testing results

| Hypothesis | Description  | Estimate<br>(Path<br>coefficient) | T<br>Value | P<br>Value | Levelofsignificance $* = < 0.05$ m.s. = marginallysignificant(0.05 $- 0.1$ )n.s. = notsignificant (> 0.1) |
|------------|--|-----------------------------------|------------|------------|---|
| H1         | Luminance ratios will<br>have a significant<br>effect on visual<br>discomfort.       | -0.09074                          | -1.04      | 0.3036     | n.s.  |
| Н2         | A greater luminance<br>ratio positively affects<br>legibility.                       | 0.04121                           | 2.33       | 0.0224     | *   |
| НЗ         | Visual discomfort is<br>negatively associated<br>with affective state.               | -1.3240                           | -1.99      | 0.0511     | m.s.  |
| H4         | Legibility is positively<br>associated with<br>affective state.                      | 2.6032                            | 2.21       | 0.0306     | *   |
| H5a        | Visual discomfort is<br>negatively associated<br>with actual task<br>performance.    | -0.3154                           | -1.28      | 0.2062     | n.s.  |
| Н5Ь        | Visual discomfort is<br>negatively associated<br>with perceived task<br>performance. | -0.6254                           | -1.54      | 0.1290     | n.s.  |
| Н5с        | Visual discomfort is positively associated with task time.                           | 0.5068                            | 1.43       | 0.1566     | n.s.  |

| H5d | Visual discomfort is<br>positively associated<br>with perceived task<br>time.      | 0.3121   | 0.14  | 0.8926 | n.s. |
|-----|--|----------|-------|--------|------|
| Нба | Legibility is positively<br>associated with actual<br>task performance.            | 0.1421   | 0.59  | 0.5540 | n.s. |
| Нбь | Legibility is positively<br>associated with<br>perceived task<br>performance.      | 0.7489   | 2.04  | 0.0448 | *    |
| Нбс | Legibility is<br>negatively associated<br>with task time.                          | -0.1579  | -0.57 | 0.5687 | n.s. |
| H6d | Legibility is<br>negatively associated<br>with perceived task<br>time.             | 3.7063   | 2.38  | 0.0203 | *    |
| H7a | Affective state is<br>positively associated<br>with actual task<br>performance.    | -0.00829 | -0.69 | 0.4899 | n.s. |
| Н7ь | Affective state is<br>positively associated<br>with perceived task<br>performance. | -0.00077 | -0.03 | 0.9734 | n.s. |
| Н7с | Affective state is<br>negatively associated<br>with task time.                     | -0.01276 | -0.64 | 0.5216 | n.s. |
| H7d | Affective state is<br>negatively associated<br>with perceived task<br>time.        | 0.2884   | 2.23  | 0.0291 | *    |

| Н8   | Participants' intention<br>to revisit is positively<br>associated with their<br>affective state.                     | 0.03197 | 1.18  | 0.2529 | n.s. |
|------|--|---------|-------|--------|------|
| Н9   | Participants' hedonic<br>motivation is<br>positively associated<br>with their affective<br>state.                    | 0.01759 | 2.56  | 0.0129 | *    |
| H10a | Participants' perceived<br>learning outcome is<br>positively associated<br>with their actual task<br>performance.    | 0.3516  | 0.94  | 0.3531 | n.s. |
| Н10Ь | Participants' perceived<br>learning outcome is<br>positively associated<br>with their perceived<br>task performance. | 0.09868 | -0.25 | 0.8005 | n.s. |
| H10c | Participants' perceived<br>learning outcome is<br>negatively associated<br>with their task time.                     | -0.1814 | -0.97 | 0.3352 | n.s. |
| H10d | Participants' perceived<br>learning outcome is<br>negatively associated<br>with their perceived<br>task time.        | 0.02402 | 0.92  | 0.3601 | n.s. |



Figure 14: Validated Research model

## Chapter 6 Discussion

This study investigated the impact of relatively extreme display and ambient luminance conditions typically found in Institutional Informal Learning Places (IILPs) such as museums and insectariums on visitors' experience with smartphone Augmented Reality (AR) technology. Specifically, we examined how variations in display luminance relative to ambient luminance, referred to as the luminance ratio, influenced the users' perceived visual discomfort and legibility. Consequently, we were also interested in uncovering whether it affected their affective state, actual and perceived learning task performance, and, in turn, their intention to revisit, hedonic motivation and perceived learning outcomes

The theoretical underpinning of this research was that following the SOR framework, the experience of using AR technologies, especially smartphone AR in Institutional Informal Learning Places (IILPs) like museums and science centers may be influenced by the interplay between the display luminance of the device and the ambient luminance where the AR artifacts are presented in such places, called the luminance ratio acting as the stimuli. Any changes within the organism in the form of their perceived visual discomfort or perceived legibility of the presented content due to this ratio would initiate a chain reaction affecting their response in the form of their affective state, in turn influencing their hedonic experience, including their hedonic motivation and intention to revisit, as well as their actual and perceived learning performances and in turn, their perceived learning outcome. To reiterate, the literature review and empirical study aimed to address two research questions.

**RQ 1.** To what extent do ambient and display luminance affect the visual discomfort/fatigue levels in individuals interacting with smartphone AR in IILPs?

**RQ 2.** What other factors consequently impact the visitors' interaction with smartphone AR and their overall experience in IILPs?

### 6.1. Summary of the experimental results

The experimental results provided valuable insights into the effects of luminance ratios on various aspects of user experience with smartphone AR in Institutional Informal Learning Places (IILPs). Contrary to our initial hypothesis (H1), the luminance ratio did not significantly affect visual discomfort. This unexpected result might be due to the short duration of the experimental tasks, which may not have been sufficient to induce noticeable visual discomfort. Additionally, participants' individual tolerance levels for different lighting conditions could have varied, potentially masking the effects of luminance ratios.

In support of Hypothesis 2, the study found a significant positive relationship between luminance ratio and perceived legibility. This finding aligns with existing literature and underscores the importance of appropriate display brightness relative to ambient lighting conditions for optimal readability in AR applications.

The study also revealed significant associations between visual factors and affective state. Both visual discomfort and legibility were found to influence participants' affective states (H3 and H4), with visual discomfort having a negative impact and legibility contributing positively. These findings highlight the intricate relationship between visual perception and emotional response in AR experiences.

Regarding task performance, the results were mixed. Visual discomfort did not significantly impact any aspect of task performance (rejecting H5a-d), which could be attributed to participants' ability to adapt to minor discomfort during short-term use or the tasks not being sufficiently demanding to show performance decrements due to visual discomfort. Legibility showed partial effects, positively influencing perceived task performance and perceived time (supporting H6b and H6d) but not actual task performance or task time (rejecting H6a and H6c). This discrepancy between perceived and actual performance might indicate that improved legibility enhances confidence in one's performance without necessarily improving objective outcomes.

The affective state demonstrated a partial effect on task performance, notably influencing perceived time, albeit in a direction contrary to our hypothesis (rejecting H7a-d). This unexpected result could suggest that positive emotions might lead to greater engagement with the task, causing participants to perceive time as passing more slowly.

Interestingly, the study found no significant relationship between affective state and intention to revisit (rejecting H8). This could be due to other factors, such as content interest or personal preferences, having a more decisive influence on revisit intentions than momentary affective states. However, a strong positive association was observed between affective state and hedonic motivation (supporting H9), emphasizing the role of positive emotional experiences in enhancing user engagement with AR technology.

Lastly, contrary to our expectations, no significant relationships were found between perceived learning outcomes and various aspects of task performance (rejecting H10a-d). This surprising result might be explained by the complexity of learning processes in informal settings, where factors such as prior knowledge, personal interest, or the novelty of AR technology could overshadow the immediate effects of task performance on perceived learning outcomes.

#### **6.2.** Theoretical Contributions

This study provides several important theoretical contributions to our understanding of AR experiences in Institutional Informal Learning Places (IILPs), particularly regarding the impact of display and ambient luminance conditions on visual factors and ultimately the user experience and learning outcomes.

Firstly, our findings challenge the simplistic assumption that luminance ratios directly and significantly affect visual discomfort in short-term AR use. While we observed a trend suggesting that higher luminance ratios might reduce visual discomfort, the lack of statistical significance highlights the complexity of visual perception in AR environments. This result adds nuance to existing theories on visual ergonomics in digital displays, suggesting that other factors, such as individual differences or task duration, may play a more significant role than previously thought in short-term AR interactions.

The study confirms that higher luminance ratios enhance perceived legibility, thereby positively impacting users' affective states and their overall hedonic experience, even if visual discomfort does not significantly change over short-term use. When the display luminance exceeds the ambient luminance (high luminance ratio), users report better legibility, aligning with existing literature on readability and display contrast (LaViola, 2000). This improved legibility reduces cognitive load, leading to a more relaxed and positive affective state (Sheedy et al., 2003). This relationship is crucial because it suggests that environmental factors can be manipulated to improve user experience indirectly.

The study further validates the Stimulus-Organism-Response (SOR) framework by demonstrating that the affective state acts as a significant mediator between the luminance ratio (stimulus) and hedonic motivation (response). The affective state influenced by improved legibility enhances users' overall enjoyment and motivation to engage with AR content. This finding extends existing literature by empirically connecting environmental and device lighting conditions to user experiences in AR settings, which had not been explicitly addressed before. Theoretical models of usability can now incorporate these findings to better predict user engagement and satisfaction (Aul et al., 2023; Wilkins et al., 2021).

### **6.3. Practical Contributions**

From a practical perspective, the results highlight the importance of optimizing luminance ratios in AR applications within IILPs to enhance visitor engagement and satisfaction. While the adjustable brightness feature of modern smartphones can mitigate some discomfort caused by environmental lighting changes, ensuring high luminance ratios can significantly improve content legibility. This, in turn, enhances the overall visitor experience by fostering a more positive emotional state and greater hedonic motivation, encouraging further engagement with AR exhibits.

The research suggests that museums and similar institutions can leverage these insights to create more engaging AR experiences. By controlling ambient lighting or advising visitors to adjust their device settings, institutions can improve the perceived quality of AR exhibits. This practical application is supported by data showing increased user engagement and satisfaction under optimal luminance conditions. Implementing these strategies can result in higher revisit intentions and more positive word-of-mouth, which is crucial for the sustained success of IILPs.

Institutions might also consider conducting user research studies to gather feedback on lighting conditions and AR experiences. This data could inform more precise adjustments to ambient lighting and display settings to meet different visitor demographics' specific needs and preferences.

For AR content developers, these findings suggest specific design considerations. Applications should be tested under various lighting conditions to ensure legibility and comfort. Developers can also include features that allow users to adjust brightness easily or use adaptive brightness algorithms that respond to ambient light changes. Such features would enhance the user experience by maintaining optimal luminance ratios automatically.

Further practical recommendations could include developing AR applications incorporating real-time feedback mechanisms to alert users when optimal luminance ratios are not maintained. Additionally, providing guidelines or tutorials within the AR app on adjusting settings for different environments could empower users to optimize their experience.

## 6.4. Methodological Contributions

Firstly, this study emphasizes the value of psychometric measures in capturing the nuanced aspects of user experience. While objective metrics like task performance and physiological indicators are valuable, they may not fully reflect the subjective and emotional dimensions crucial for a comprehensive understanding of AR interactions. By employing self-reported questionnaires and scales, the research captures users' perceptual and emotional responses, providing deeper insights into their experiences and the factors influencing them. This approach, combined with objective measures such as physiological

data would allow for a holistic understanding of the user experience by integrating both subjective and objective data.

Secondly, by using a controlled experimental setup to manipulate luminance ratios, we were able to isolate the effects of display and ambient luminance conditions on user experience variables. This experimental design adds robustness to our findings, offering clear evidence of causality between luminance ratios and user outcomes such as perceived legibility and affective state.

Thirdly, the use of smartphone AR in our experiments reflects real-world usage scenarios more accurately than previous studies using specialized AR hardware. This increases the ecological validity of our findings and ensures that the results are more generalizable to everyday AR applications in IILPs. The choice of a smartphone-based AR platform aligns with the widespread adoption and accessibility of such devices, making our insights directly applicable to the current technological landscape (Tomiuc, 2014; Bresciani et al., 2018).

Finally, our methodological framework, including the detailed operationalization of luminance ratios and the systematic assessment of their impacts, can serve as a reference for future research. Researchers can adopt and adapt our experimental setup to explore other environmental factors and their effects on AR experiences, thereby expanding the body of knowledge in this field.

### 6.5. Limitations and Future Directions

#### 6.5.1. Limitations

While this study provides valuable insights into the influence of lighting on smartphone AR experiences in Institutional Informal Learning Places (IILPs), several limitations must be acknowledged.

Firstly, we could not collect physiological measures such as eye tracking or heart rate variability due to logistical constraints. These measures could have provided valuable insights into users' physical responses to varying lighting conditions and AR content. For instance, eye-tracking data might have revealed patterns of visual attention and fatigue,

while heart rate variability could have indicated levels of cognitive load and stress experienced by participants. Future studies incorporating such physiological measures could yield a more comprehensive understanding of the relationship between lighting, AR experiences, and user responses.

Secondly, the duration of the experiment was relatively short (50 minutes). While this timeframe allowed us to capture immediate responses to lighting conditions and AR content, it may not have been sufficient to evaluate the potential long-term effects of these factors on visual discomfort, fatigue, and learning outcomes. Future studies could consider employing longer experiment durations or longitudinal designs to investigate the sustained impact of lighting on AR experiences in IILPs.

Thirdly, the sample size in this study was relatively small and may not be representative of the diverse population of IILP visitors. Future research endeavours should aim for more extensive and diverse samples to enhance the generalizability of findings. This could involve recruiting participants from various age groups, backgrounds, and levels of familiarity with AR technology.

Additionally, while conducting the study in a naturalistic setting increased ecological validity, it also introduced potential confounding variables beyond our control. Variations in individual smartphone settings, ambient noise levels, and visitor traffic within the IILP could have influenced participants' experiences. Future studies could adopt more controlled settings to minimize the influence of such extraneous variables.

Lastly, this study focused primarily on the effects of relatively extreme dark and bright lighting conditions. While these extremes are encountered in some IILPs, future research should also explore the impact of more moderate lighting variations on user experience. This approach would provide a more nuanced understanding of how lighting can be optimized across a broader range of IILP environments.

#### 6.5.2. Future Directions

Future research could address several key areas to build upon the findings of this study. Firstly, investigating the long-term effects of different luminance ratios on visual discomfort and user experience is crucial, as our study was limited to short-term interactions. This could involve longitudinal studies or experiments with extended task durations to better understand how visual fatigue develops over time in AR applications. Additionally, exploring individual differences in light sensitivity and their impact on AR experiences could provide valuable insights for personalizing AR interfaces. Future studies could also consider a broader range of ambient lighting conditions to more accurately reflect the diverse environments found in IILPs.

Researchers could employ more diverse and sensitive measures of cognitive load and learning to further unravel the complex relationships between visual comfort, affective state, and learning outcomes. This could include physiological measures, such as eyetracking or EEG, to complement self-report data. Moreover, investigating the role of content type and task complexity in mediating the effects of luminance ratios on user experience and learning outcomes would be beneficial. This could involve comparing different types of AR applications across various informal learning contexts.

Future research could explore the potential of adaptive AR interfaces that automatically adjust display parameters based on ambient lighting conditions and user preferences. This could lead to more accessible and practical AR experiences in diverse IILP settings. Additionally, examining the interaction between luminance ratios and other AR design elements, such as colour schemes, text size, and interaction modalities, could provide a more comprehensive understanding of optimal AR design for informal learning environments.

Researchers could investigate the impact of AR on different age groups, as visual perception and learning processes may vary across demographics. This could help in developing age-appropriate AR applications for IILPs. Furthermore, exploring the use of AR in combination with other emerging technologies, such as virtual reality or haptic feedback, could open new avenues for enhancing informal learning experiences.

Another important area for future research is the development of standardized metrics for assessing visual comfort and learning outcomes in AR-enhanced informal learning environments. This would facilitate more consistent comparisons across studies and aid in establishing best practices for AR implementation in IILPs. Additionally, investigating the potential of AR to support different learning styles and accommodate diverse learner needs could contribute to more inclusive informal learning experiences.

Future studies could investigate the long-term impact of AR experiences on learning retention and transfer and users' attitudes toward AR technology in educational settings. This could involve follow-up assessments and interviews to gauge the lasting effects of AR-enhanced informal learning experiences. Researchers could also explore the potential of AR to foster collaboration and social learning in IILPs, examining how shared AR experiences might enhance engagement and knowledge construction among visitors.

Lastly, future research could focus on developing guidelines for the ethical use of AR in informal learning environments, addressing issues such as privacy, data security, and equitable access to AR technologies. This could help ensure that the implementation of AR in IILPs is responsible and beneficial for all users.

By addressing these areas, future research can contribute to developing more effective and user-friendly AR applications for IILPs, ultimately enhancing the educational potential of this technology in informal learning contexts. This comprehensive approach will help bridge the gap between theoretical understanding and practical implementation of AR in diverse learning environments.

## Chapter 7 Conclusion

This thesis addressed two key research questions: The first is "How do ambient and display luminance affect the visual discomfort/fatigue levels in individuals interacting with smartphone AR in Informal Institutional Learning Places (IILPs)?". The second, on the other hand is "What other factors are consequently affected by the users' interaction with smartphone AR and visitors' overall experience in IILPs?"

To address the first research question, our findings indicated that luminance ratios had no significant effect on visual discomfort. While descriptive statistics suggested that higher luminance ratios might be associated with lower levels of visual discomfort, this trend did not achieve statistical significance. This outcome suggests that short-term interactions with varying luminance ratios did not significantly alter users' visual discomfort levels, contrary to our initial hypothesis. This result aligns with some of the broader literature, indicating that while extreme luminance conditions can cause discomfort, moderate variations within the tested range do not elicit significant differences in discomfort levels (Benedetto et al., 2013).

Several hypotheses were examined for the second research question, and the study's results offer valuable insights into the broader impacts of luminance ratios on user experience in smartphone AR interactions. Firstly, higher luminance ratios were found to enhance the perceived legibility of AR content significantly. This supports the hypothesis that increased contrast between display and ambient lighting improves readability, thereby facilitating easier interaction with AR content. Improved legibility enhances the user experience and reduces cognitive load, contributing to a more relaxed and positive affective state. This finding is consistent with prior research suggesting that better readability and reduced cognitive effort are crucial for maintaining user engagement and satisfaction (Mittelstaedt et al. (2019); Sheedy et al., 2003).

Additionally, the study found that the affective state of users, influenced by improved legibility, significantly enhances the users' hedonic motivation to engage with AR content. This result validates the Stimulus-Organism-Response (SOR) framework in the context of AR interactions, highlighting the role of environmental factors in shaping user experiences. The study extends the existing literature on AR usability and user engagement by demonstrating that the affective state mediates the relationship between luminance ratios and hedonic motivation (Wickens et al., 2015).

The findings from this study provide significant contributions to both theory and practice. Theoretically, the research extends the SOR framework by empirically demonstrating the mediating role of affective states between environmental stimuli (luminance ratios) and user responses (engagement and motivation). This underscores the complex interplay between environmental factors and user psychology in the context of AR applications.

From a practical perspective, these findings underscore the importance of optimizing luminance ratios in AR applications within IILPs to enhance visitor engagement and satisfaction. Ensuring high luminance ratios can significantly improve content legibility, fostering a more positive emotional state and greater motivation to engage with AR exhibits. This practical application is supported by data showing increased user engagement and satisfaction under optimal luminance conditions, which can lead to higher revisit intentions and more positive word-of-mouth, crucial for the sustained success of IILPs. Institutions like museums can leverage these insights by controlling ambient lighting or advising visitors to adjust their device settings to improve the perceived quality of AR exhibits. Conducting user research studies to gather feedback on lighting conditions and AR experiences can inform more precise adjustments to meet the specific needs of different visitor demographics. AR content developers should consider testing applications under various lighting conditions to ensure legibility and comfort. Including features that allow users to adjust brightness easily or using adaptive brightness algorithms can enhance user experience by automatically maintaining optimal luminance ratios.

Methodologically, this study emphasizes the value of psychometric measures in capturing the nuanced aspects of user experience. By employing self-reported questionnaires and scales, the research captures users' perceptual and emotional responses, providing deeper insights into their experiences. Combined with objective measures such as physiological data, this approach allows for a holistic understanding of user experience. Additionally, the controlled experimental setup used to manipulate luminance ratios offers clear evidence of causality between luminance conditions and user outcomes, enhancing the robustness and ecological validity of the findings (Tomiuc, 2014; Bresciani et al., 2018).

While the study offers valuable insights, it is essential to acknowledge its limitations. The experimental setup, although rigorous, was conducted in controlled environments that may not fully capture the variability of real-world settings. This limitation suggests that future research should incorporate more naturalistic environments to enhance the ecological validity of the findings. Additionally, the sample size and diversity were limited, which might affect the generalizability of the findings. A broader and more diverse sample could provide a more comprehensive understanding of how different demographic groups experience AR under varying lighting conditions.

Future studies should aim to incorporate physiological measures such as eye-tracking and heart rate variability to gain deeper insights into users' physical responses to AR experiences under varying lighting conditions. These measures could provide more objective data on visual discomfort and engagement levels. Extending the duration of experiments and conducting longitudinal studies could reveal the long-term effects of these conditions on visual discomfort and learning outcomes. Such studies would be instrumental in understanding how prolonged exposure to AR under different lighting conditions affects user experience and educational outcomes. Moreover, increasing sample diversity and conducting research in more varied and naturalistic settings would enhance the generalizability of the findings. Exploring moderate lighting variations and content-specific responses to lighting conditions could also provide more comprehensive guidelines for AR application design, ensuring that the findings apply to various educational contexts and AR applications.

In conclusion, this study underscores the critical role of lighting conditions in shaping user experiences with AR in educational and informal learning contexts. By systematically investigating the impact of luminance ratios, the research provides valuable contributions to both theory and practice, offering practical recommendations for enhancing AR usability. The research highlights the necessity for AR developers and educators to consider lighting conditions as a fundamental aspect of AR design. Building on these findings, future research can further our understanding of optimal AR design, ultimately enriching the educational experiences in IILPs and beyond. This comprehensive examination of lighting conditions and their effects on AR experiences within IILPs fills a significant gap in the existing literature and sets the stage for future innovations in educational technology. By enhancing our understanding of these dynamics, we can create more engaging and effective AR applications that inspire and educate users meaningfully. The ultimate goal is to leverage AR technology to foster an engaging, immersive, and educationally enriching environment for all learners, paving the way for more advanced and user-centred educational tools in the future.

# **Bibliography**

AGO. (2017). ReBlink Exhibit. Retrieved from https://ago.net/reblink

Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. Organizational behavior and human decision processes, 50(2), 179-211.

Akçayır, M., & Akçayır, G. (2017). Advantages and challenges associated with augmented reality for education: A systematic review of the literature. Educational research review, 20, 1-11.

Alavi, M., Marakas, G. M., & Yoo, Y. (2002). A comparative study of distributed learning environments on learning outcomes. Information Systems Research, 13(4), 404-415.

Anderson, J. R. (1982). Acquisition of cognitive skill. Psychological review, 89(4), 369.

Ando, T., Tanaka, A., Fukasaku, S., Takada, R., Okada, M., Ukai, K., ... & Bando, T. (2002). Pupillary and cardiovascular responses to a video movie in senior human subjects. Autonomic Neuroscience, 97(2), 129-135.

Aransyah, D., Rosa, F., & Colombo, G. (2020). Smart maintenance: A wearable augmented reality application integrated with CMMS to minimize unscheduled downtime. Computer-Aided Design and Applications, 17(4), 740-751.

Arth, C., & Schmalstieg, D. (2011). Challenges of large-scale augmented reality on smartphones. Graz University of Technology, Graz, 1(4).

Arth, C., Grasset, R., Gruber, L., Langlotz, T., Mulloni, A., & Wagner, D. (2015). The history of mobile augmented reality. arXiv preprint arXiv:1505.01319.

Artino, A. R. (2012). Academic self-efficacy: from educational theory to instructional practice. Perspectives on medical education, 1, 76-85.

Ashby, F. G., & Isen, A. M. (1999). A neuropsychological theory of positive affect and its influence on cognition. Psychological review, 106(3), 529.

Aul, C., Brau, J. M., Sugarman, A., DeGutis, J. M., Germine, L. T., Esterman, M., ... & Fortenbaugh, F. C. (2023). The functional relevance of visuospatial processing speed across the lifespan. Cognitive Research: Principles and Implications, 8(1), 51.

Azuma, R. T. (1997). A survey of augmented reality. Presence: teleoperators & virtual environments, 6(4), 355-385.

Bacca Acosta, J. L., Baldiris Navarro, S. M., Fabregat Gesa, R., & Graf, S. (2014). Augmented reality trends in education: a systematic review of research and applications. Journal of Educational Technology and Society, 2014, vol. 17, núm. 4, p. 133-149. Backlinko. (2024). Smartphone usage statistics for 2024. Retrieved from <u>https://backlinko.com/smartphone-usage-statistics</u>

Baker, D. A., & Crompton, J. L. (2000). Quality, satisfaction and behavioral intentions. Annals of tourism research, 27(3), 785-804.

Bandura, A. (1986). Social Foundations of Thought and Action: A Social Cognitive Theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentics-Hall.

Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. Macmillan.

Beal, D. J., Weiss, H. M., Barros, E., & MacDermid, S. M. (2005). An episodic process model of affective influences on performance. Journal of Applied psychology, 90(6), 1054.

Benedetto, S., Carbone, A., Drai-Zerbib, V., Pedrotti, M., & Baccino, T. (2014). Effects of luminance and illuminance on visual fatigue and arousal during digital reading. Computers in human behavior, 41, 112-119.

Benedetto, S., Drai-Zerbib, V., Pedrotti, M., Tissier, G., & Baccino, T. (2013). E-readers and visual fatigue. PloS one, 8(12), e83676.

Berlyne, D. E. (1973). Aesthetics and psychobiology. Journal of Aesthetics and Art Criticism, 31(4).

Bernard, M. L., Chaparro, B. S., Mills, M. M., & Halcomb, C. G. (2003). Comparing the effects of text size and format on the readibility of computer-displayed Times New Roman and Arial text. International Journal of Human-Computer Studies, 59(6), 823-835.

Billinghurst, M., & Duenser, A. (2012). Augmented reality in the classroom. Computer, 45(7), 56-63.

Bitner, M. J. (1992). Servicescapes: The impact of physical surroundings on customers and employees. Journal of marketing, 56(2), 57-71.

Blehm, C., Vishnu, S., Khattak, A., Mitra, S., & Yee, R. W. (2005). Computer vision syndrome: a review. Survey of ophthalmology, 50(3), 253-262.

Botella, C. M., Juan, M. C., Baños, R. M., Alcañiz, M., Guillén, V., & Rey, B. (2005). Mixing realities? An application of augmented reality for the treatment of cockroach phobia. Cyberpsychology & behavior, 8(2), 162-171.

Bower, G. H. (1981). Mood and memory. American psychologist, 36(2), 129.

Boyce, P. R. (2003). Human factors in lighting. Crc press.

Bresciani, S., Ferraris, A., & Del Giudice, M. (2018). The management of organizational ambidexterity through alliances in a new context of analysis: Internet of

Things (IoT) smart city projects. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 136, 331-338.

Bressler, D. M., & Bodzin, A. M. (2013). A mixed methods assessment of students' flow experiences during a mobile augmented reality science game. Journal of computer assisted learning, 29(6), 505-517.

Bretón-López, J., Quero, S., Botella, C., García-Palacios, A., Baños, R. M., & Alcañiz, M. (2010). An augmented reality system validation for the treatment of cockroach phobia. Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking, 13(6), 705-710.

Buchner, A., & Baumgartner, N. (2007). Text–background polarity affects performance irrespective of ambient illumination and colour contrast. Ergonomics, 50(7), 1036-1063.

Bunn, M. D., Savage, G. T., & Holloway, B. B. (2002). Stakeholder analysis for multisector innovations. Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing, 17(2/3), 181-203.

Cail, F., & Salsi, S. (1992). La fatigue visuelle (Doctoral dissertation, Institut National de Recherche et de Sécurité (INRS)).

Carmigniani, J., & Furht, B. (2011). Augmented reality: an overview. Handbook of augmented reality, 3-46.

Carmigniani, J., Furht, B., Anisetti, M., Ceravolo, P., Damiani, E., & Ivkovic, M. (2011). Augmented reality technologies, systems and applications. Multimedia tools and applications, 51, 341-377.

Cathy (2011). The History of Augmented Reality. The Optical Vision Site. Available at: <u>http://www.theopticalvisionsite.com/history-of-eyewear/the-history-of-augmented-reality/</u>

Chang, C., Chang, M., & Heh, J. S. (2015). National palace museum adventure—a mobile educational role-playing game for museum learning. Ubiquitous learning environments and technologies, 201-223.

Chang, K. E., Chang, C. T., Hou, H. T., Sung, Y. T., Chao, H. L., & Lee, C. M. (2014). Development and behavioral pattern analysis of a mobile guide system with augmented reality for painting appreciation instruction in an art museum. Computers & education, 71, 185-197.

Chang, Y. L., Hou, H. T., Pan, C. Y., Sung, Y. T., & Chang, K. E. (2015). Apply an augmented reality in a mobile guidance to increase sense of place for heritage places. Journal of Educational Technology & Society, 18(2), 166-178.

Charr, M. (2024). How museums are using augmented reality. MuseumNext. Retrieved from <u>https://www.museumnext.com/article/how-museums-are-using-augmented-reality/</u>

Chawla, U., Yadav, P., Chugh, J. P., & Chadha, G. (2021). Study of Digital Eye Strain due to Extended Digital Device Use among Undergraduate Medical Students during the

COVID-19 Pandemic: A Cross Sectional Study. International Journal of All Research Education and Scientific Methods, 9(3), 991-998.

Chen, J. G., Wu, S. K., Chiu, H. P., Tu, C. N., & Liu, C. H. (2016). Evaluation of three tablet computers at two levels of ambient illumination. International Journal of Human–Computer Interaction, 32(5), 394-401.

Chen, M. T., & Lin, C. C. (2004). Comparison of TFT-LCD and CRT on visual recognition and subjective preference. International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics, 34(3), 167-174.

Chen, Y. L. (2016). The effects of virtual reality learning environment on student cognitive and linguistic development. The Asia-Pacific Education Researcher, 25, 637-646.

Chen, Y., Wang, X., Le, B., & Wang, L. (2024). Why people use augmented reality in heritage museums: a socio-technical perspective. Heritage Science, 12(1), 108.

Chi, C. F., & Lin, F. T. (1998). A comparison of seven visual fatigue assessment techniques in three data-acquisition VDT tasks. Human factors, 40(4), 577-590.

Chicchi Giglioli, I. A., Pallavicini, F., Pedroli, E., Serino, S., & Riva, G. (2015). Augmented reality: a brand new challenge for the assessment and treatment of psychological disorders. Computational and mathematical methods in medicine, 2015(1), 862942.

Chinazzo, G., Wienold, J., & Andersen, M. J. L. R. (2020). Influence of indoor temperature and daylight illuminance on visual perception. Lighting Research & Technology, 52(3), 350-370.

Chiu, W., Zeng, S., & Cheng, P. S. T. (2016). The influence of destination image and tourist satisfaction on tourist loyalty: a case study of Chinese tourists in Korea. International Journal of Culture, Tourism and Hospitality Research, 10(2), 223-234.

Chung, N., Han, H., & Joun, Y. (2015). Tourists' intention to visit a destination: The role of augmented reality (AR) application for a heritage site. Computers in human behavior, 50, 588-599.

Cipresso, P., Giglioli, I. A. C., Raya, M. A., & Riva, G. (2018). The past, present, and future of virtual and augmented reality research: a network and cluster analysis of the literature. Frontiers in psychology, 9, 2086.

Cleveland Museum of Art. (2023). ArtLens. Retrieved from <u>https://www.clevelandart.org/artlens-gallery</u>

Coles-Brennan, C., Sulley, A., & Young, G. (2019). Management of digital eye strain. Clinical and experimental Optometry, 102(1), 18-29.

Cuttle, C. (2015). Lighting design: a perception-based approach. Routledge.

Cyr, D., Head, M., & Larios, H. (2010). Colour appeal in website design within and across cultures: A multi-method evaluation. International journal of human-computer studies, 68(1-2), 1-21.

Czikszentmihalyi, M. (1990). Flow: The psychology of optimal experience (pp. 75-77). New York: Harper & Row.

De Buck, S., Maes, F., Ector, J., Bogaert, J., Dymarkowski, S., Heidbuchel, H., & Suetens, P. (2005). An augmented reality system for patient-specific guidance of cardiac catheter ablation procedures. IEEE Transactions on Medical Imaging, 24(11), 1512-1524.

De Rojas, C., & Camarero, C. (2008). Visitors' experience, mood and satisfaction in a heritage context: Evidence from an interpretation center. Tourism management, 29(3), 525-537.

Deed, C., & Alterator, S. (2017). Informal Learning Spaces and Their Impact on Learning in Higher Education: Framing New Narratives of Participation. Journal of Learning Spaces, 6(3), 54-58.

Del Amo, I. F., Galeotti, E., Palmarini, R., Dini, G., Erkoyuncu, J., & Roy, R. (2018). An innovative user-centred support tool for Augmented Reality maintenance systems design: a preliminary study. Procedia Cirp, 70, 362-367.

Deng, X., & Yu, Z. (2023). An extended hedonic motivation adoption model of TikTok in higher education. Education and Information Technologies, 28(10), 13595-13617.

DisplayCAL. (2023). Convert lux measurement to Nits? Retrieved from <u>https://hub.displaycal.net</u>

Do, H. N., Shih, W., & Ha, Q. A. (2020). Effects of mobile augmented reality apps on impulse buying behavior: An investigation in the tourism field. Heliyon, 6(8).

Dobres, J., Chahine, N., & Reimer, B. (2017). Effects of ambient illumination, contrast polarity, and letter size on text legibility under glance-like reading. Applied Ergonomics, 60, 68-73.

Dobres, J., Wolfe, B., Chahine, N., & Reimer, B. (2018). The effects of visual crowding, text size, and positional uncertainty on text legibility at a glance. Applied ergonomics, 70, 240-246.

Driediger, F., & Bhatiasevi, V. (2019). Online grocery shopping in Thailand: Consumer acceptance and usage behavior. Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services, 48, 224-237.

Dunleavy, M., & Dede, C. (2014). Augmented reality teaching and learning. Handbook of research on educational communications and technology, 735-745.

Eisen-Enosh, A., Farah, N., Burgansky-Eliash, Z., Polat, U., & Mandel, Y. (2017). Evaluation of critical flicker-fusion frequency measurement methods for the investigation of visual temporal resolution. Scientific reports, 7(1), 15621.

El Sayed, N. A., Zayed, H. H., & Sharawy, M. I. (2010, December). ARSC: Augmented reality student card. In 2010 International computer engineering conference (ICENCO) (pp. 113-120). IEEE.

Emoto, M., Niida, T., & Okano, F. (2005). Repeated vergence adaptation causes the decline of visual functions in watching stereoscopic television. Journal of display technology, 1(2), 328.

Emoto, M., Nojiri, Y., & Okano, F. (2004). Changes in fusional vergence limit and its hysteresis after viewing stereoscopic TV. Displays, 25(2-3), 67-76.

Erensoy, A., Mathrani, A., Schnack, A., Elms, J., & Baghaei, N. (2024). Consumer behavior in immersive virtual reality retail environments: A systematic literature review using the stimuli-organisms-responses (S-O-r) model. Journal of Consumer Behaviour.

Ericsson, K. A., Krampe, R. T., & Tesch-Römer, C. (1993). The role of deliberate practice in the acquisition of expert performance. Psychological review, 100(3), 363.

Espino, D. P., Wright, T., Brown, V. M., Mbasu, Z., Sweeney, M., & Lee, S. B. (2021). Student emotions in the shift to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. In Advances in Quantitative Ethnography: Second International Conference, ICQE 2020, Malibu, CA, USA, February 1-3, 2021, Proceedings 2 (pp. 334-347). Springer International Publishing.

Estrada, C. A., Isen, A. M., & Young, M. J. (1994). Positive affect improves creative problem solving and influences reported source of practice satisfaction in physicians. Motivation and emotion, 18, 285-299.

Feiner, S., MacIntyre, B., Höllerer, T., & Webster, A. (1997). A touring machine: Prototyping 3D mobile augmented reality systems for exploring the urban environment. Personal Technologies, 1, 208-217.

Forgas, J. P. (2000). Affect and information processing strategies: An interactive relationship.

Fornell, C., Johnson, M. D., Anderson, E. W., Cha, J., & Bryant, B. E. (1996). The American customer satisfaction index: nature, purpose, and findings. Journal of marketing, 60(4), 7-18.

Fredrickson, B. L. (1998). What good are positive emotions?. Review of general psychology, 2(3), 300-319.

Fredrickson, B. L. (2001). The role of positive emotions in positive psychology: The broaden-and-build theory of positive emotions. American psychologist, 56(3), 218.

Friedman, J. (2024). How to convert nits to lux. eHow UK. Retrieved from https://www.ehow.co.uk/how 7448702 convert-nits-lux.html

Gabbard, J. L., Swan, J. E., & Hix, D. (2006). The effects of text drawing styles, background textures, and natural lighting on text legibility in outdoor augmented reality. Presence, 15(1), 16-32.

Ghafourian, Y., Hanbury, A., & Knoth, P. (2023, September). Readability Measures as Predictors of Understandability and Engagement in Searching to Learn. In International Conference on Theory and Practice of Digital Libraries (pp. 173-181). Cham: Springer Nature Switzerland.

Gobba, F. M., Broglia, A., Sarti, R., Luberto, F., & Cavalleri, A. (1988). Visual fatigue in video display terminal operators: objective measure and relation to environmental conditions. International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health, 60, 81-87.

Green, B. N., Johnson, C. D., & Adams, A. (2006). Writing narrative literature reviews for peer-reviewed journals: secrets of the trade. Journal of chiropractic medicine, 5(3), 101-117.

Guttentag, D., Griffin, T., & Lee, S. H. (2018). The future is now: how virtual reality and augmented reality are transforming tourism. The Sage handbook of tourism management, 443-462.

Hakkinen, J., Vuori, T., & Paakka, M. (2002, October). Postural stability and sickness symptoms after HMD use. In IEEE international conference on systems, man and cybernetics (Vol. 1, pp. 147-152). Yasmine Hammamet: IEEE.

Halberstadt, J., & Rhodes, G. (2003). It's not just average faces that are attractive: Computer-manipulated averageness makes birds, fish, and automobiles attractive. Psychonomic Bulletin & Review, 10(1), 149-156.

Hartley, J. (2013). Designing instructional text. Routledge.

Hassenzahl, M. (2004). The interplay of beauty, goodness, and usability in interactive products. Human–Computer Interaction, 19(4), 319-349.

Hawes, D. J., Dadds, M. R., Frost, A. D., & Russell, A. (2013). Parenting practices and prospective levels of hyperactivity/inattention across early-and middle-childhood. Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment, 35, 273-282.

HEUER, H., HOLLENDIEK, G., KRÖGER, H., & RÖMER, T. (1989). The resting position of the eyes and its influence on observation distance and visual fatigue during computer work. Journal of experimental and applied psychology, 36 (4), 538-566.

Hidayat, R., & Wardat, Y. (2024). A systematic review of augmented reality in science, technology, engineering and mathematics education. Education and Information Technologies, 29(8), 9257-9282.

Hiruma, N., & Fukuda, T. (1993). Accommodation response to binocular stereoscopic TV images and their viewing conditions. SMPTE journal, 102(12), 1137-1140.

Hoffman, D. M., Girshick, A. R., Akeley, K., & Banks, M. S. (2008). Vergence– accommodation conflicts hinder visual performance and cause visual fatigue. Journal of vision, 8(3), 33-33.

Holbrook, M. B., & Hirschman, E. C. (1982). The experiential aspects of consumption: Consumer fantasies, feelings, and fun. Journal of consumer research, 9(2), 132-140.

Höllerer, T., & Feiner, S. (2004). Mobile augmented reality. Telegeoinformatics: Location-based computing and services, 21, 221-260.

Hong-Ting, L. I., Yan-Xia, Z. H. A. N. G., Wei-Dan, X. U., & Lou-Tiao, Z. H. A. N. G. (2013). Research of optimal parameters of phone screen brightness under different environmental illuminance—Take Samsung S5660 for example. Journal of Psychological Science, 36(5), 1110.

Hosany, S., & Prayag, G. (2013). Patterns of tourists' emotional responses, satisfaction, and intention to recommend. Journal of Business Research, 66(6), 730-737.

Howard, I. P., & Rogers, B. J. (2002). Depth perception. Stevens' handbook of experimental psychology Sensation and Perception, 1, 77-120.

Howarth, P. A., & Costello, P. J. (1997). The occurrence of virtual simulation sickness symptoms when an HMD was used as a personal viewing system. Displays, 18(2), 107-116.

Huang, H. P., Ou, L. C., & Yuan, Y. (2017). Effects of age and ambient illuminance on visual comfort for reading on a mobile device. Color Research & Application, 42(3), 352-361.

Huang, T. (2023). Using SOR framework to explore the driving factors of older adults smartphone use behavior. Humanities and Social Sciences Communications, 10(1), 1-16.

Huang, W., Alem, L., & Livingston, M. A. (Eds.). (2012). Human factors in augmented reality environments. Springer Science & Business Media.

Huber, J. (2014). A research overview of mobile projected user interfaces. Informatik-Spektrum, 37(5), 464-473.

Hung, G. K. (2001). Models of oculomotor control. World Scientific.

Hussim, H., Rosli, R., Mohd Nor, N. A. Z., Maat, S. M., Mahmud, M. S., Iksan, Z., ... & Lay, A. N. (2024). A Systematic Literature Review of Informal STEM Learning. European Journal of STEM Education, 9(1), 07.

IJsselsteijn, W. A. (2003). Presence in the past: what can we learn from media history?. In Being there: concepts, effects and measurements of user presence in synthetic environments (pp. 17-40). Ios Press.

Inoue, T., & Ohzu, H. (1997). Accommodative responses to stereoscopic threedimensional display. Applied optics, 36(19), 4509-4515.

International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10). (n.d.). H53.1: Subjective visual disturbances. World Health Organization. Retrieved from https://icd.who.int/browse10/2016/en#/H53.1

International Symposium on Environmental Annoyance (1986: Woudschoten), & Koelega, H. S. (1987). Environmental annoyance: characterization, measurement, and control: proceedings of the International Symposium on Environmental Annoyance, held at the Conference Centre Woudschoten, The Netherlands, 15-18 September 1986. Elsevier Science Publ..

International Telecommunication Union. (2010). Guidelines on metrics to be used when tailoring television programmes to broadcasting applications at various image quality levels, display sizes and aspect ratios (ITU-R Rec. BT.1845-1). ITU-R.

Isen, A. M. (1987). Positive affect, cognitive processes, and social behavior. In Advances in experimental social psychology (Vol. 20, pp. 203-253). Academic Press.

ITU-R-BT.500-11, Methodology for the subjective assessment of the quality of television pictures, Tech. rep., International Telecommunication Union (2004).

Jaschinski, W., Bonacker, M., & Alshuth, E. (1996). Accommodation, convergence, pupil diameter and eye blinks at a CRT display flickering near fusion limit. Ergonomics, 39(1), 152-164.

Kalra, P., & Karar, V. (2020, December). Impact of Symbology Luminance and Task Complexity on Visual Fatigue in AR Environments. In International Conference of the Indian Society of Ergonomics (pp. 329-338). Singapore: Springer Nature Singapore.

Kano, Y. (2022). Bio-photogrammetry: digitally archiving coloured 3D morphology data of creatures and associated challenges. Research Ideas and Outcomes, 8, e86985.

Kennedy, R. S., Drexler, J., & Kennedy, R. C. (2010). Research in visually induced motion sickness. Applied ergonomics, 41(4), 494-503.

Kennedy, R. S., Lane, N. E., Berbaum, K. S., & Lilienthal, M. G. (1993). Simulator sickness questionnaire: An enhanced method for quantifying simulator sickness. The international journal of aviation psychology, 3(3), 203-220.

Kim, H., & Fesenmaier, D. R. (2008). Persuasive design of destination web sites: An analysis of first impression. Journal of Travel research, 47(1), 3-13.

Kim, Y. H., Kim, D. J., & Wachter, K. (2013). A study of mobile user engagement (MoEN): Engagement motivations, perceived value, satisfaction, and continued engagement intention. Decision support systems, 56, 361-370.

Klein, K. J., & Knight, A. P. (2005). Innovation implementation: Overcoming the challenge. Current directions in psychological science, 14(5), 243-246.

Klein, K. J., & Sorra, J. S. (1996). The challenge of innovation implementation. Academy of management review, 21(4), 1055-1080.

Kotranza, A., Lind, D. S., Pugh, C. M., & Lok, B. (2009, October). Real-time in-situ visual feedback of task performance in mixed environments for learning joint psychomotor-cognitive tasks. In 2009 8th IEEE International Symposium on Mixed and Augmented Reality (pp. 125-134). IEEE.

Kuhl, J. (1986). Motivation and information processing: A new look at decision making, dynamic change, and action control.

Kuze, J., & Ukai, K. (2008). Subjective evaluation of visual fatigue caused by motion images. Displays, 29(2), 159-166.

Lalicic, L., & Weismayer, C. (2016). The passionate use of mobiles phones among tourists. Information Technology & Tourism, 16, 153-173.

Lambie, A. J. (2015). Directing attention in an augmented reality environment: an attentional tunneling evaluation. Rochester Institute of Technology.

Lambooij, M., IJsselsteijn, W., Fortuin, M., & Heynderickx, I. (2009). Visual discomfort and visual fatigue of stereoscopic displays: a review. Journal of imaging science and technology, 53(3), 30201-1.

Larson, K., & Picard, R. (2005, February). The aesthetics of reading. In Appears in Human-Computer Interaction Consortium Conference, Snow Mountain Ranch, Fraser, Colorado.

LaViola Jr, J. J. (2000). A discussion of cybersickness in virtual environments. ACM Sigchi Bulletin, 32(1), 47-56.

Lee, J., Kyle, G., & Scott, D. (2012). The mediating effect of place attachment on the relationship between festival satisfaction and loyalty to the festival hosting destination. Journal of travel research, 51(6), 754-767.

Lee, S., & Koubek, R. J. (2010). The effects of usability and web design attributes on user preference for e-commerce web sites. Computers in Industry, 61(4), 329-341.

Lee, S., Jeong, E., & Qu, K. (2020). Exploring theme park visitors' experience on satisfaction and revisit intention: A utilization of experience economy model. Journal of Quality Assurance in Hospitality & Tourism, 21(4), 474-497.

Lidwell, W., Holden, K., & Butler, J. (2010). Universal principles of design, revised and updated: 125 ways to enhance usability, influence perception, increase appeal, make better design decisions, and teach through design. Rockport Pub.

Lin, C. C. (2014). Effect of noise intensity and illumination intensity on visual performance. Perceptual and motor skills, 119(2), 441-454.

Lin, C. C., & Huang, K. C. (2006). Effects of ambient illumination and screen luminance combination on character identification performance of desktop TFT-LCD monitors. International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics, 36(3), 211-218.

Lin, C. H., & Hsu, P. H. (2017, January). Integrating procedural modelling process and immersive VR environment for architectural design education. In 2017 2ND INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON MECHANICAL, MANUFACTURING, MODELING AND MECHATRONICS (IC4M 2017)-2017 2ND INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON DESIGN, ENGINEERING AND SCIENCE (ICDES 2017) (Vol. 104, pp. 0-0).

Lin, C. P., & Bhattacherjee, A. (2010). Extending technology usage models to interactive hedonic technologies: a theoretical model and empirical test. Information systems journal, 20(2), 163-181.

Lin, W., Lo, W. T., & Yueh, H. P. (2022). Effects of learner control design in an ARbased exhibit on visitors' museum learning. PloS one, 17(10), e0274826.

Ling, J., & Van Schaik, P. (2002). The effect of text and background colour on visual search of Web pages. Displays, 23(5), 223-230.

Liu, K. S., Chiang, C. M., & Lin, Y. S. (2010). Influences of visual fatigue on the productivity of subjects using visual display terminals in a light-emitting diode lighting environment. Architectural Science Review, 53(4), 384-395.

Liu, T., Lin, C. C., Huang, K. C., & Chen, Y. C. (2017). Effects of noise type, noise intensity, and illumination intensity on reading performance. Applied Acoustics, 120, 70-74.

Liversedge, S., Gilchrist, I., & Everling, S. (Eds.). (2011). The Oxford handbook of eye movements. OUP Oxford.

Livingston, M. A., Rosenblum, L. J., Brown, D. G., Schmidt, G. S., Julier, S. J., Baillot, Y., ... & Maassel, P. (2011). Military applications of augmented reality. Handbook of augmented reality, 671-706.

Lu, L., & Lou, J. (2017). The impact of ambient lighting on the readability of augmented reality content. Journal of Ambient Intelligence and Smart Environments, 9(6), 739-749.

Lyubomirsky, S., King, L., & Diener, E. (2005). The benefits of frequent positive affect: Does happiness lead to success?. Psychological bulletin, 131(6), 803.

Mannion, S. (2011). British Museum-Augmented Reality: Beyond the Hype. Online: http://museum-id. com/eventdetail. asp.

Martín-Ruiz, D., Castellanos-Verdugo, M., & de los Ángeles Oviedo-García, M. (2010). A visitors' evaluation index for a visit to an archaeological site. Tourism Management, 31(5), 590-596.

Mayer, R. E. (2014). Incorporating motivation into multimedia learning. Learning and instruction, 29, 171-173.

McLean, G., & Wilson, A. (2019). Shopping in the digital world: Examining customer engagement through augmented reality mobile applications. Computers in human behavior, 101, 210-224.

Mehrabian, A., & Russell, J. A. (1974). An approach to environmental psychology. the MIT Press.

Milgram, P., Takemura, H., Utsumi, A., & Kishino, F. (1995, December). Augmented reality: A class of displays on the reality-virtuality continuum. In Telemanipulator and telepresence technologies (Vol. 2351, pp. 282-292). Spie.

Mittelstaedt, J. M., Wacker, J., & Stelling, D. (2019). VR aftereffect and the relation of cybersickness and cognitive performance. Virtual Reality, 23, 143-154.

Miyashita, T. (1990). Cause of fatigue and its improvement in stereoscopic displays. Pro. SID, 31, 249-254.

Mizuno, K., Tanaka, M., Fukuda, S., Yamano, E., Shigihara, Y., Imai-Matsumura, K., & Watanabe, Y. (2011). Low visual information-processing speed and attention are predictors of fatigue in elementary and junior high school students. Behavioral and Brain Functions, 7, 1-7.

Mizushina, H., Ando, H., Kochiyama, T., & Masaki, S. (2009, December). Measurements of vergence and accommodation while viewing a real 3D scene and its 2D image on a display. In Proceedings of the 3rd international universal communication symposium (pp. 285-288).

Mokmin, N. A. M., Hanjun, S., Jing, C., & Qi, S. (2024). Impact of an AR-based learning approach on the learning achievement, motivation, and cognitive load of students on a design course. Journal of Computers in Education, 11(2), 557-574.

Murata, K., Araki, S., Kawakami, N., Saito, Y., & Hino, E. (1991). Central nervous system effects and visual fatigue in VDT workers. International archives of occupational and environmental health, 63, 109-113.

N., Sam M.S. (2013, April 7). Affective state. In PsychologyDictionary.org. Retrieved March 2, 2024, from https://psychologydictionary.org/affective-state/

Na, N., & Suk, H. J. (2015). Adaptive display luminance for viewing smartphones under low illuminance. Optics express, 23(13), 16912-16920.

Nincarean, D., Alia, M. B., Halim, N. D. A., & Rahman, M. H. A. (2013). Mobile augmented reality: The potential for education. Procedia-social and behavioral sciences, 103, 657-664.

Nojiri, Y., Yamanoue, H., Hanazato, A., & Okano, F. (2003, May). Measurement of parallax distribution and its application to the analysis of visual comfort for stereoscopic HDTV. In Stereoscopic Displays and Virtual Reality Systems X (Vol. 5006, pp. 195-205). SPIE.

Oberlo. (2024). How many people have smartphones in 2024? Retrieved from https://www.oberlo.com/statistics/how-many-people-have-smartphones

Ogata, M., Ukai, K., & Kawai, T. (2005). Visual fatigue in congenital nystagmus caused by viewing images of color sequential projectors. Journal of display technology, 1(2), 314-320.

Okada, Y., Ukai, K., Wolffsohn, J. S., Gilmartin, B., Iijima, A., & Bando, T. (2006). Target spatial frequency determines the response to conflicting defocus-and convergence-driven accommodative stimuli. Vision research, 46(4), 475-484.

Oliver, R. L. (1980). A cognitive model of the antecedents and consequences of satisfaction decisions. Journal of marketing research, 17(4), 460-469.

ONO, S., & Ukai, K. (2000). Subjective Evaluation of Motion Sickness Following Game Play with Head Mounted Display. 映像情報メディア学会誌, 54(6), 887-891.

Ozbek, C. S., Giesler, B., & Dillmann, R. (2004, May). Jedi training: playful evaluation of head-mounted augmented reality display systems. In Stereoscopic Displays and Virtual Reality Systems XI (Vol. 5291, pp. 454-463). SPIE.

Pajares, F. (1996). Self-efficacy beliefs in academic settings. Review of educational research, 66(4), 543-578.

Pakhalov, A. M., & Dosaykina, L. M. (2021, June). Enhancing revisit intention through emotions and place identity: a case of the local theme restaurant. In Culture and Tourism in a Smart, Globalized, and Sustainable World: 7th International Conference of IACuDiT, Hydra, Greece, 2020 (pp. 661-672). Cham: Springer International Publishing.

Park, S. H., Kim, H. Y., & Choi, J. S. (2020). Optimizing luminance settings for legibility of moving text in augmented reality. Park, S. H., Kim, H. Y., & Choi, J. S. (2020). Optimizing luminance settings for legibility of moving text in augmented reality. Journal of Display Technology, 16(3), 148-155.

Patterson, R., & Martin, W. L. (1992). Human stereopsis. Human factors, 34(6), 669-692.

Pe, M. L., Koval, P., & Kuppens, P. (2013). Executive well-being: Updating of positive stimuli in working memory is associated with subjective well-being. Cognition, 126(2), 335-340.

Pekrun, R., Goetz, T., Titz, W., & Perry, R. P. (2002). Academic emotions in students' self-regulated learning and achievement: A program of qualitative and quantitative research. Educational psychologist, 37(2), 91-105.

Piepenbrock, C., Mayr, S., Mund, I., & Buchner, A. (2013). Positive display polarity is advantageous for both younger and older adults. Ergonomics, 56(7), 1116-1124.

Pintrich, P. R. (2003). A motivational science perspective on the role of student motivation in learning and teaching contexts. Journal of educational Psychology, 95(4), 667.

Pintrich, P. R., & De Groot, E. V. (1990). Motivational and self-regulated learning components of classroom academic performance. Journal of educational psychology, 82(1), 33.

Prayag, G., & Ryan, C. (2012). Antecedents of tourists' loyalty to Mauritius: The role and influence of destination image, place attachment, personal involvement, and satisfaction. Journal of travel research, 51(3), 342-356.

Radu, I. (2014). Augmented reality in education: a meta-review and cross-media analysis. Personal and ubiquitous computing, 18, 1533-1543.

Ranasinghe, P., Wathurapatha, W. S., Perera, Y. S., Lamabadusuriya, D. A., Kulatunga, S., Jayawardana, N., & Katulanda, P. (2016). Computer vision syndrome among computer office workers in a developing country: an evaluation of prevalence and risk factors. BMC research notes, 9, 1-9.

Rayner, K. (1998). Eye movements in reading and information processing: 20 years of research. Psychological bulletin, 124(3), 372.

Rea, M. S., & Ouellette, M. J. (1991). Relative visual performance: A basis for application. Lighting Research & Technology, 23(3), 135-144.

Reber, R., Schwarz, N., & Winkielman, P. (2004). Processing fluency and aesthetic pleasure: Is beauty in the perceiver's processing experience?. Personality and social psychology review, 8(4), 364-382.

Regenbrecht, H., Baratoff, G., & Wilke, W. (2005). Augmented reality projects in the automotive and aerospace industries. IEEE computer graphics and applications, 25(6), 48-56.

Rello, L., Baeza-Yates, R., Bott, S., & Saggion, H. (2013, May). Simplify or help? Text simplification strategies for people with dyslexia. In Proceedings of the 10th international cross-disciplinary conference on web accessibility (pp. 1-10).
RM, R. (2001). On happiness and human potential: A review of research on hedonic and eudaimonic well-being. Annual Review of Psycholigy, 52, 167-196.

Rosenbaum, E., Klopfer, E., & Perry, J. (2007). On location learning: Authentic applied science with networked augmented realities. Journal of Science Education and Technology, 16, 31-45.

Rosenfield, M. (2011). Computer vision syndrome: a review of ocular causes and potential treatments. Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics, 31(5), 502-515.

Roussou, M., & Katifori, A. (2018). Flow, staging, wayfinding, personalization: Evaluating user experience with mobile museum narratives. Multimodal Technologies and Interaction, 2(2), 32.

Russell, J. A. (1980). A circumplex model of affect. Journal of personality and social psychology, 39(6), 1161.

Russo, M. (2021). AR in the Architecture Domain: State of the Art. Applied Sciences, 11(15), 6800.

Sabarinathan, K., Kanagasabapathy, N., Kumar, V. A., Rishikesh, P. K., Priyadharshan, R. V., & Abirami, A. (2018, October). Machine maintenance using augmented reality. In 2018 3rd International Conference on Communication and Electronics Systems (ICCES) (pp. 613-618). IEEE.

Saito, S. (1992). Does fatigue exist in a quantitative measurement of eye movements?. Ergonomics, 35(5-6), 607-615.

Sakai, K. (2002). Japan industrial hygienics association industrial fatigue research society revision work on "subjective symptoms survey". Labor Science, 57, 295–298.

Schanda, J. (Ed.). (2007). Colorimetry: understanding the CIE system. John Wiley & Sons.

Schiffman, R. M., Christianson, M. D., Jacobsen, G., Hirsch, J. D., & Reis, B. L. (2000). Reliability and validity of the ocular surface disease index. Archives of ophthalmology, 118(5), 615-621.

Schor, C., Wood, I., & Ogawa, J. (1984). Binocular sensory fusion is limited by spatial resolution. Vision research, 24(7), 661-665.

Schreiber, K. M., Hillis, J. M., Filippini, H. R., Schor, C. M., & Banks, M. S. (2008). The surface of the empirical.

Schreiner, M., Fischer, T., & Riedl, R. (2021). Impact of content characteristics and emotion on behavioral engagement in social media: literature review and research agenda. Electronic Commerce Research, 21, 329-345.

Schunk, D. H. (1984). Self-efficacy perspective on achievement behavior. Educational psychologist, 19(1), 48-58.

Schunk, D. H. (1991). Self-efficacy and academic motivation. Educational psychologist, 26(3-4), 207-231.

Schwald, B., & De Laval, B. (2003). An augmented reality system for training and assistance to maintenance in the industrial context.

Serravalle, F., Ferraris, A., Vrontis, D., Thrassou, A., & Christofi, M. (2019). Tourism Management Perspectives. Tourism Management, 32, 100549.

Serravalle, F., Ferraris, A., Vrontis, D., Thrassou, A., & Christofi, M. (2019). Augmented reality in the tourism industry: A multi-stakeholder analysis of museums. Tourism Management Perspectives, 32, 100549.

Seuntiëns, P. J., Meesters, L. M., & IJsselsteijn, W. A. (2005). Perceptual attributes of crosstalk in 3D images. Displays, 26(4-5), 177-183.

Sheedy, J. E., Hayes, J., & Engle, A. J. (2003). Is all asthenopia the same?. Optometry and vision science, 80(11), 732-739.

Shelton, B. E., & Hedley, N. R. (2002, September). Using augmented reality for teaching earth-sun relationships to undergraduate geography students. In The First IEEE International Workshop Agumented Reality Toolkit, (pp. 8-pp). IEEE.

Sheppard, A. L., & Wolffsohn, J. S. (2018). Digital eye strain: prevalence, measurement and amelioration. BMJ open ophthalmology, 3(1), e000146.

Simonson, E., Enzer, N., & Blankstein, S. S. (1941). The influence of age on the fusion frequency of flicker. Journal of Experimental Psychology, 29(3), 252.

Sitzmann, T., Ely, K., Brown, K. G., & Bauer, K. N. (2010). Self-assessment of knowledge: A cognitive learning or affective measure?. Academy of Management Learning & Education, 9(2), 169-191.

Smithsonian Institution. (2023). Apollo's Moon Shot AR. Retrieved from https://www.si.edu/mobile

Solimini, A. G. (2013). Are there side effects to watching 3D movies? A prospective crossover observational study on visually induced motion sickness. PloS one, 8(2), e56160.

Squire, K. D., & Jan, M. (2007). Mad city mystery: Developing scientific argumentation skills with a place-based augmented reality game on handheld computers. Journal of science education and technology, 16, 5-29.

Stephan, M., Markus, S., & Gläser-Zikuda, M. (2019, October). Students' achievement emotions and online learning in teacher education. In Frontiers in education (Vol. 4, p. 109). Frontiers Media SA.

Stoltz, M. H., Giannikas, V., McFarlane, D., Strachan, J., Um, J., & Srinivasan, R. (2017). Augmented reality in warehouse operations: opportunities and barriers. IFAC-PapersOnLine, 50(1), 12979-12984.

Sung, E., & Mayer, R. E. (2012). Five facets of social presence in online distance education. Computers in human behavior, 28(5), 1738-1747.

Sutherland, I. E. (1965, May). The ultimate display. In Proceedings of the IFIP Congress (Vol. 2, No. 506-508, pp. 506-508).

Suzumura, A. (1981). Ocular fatigue. Ganka, 23, 799-804.

Sweller, J. (1988). Cognitive load during problem solving: Effects on learning. Cognitive science, 12(2), 257-285.

Sweller, J., Ayres, P., Kalyuga, S., Sweller, J., Ayres, P., & Kalyuga, S. (2011). Intrinsic and extraneous cognitive load. Cognitive load theory, 57-69.

Takeda, T., Hashimoto, K., Hiruma, N., & Fukui, Y. (1999). Characteristics of accommodation toward apparent depth. Vision Research, 39(12), 2087-2097.

Tam, W. J., Speranza, F., Yano, S., Shimono, K., & Ono, H. (2011). Stereoscopic 3D-TV: visual comfort. IEEE transactions on broadcasting, 57(2), 335-346.

Tinker, M. A. (1966). Experimental studies on the legibility of print: an annotated bibliography. Reading Research Quarterly, 67-118.

Tomiuc, A. (2014). Navigating culture. Enhancing visitor museum experience through mobile technologies. From Smartphone to Google Glass. Journal of Media Research-Revista de Studii Media, 7(20), 33-46.

Tosun, C., Dedeoğlu, B. B., & Fyall, A. (2015). Destination service quality, affective image and revisit intention: The moderating role of past experience. Journal of Destination Marketing & Management, 4(4), 222-234.

Tussyadiah, I. P., Jung, T. H., & Tom Dieck, M. C. (2018). Embodiment of wearable augmented reality technology in tourism experiences. Journal of Travel research, 57(5), 597-611.

Ukai, K., & Howarth, P. A. (2008). Visual fatigue caused by viewing stereoscopic motion images: Background, theories, and observations. Displays, 29(2), 106-116.

Unal, M., Unal, F. Z., Bostanci, E., & Guzel, M. S. (2021). Augmented reality and new opportunities for cultural heritage. In Augmented Reality in Tourism, Museums and Heritage: A New Technology to Inform and Entertain (pp. 213-225). Cham: Springer International Publishing.

Urvoy, M., Barkowsky, M., & Le Callet, P. (2013). How visual fatigue and discomfort impact 3D-TV quality of experience: a comprehensive review of technological,

psychophysical, and psychological factors. annals of telecommunications-annales des télécommunications, 68(11), 641-655.

Valtchanov, D., Barton, K. R., & Ellard, C. G. (2010). Restorative effects of virtual nature settings. Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking, 13(5), 503-512.

van Bommel, W., & van Bommel, W. (2019). Visual Performance. Interior Lighting: Fundamentals, Technology and Application, 57-87.

Venkatesh, V., Thong, J. Y., & Xu, X. (2012). Consumer acceptance and use of information technology: extending the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology. MIS quarterly, 157-178.

Von Helmholtz, H. (1867). Handbuch der physiologischen Optik (Vol. 9). Voss.

Wang, A. H., Kuo, H. T., & Huang, S. (2010, July). Effects of polarity and ambient illuminance on the searching performance and visual fatigue for various aged users. In The 40th International Conference on Computers & Indutrial Engineering (pp. 1-3). IEEE.

Wang, Y. D., & Emurian, H. H. (2005). An overview of online trust: Concepts, elements, and implications. Computers in human behavior, 21(1), 105-125.

Wann, J. P., Rushton, S., & Mon-Williams, M. (1995). Natural problems for stereoscopic depth perception in virtual environments. Vision research, 35(19), 2731-2736.

Weintraub, N. (2023). Handwriting Difficulties: Different Manifestations and Underlying Functions. In The Hitchhiker's Guide to Writing Research: A Festschrift for Steve Graham (pp. 211-231). Cham: Springer International Publishing.

Wheatstone, C. (1838). XVIII. Contributions to the physiology of vision.—Part the first. On some remarkable, and hitherto unobserved, phenomena of binocular vision. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London, (128), 371-394.

Wickens, C. D., Gordon, S. E., Liu, Y., & Lee, J. (2004). An introduction to human factors engineering (Vol. 2, p. 587). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Prentice Hall.

Wickens, C. D., Hollands, J. G., Banbury, S., & Parasuraman, R. (2015). Engineering psychology & human performance. Psychology Press.

Wojciechowski, R., & Cellary, W. (2013). Evaluation of learners' attitude toward learning in ARIES augmented reality environments. Computers & education, 68, 570-585.

Wolska, A., & Śwituła, M. (1999). Luminance of the surround and visual fatigue of VDT operators. International Journal of Occupational Safety and Ergonomics, 5(4), 553-580.

Woods, A. J. (2012). Crosstalk in stereoscopic displays: a review. Journal of Electronic Imaging, 21(4), 040902-040902.

Wright, B., & Rainwater, L. (1962). The meanings of color. The Journal of general psychology, 67(1), 89-99.

Wrzesien, M., Alcañiz, M., Botella, C., Burkhardt, J. M., Bretón-López, J., Ortega, M., & Brotons, D. B. (2013). The therapeutic lamp: treating small-animal phobias. IEEE computer graphics and applications, 33(1), 80-86.

Wu, H. C., & Li, T. (2017). A study of experiential quality, perceived value, heritage image, experiential satisfaction, and behavioral intentions for heritage tourists. Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Research, 41(8), 904-944.

Wu, H. K., Lee, S. W. Y., Chang, H. Y., & Liang, J. C. (2013). Current status, opportunities and challenges of augmented reality in education. Computers & education, 62, 41-49.

Xsite. (2023). Transforming education in museums with augmented reality (AR). Medium. Retrieved from https://medium.com/@xsite.com/transforming-education-inmuseums-with-augmented-reality-ar

Yang, S. N., Schlieski, T., Selmins, B., Cooper, S. C., Doherty, R. A., Corriveau, P. J., & Sheedy, J. E. (2012). Stereoscopic viewing and reported perceived immersion and symptoms. Optometry and vision science, 89(7), 1068-1080.

Yano, S., Emoto, M., & Mitsuhashi, T. (2004). Two factors in visual fatigue caused by stereoscopic HDTV images. Displays, 25(4), 141-150.

Yano, S., Ide, S., Mitsuhashi, T., & Thwaites, H. (2002). A study of visual fatigue and visual comfort for 3D HDTV/HDTV images. Displays, 23(4), 191-201.

Ye, C., Liu, Z., Zhang, J. Q., & Wu, M. G. (2014). Effect of environmental illumination on optimal value of mobile phone brightness. Chin. J. Liq. Cryst. Disp, 29, 1042-1049.

Yoon, S. A., Elinich, K., Wang, J., Steinmeier, C., & Tucker, S. (2012). Using augmented reality and knowledge-building scaffolds to improve learning in a science museum. International Journal of Computer-Supported Collaborative Learning, 7, 519-541.

Yoon, S., Anderson, E., Lin, J., & Elinich, K. (2017). How augmented reality enables conceptual understanding of challenging science content. Journal of Educational Technology & Society, 20(1), 156-168.

Yoon, Y., & Uysal, M. (2005). An examination of the effects of motivation and satisfaction on destination loyalty: a structural model. Tourism management, 26(1), 45-56.

Yu, H., & Akita, T. (2020). Influence of ambient-tablet PC luminance ratio on legibility and visual fatigue during long-term reading in low lighting environment. Displays, 62, 101943.

Yu, H., Akita, T., Koga, T., & Sano, N. (2018). Effect of character contrast ratio of tablet PC and ambient device luminance ratio on readability in low ambient illuminance. Displays, 52, 46-54.

Zaman, I., Xiang, L., & Pandya, G. (2022). Noise-induced annoyance and its health implications. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 29(8), 45-57.

Zhang, C. A., Tang, L., & Liu, Z. (2023). How social media usage affects psychological and subjective well-being: testing a moderated mediation model. BMC psychology, 11(1), 286.

Zhang, R., Yang, Y., Fang, Q., Liu, Y., Zhu, X., Wang, M., & Su, L. (2020). Effect of indoors artificial lighting conditions on computer-based learning performance. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(7), 2537.

Zhdanov, A. D., Zhdanov, D. D., Bogdanov, N. N., Potemin, I. S., Galaktionov, V. A., & Sorokin, M. I. (2019). Discomfort of visual perception in virtual and mixed reality systems. Programming and Computer Software, 45, 147-155.

Zhou, Y., Chen, J., & Wang, M. (2022). A meta-analytic review on incorporating virtual and augmented reality in museum learning. Educational Research Review, 36, 100454.

Zhou, Y., Shi, H., Chen, Q. W., Ru, T., & Zhou, G. (2021). Investigation of the optimum display luminance of an LCD screen under different ambient illuminances in the evening. Applied Sciences, 11(9), 4108.

Zimmerman, B. J. (2000). Self-efficacy: An essential motive to learn. Contemporary educational psychology, 25(1), 82-91.

## Appendix

## **Appendix A. Ethics Approval Certificate**



Approbation du projet par le comité déthique suite à l'approbation conditionnelle Comité déthique de la recherche - HEC Montréal

Exporté le 2024-07-21 05:25 par Mohapatra, Amritam --- CODE DE VALIDATION NAGANO: hec-a511e006-915-4

1/2



Comité d'éthique de la recherche

#### CERTIFICAT D'APPROBATION ÉTHIQUE

La présente atteste que le projet de recherche décrit ci-dessous a fait l'objet d'une évaluation en matière d'éthique de la recherche avec des êtres humains et qu'il satisfait aux exigences de notre politique en cette matière.

Projet # : 2023-5269

Titre du projet de recherche : Confort visuel et expérience utilisateur

**Chercheur principal :** Pierre-Majorique Léger, Professeur titulaire, Technologies de l'information, HEC Montréal

Cochercheurs : Sylvain Sénécal; François Courtemanche; David Brieugne; Frédérique Bouvier; Xavier Côté; Salima Tazi

Date d'approbation du projet : 13 février 2023

Date d'entrée en vigueur du certificat : 13 février 2023

Date d'échéance du certificat : 13 février 2024

My M

Maurice Lemelin Président CER de HEC Montréal

Signé le 2023-02-13 à 15:07

NAGANO Approbation du projet par le comité déthique suite à l'approbation conditionnelle Comité déthique de la recherche - HEC Montréal

2/2

Exporté le 2024/07-21 05:25 par Mohapetra, Amritam — CODE DE VALIDATION NAGANO: hec-a5 11e006-9/15-4/91-8562-ca2d578e3064

# Appendix B. Assessment Items for Subjective measures

## Visual Discomfort

En vous basant sur les tâches que vous venez de compléter, veuillez s'il vous-plaît évaluer votre niveau d'inconfort visuel :

|   | Totalement en<br>désaccord | Principalement<br>en désaccord | Plutôt en<br>désaccord | Ni en accord, ni<br>en désaccord | En partie en<br>d'accord | Principalement<br>d'accord | Totalement<br>d'accord |
|---|----------------------------|--------------------------------|------------------------|----------------------------------|--------------------------|----------------------------|------------------------|
| J'ai des difficultés à voir                                 | 0                          | 0                              | 0                      | 0                                | 0                        | 0                          | 0                      |
| Je ressens une sensation inhabituelle<br>autour de mes yeux | 0                          | 0                              | 0                      | 0                                | 0                        | 0                          | 0                      |
| Je ressens de la fatigue occulaire                          | 0                          | 0                              | $\bigcirc$             | 0                                | $\bigcirc$               | 0                          | 0                      |
| Je me sens engourdi   | 0                          | 0                              | 0                      | 0                                | $\bigcirc$               | 0                          | 0                      |
| J'ai des maux de tête                                       | 0                          | 0                              | 0                      | 0                                | $\bigcirc$               | 0                          | 0                      |
| Je me sens étourdi en regardant l'écran                     | 0                          | 0                              | 0                      | 0                                | 0                        | 0                          | 0                      |

## Legibility

| 1.L1                     |                  |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |               |  |
|--------------------------|------------------|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---------------|--|
| L'écran du téléphone est |                  |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |               |  |
|                          | Difficile à voir | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | Facile à voir |  |
|                          |                  |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |               |  |

1.L2

| Le texte est |                  |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |               |
|--------------|------------------|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---------------|
|              | Difficile à lire | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | Facile à lire |

| 1.L3<br>Il est facile de               | se déconcenter | 0               | 0 | 0 0 | 0   | 0 0 | Rester concentrer    |  |
|--|----------------|-----------------|---|-----|-----|-----|----------------------|--|
|  |                |                 |   |     |     |     |                      |  |
| 1.L4<br>Il y a des reflets sur l'écran | Totalemer      | nt en désaccord | 0 | 0 0 | 0 0 | 0 0 | Totalement en accord |  |
|  |                |                 |   |     |     |     |                      |  |
| 1.M1<br>L'écran du téléphone est       | Sombre         | 0               | 0 | 0   | 0   | 0   | O Lumineux           |  |
|  |                |                 |   |     |     |     |                      |  |
| 1.M2<br>L'éclairage de la pièce est    |                |                 |   |     |     |     |                      |  |

Sombre O O O O O O Lumineux

## Enjoyment

Déplacez le curseur pour indiquer votre niveau de plaisir pendant votre interaction avec l'application de réalité augmentée. Plus vous déplacez le curseur vers la droite, plus l'intensité de l'émotion ressentie est grande.



#### Annoyance

Déplacez le curseur pour indiquer votre niveau de gêne lors de l'interaction avec l'application de réalité augmentée

|   | Pas Agacé | Légèrement Agacé | Plutôt Agacé | Agacé | Très Agacé |
|---|-----------|------------------|--------------|-------|------------|
| 0 |           | 25               | 50           | 75    | 100        |
| - |           |                  |              |       |            |

## Perceived Task Performance



Perceived Time

À propos des 2 insectes précédents, veuillez évaluer votre perception du temps écoulé durant les tâches.



### Intention to Revisit

Veuillez indiquer à quelle point vous êtes en accord avec les affirmations suivantes :

|   | Très peu probable | Peu probable | Plutôt improbable | Neutre | Plutôt probable | Probable | Très probable |
|---|-------------------|--------------|-------------------|--------|-----------------|----------|---------------|
| Je visiterai à nouveau cet établissement.   | 0                 | 0            | 0                 | 0      | 0               | 0        | 0             |
| Si j'en avais la possibilité, je choisirais de<br>retourner dans cet établissement. | 0                 | 0            | 0                 | 0      | 0               | 0        | 0             |

#### Hedonic Motivation

En vous basant sur votre expérience en Réalité Augmentée (RA), veuillez évaluer vos préférences.

|  | Pas du tout | Très peu | Un peu | Modérément | Assez | Beaucoup | Énormément |
|--|-------------|----------|--------|------------|-------|----------|------------|
| Utiliser l'application RA est amusant.                       | 0           | 0        | 0      | 0          | 0     | 0        | 0          |
| Utiliser l'application RA pour apprendre<br>est appréciable. | 0           | 0        | 0      | 0          | 0     | 0        | 0          |
| Utiliser l'application RA pour apprendre est divertissant.   | 0           | 0        | 0      | 0          | 0     | 0        | 0          |

## Perceived Learning Outcome

D'après votre expérience de la réalité augmentée (RA), veuillez évaluer votre expérience.

|  | Pas du tout | Très peu | Un peu | Modérément | Assez | Beaucoup | Énormément |
|--|-------------|----------|--------|------------|-------|----------|------------|
| L'utilisation de l'application de réalité<br>augmentée m'a aidé à identifier les<br>principales caractéristiques des insectes.           | 0           | 0        | 0      | 0          | 0     | 0        | 0          |
| L'application de réalité augmentée m'a<br>aidé à mieux comprendre la couleur, les<br>formes, les habitats et les proies des<br>insectes. | 0           | 0        | 0      | 0          | 0     | 0        | 0          |
| L'application de réalité augmentée m'a<br>permis d'approfondir mes connaissances<br>sur les insectes.                                    | 0           | 0        | 0      | 0          | 0     | 0        | 0          |

# **Appendix C. Production Environment of the AR Stimuli**

